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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

W EEMBRE
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2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
—E—+tF —ZT—RF —T—RHF —T—EOF —T—=F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FETT FET FET FET FET
Results E
Year ended BEZ=ZA=+—H
31 March IEFEE
Loss attributable RABEA AFEMN
to owners of the g}
Company
Assets and EENERE
liabilities
At 31 March R=A=+—H
Total assets BERE 408,093 407,467 496,346 985,596 1,222,622
Total liabilities BERTE (273,709)  (290,995)  (256,603)  (302,995)  (450,221)
Total equity AR 134,384 116,472 239,743 682,601 772,401
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

Financial Review
Consolidated results

For the year ended 31 March 2017, the Group recorded
revenue of approximately HK$81.3 million compared
to approximately HK$112.8 million for the last financial
year, representing a decrease of about 27.9%, and
loss of approximately HK$94.1 million compared to
approximately HK$133.8 million for the last financial
year, representing a decrease of about 29.7%. The
Group had a decrease in the loss for the year ended
31 March 2017 primarily because of the absence of (i)
the impairment loss on trade and other receivable and
goodwill of approximately HK$61.3 million, and (ii) the
gain of disposal on available-for-sale investments of
approximately HK$14.3 million, which were recognised in
the last financial year.

Business Review

Licence fee collection and provision of intellectual
property enforcement services business

On 8 May 2006, (i) China Music Video Broadcast
(Shenzhen) Company Limited* (ff = E ECE Y ) B R
‘A Al ) (“China Music”), an indirect non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, and China Music Video
Collective Management Association* (P E S & EEH#
EREEHE)("MVCM Association”) entered into a
copyright co-operation agreement; and (ii) China Music,
Song Labs Co, Ltd* (Gt R KEBRZEEFBEEMABRAA)
("Song Labs”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, and the MVCM Association entered into
a copyright business operation co-operation agreement
(together with their supplemental agreements, (the
“"Copyright Co-operation Agreements”). Pursuant to
the Copyright Co-operation Agreements, the MVCM
Association, China Music and Song Labs have set up
a market operation team in the PRC to manage and
operate the business of the licences of copyright to
karaoke music products in the PRC, and China Music and
Song Labs are entitled to certain portion of the licence
fees in the PRC. Under the Copyright Co-operation
Agreements, the MVCM Association takes the role as
the sole market manager and China Music and Song
Labs together take the role as the sole market operator.
Pursuant to the Copyright Co-operation Agreements, the
MVCM Association is required to collect the licence fees
from the karaoke operators and distribute and pay certain
portion of such licence fees to China Music and Song
Labs on a weekly basis as operating fees (“Operating
Fees"”).
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g 2e)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK
(Continued)

Business Review (Continued)

Licence fee collection and provision of intellectual

property enforcement services business (Continued)

On 1 June 2016, China Music and Song Labs have
initiated the Litigation against MVCM Association in the

PRC court claiming for:

(a)

the payment of (i) outstanding Operating Fees
of approximately RMB34,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$40,800,000) by MVCM
Association to China Music and Song Labs
pursuant to the Copyright Co-operation
Agreements which represents the outstanding
Operating Fees up to the second quarter of 2015
(the "Outstanding Operating Fees"”); and (ii) the
default interest of approximately RMB2,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$2,400,000), if
calculated up to 31 May 2016;

a declaration that the unilateral termination of
one of the Copyright Co-operation Agreements
by MVCM Association was invalid and that
MVCM Association should continue to perform
its obligations under the Copyright Co-operation
Agreements; and

the costs of the Litigation to be borne by MVCM
Association.

On 1 June 2016, the Chaoyang People’'s Court notified

China Music and Song Labs that the application for the

Litigation was accepted.

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED X1{t#hiZ&RERBR L
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK
(Continued)

Business Review (Continued)

Licence fee collection and provision of intellectual
property enforcement services business (Continued)

As disclosed in the Company’'s announcement dated
19 July 2016, the Group received a counter claim (the
“Counter Claim”) filed by MVCM Association (the
original defendant to the Litigation) with the Chaoyang
People's Court against China Music and Song Labs.
Pursuant to the Counter Claim, MVCM Association
requested the Chaoyang People’s Court to declare that
the fifth supplemental agreement dated 16 June 2014
(the “Fifth Supplemental Agreement”) in relation to
the payment of Outstanding Operating Fees under the
Copyright Cooperation Agreements be invalidated on the
basis that, among other things:

(i) MVCM Association considered the core value of
the joint cooperation among MVCM Association,
China Music and Song Labs had lapsed,;

(ii) the payment of the Operating Fees is in breach of
the constitutional documents and distribution plan
of MVCM Association; and

(iii) the entering into of the Fifth Supplemental
Agreement did not comply with the relevant
internal approval procedures of MVCM

Association.

The Counter Claim was accepted by the Chaoyang
People’s Court on 13 July 2016. The Litigation is in a
preliminary stage and the Company's PRC legal counsel
is currently taking all necessary steps to protect the
Company's interests. For details in relation to the
Litigation and the Counter Claim, please also refer to the
Company’s announcements dated 12 November 2015, 23

May 2016, 2 June 2016 and 19 July 2016.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK
(Continued)

Business Review (Continued)

Licence fee collection and provision of intellectual
property enforcement services business (Continued)

As at the date of this report, it is uncertain as to
whether the Group can fully recover the Outstanding
Operating Fees from MVCM Association. Accordingly, no
Operating Fees were recognised for the Group's licence
fee collection and provision of intellectual property
enforcement services business for the years ended
31 March 2017 and 2016, pending the results of the
Litigation.

Exhibition-related business

China Resources Advertising & Exhibition Company
Limited, a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company (together with its subsidiaries, the “CRA
Group") is principally engaged in exhibition-related
business. The CRA Group has acted as an organiser
and contractor for exhibitions and meeting events
held in Hong Kong. It has developed over 20 years of
relationship with the Hong Kong Trade Development
Council ("HKTDC") and has become one of the major
agents organising trade fairs for PRC groups whilst most
of which were co-organised with the HKTDC. The clients
of the CRA Group are primarily PRC based including
numerous sub-councils of the China Council for the
Promotion of International Trade in the PRC. For the year
ended 31 March 2017, this business segment recorded
revenue of approximately HK$42.7 million compared to
approximately HK$54.6 million for the last financial year,
representing a decrease of about 21.8%, and loss of
approximately HK$4.1 million compared to approximately
HK$2.5 million for the last financial year, representing
an increase of about 64.0%. The drop in revenue was
mainly due to the decrease in the number of participating
exhibitors by 25%.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK
(Continued)

Business Review (Continued)

Property sub-leasing, development and investment
business

March 2017,
segment recorded revenue of approximately HK$32.4

For the year ended 31 this business
million compared to approximately HK$44.2 million for
the last financial year, representing a decrease of about
26.7%,
million as compared to profit of approximately HK$2.8

and recorded a loss of approximately HK$1.2

million for the last financial year. The drop in the revenue
was mainly due to the discontinuance in sub-leasing
certain properties in the PRC.

Money lending

With a money lenders licence granted previously and
the completion of the open offer on 2 September
2016, the Group continued to conduct money lending
business in Hong Kong and recognised interest income
of approximately HK$3.5 million during the year (2016:
HK$0.8 million).

Sludge and sewage treatment

On 30 September 2016, JRIIT X Z EEE T AR A

B8] (Shenzhen Wendi Multimedia Technology Company
Limited*),
subsidiary, entered into an equity transfer agreement (the
with ERRZERER
A7l (Chongging Chen Hui Logistics Limited*),

the Company’'s indirect wholly-owned

“Equity Transfer Agreement”)
a party
independent of the Company and its connected persons,
in respect of a disposal of 51% equity interests in Great
Research (the “Suzhou Disposal”) at a consideration
of RMB13,800,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$16,000,000).

In view of (i) the subsequent failure in re-negotiation for
reinitiating the certain potential projects and (ii) further
future financing needs thereof, the Directors expect the
future profits generated by the Great Research and its
subsidiaries (the "“Great Group"”) to be minimal, and
consider that the Suzhou Disposal will enable the Group
to realise its investment in the Great Group and to focus

on its existing business and business development.

XKEERAIRE)

KBEE(E)
WRTH  RERREXE

HEZZ—+F=-A=1+—RHLFE K%
o fB 8RS IR EE 49 32,400,000 7T © 8 E—
B B £ € 49 44,200,000 7 7T R %) 26.7% -
[FIFFEX15 851849 1,200,000 7T » 1 E— B
FE AL 2,800,000/87 c WS THEE
HRERIERPEDEE TEFTE -

HiE
AREAERREABRER T —RFN
AZBERARBEE AEEFEREB
ETHERS  RAFEERZFBERA
#13,500,0008 7L(— T — /X % : 800,000/%
T) e

VR Y %
Eﬁ_%—/_\ihﬂ:+ﬁ'$ AEEzE
MEARRYIM X ZEBRMAR QR E

é%wiéam BINEBEBEALIZ—FEERA
Wi BR A TR AR 13,800,000 7T (A%
%7 16,000,000 78 7T ) 2 (B & AR IR R IR
REHEZ51% BRE(T#HMNEEBE )&

rEE S (REEREGE]) -

EREERRERBERETEERBETH
Bk ()ERRZE-THBHRR - EERE
HREFREMKEAMNBAR(HRREE
BELEZRFENER  ARBEMBE
EEASEPASEZERENREFEEZR
B URBINERAEBREHERE -

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 Z—+EFRH



10

EERENW®E DM

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK
(Continued)

Business Review (Continued)
Sludge and sewage treatment (Continued)

The Suzhou Disposal is conditional on (i) the signing of
the Equity Transfer Agreement; and (ii) all necessary
approvals and waivers having been obtained in
accordance with the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities (the “Listing Rules”) of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The
waiver from the strict compliance with Rule 14.92 of
the Listing Rules in respect of the Suzhou Disposal was
granted by the Stock Exchange on 6 October 2016.

On 23 January 2017, the parties entered into a
supplemental agreement (the “Supplemental
Agreement”) to the Equity Transfer Agreement pursuant
to which the parties agreed to (i) amend the completion
date of the registration of the equity transfer to within
9 months after the full payment of the consideration
by the Purchaser, instead of the original time frame of
within 3 months; and (ii) negotiate into entering further
supplemental agreement if the registration of the equity
transfer cannot be completed within the newly agreed
time frame as stipulated in (i) above.

As at the date of this report, the completion has not
taken place yet. Upon completion, the Great Group
cease to be subsidiaries of the Company and the Group
would no longer have any interest in sludge and sewage
treatment business. For details in relation to the Suzhou
Disposal and the Supplemental Agreement, please refer
to the Company’'s announcements dated 30 September
2016 and 23 January 2017.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK
(Continued)

Outlook

During the year, the Company introduced a new
controlling shareholder with the acquisition by Grand
Nice International Limited (a company owned by
Mr. Chen Weiwu, Executive Director and Chairman of
the Company) of a majority stake of approximately 53.8%
interest in the Company and introduced new members
to our management team and Board of Directors (the
“Board”), who are highly experienced in the real
estate development industry in China and possess with
significant resources and networks in China which the
Company expects to be able to leverage for its future
development in the property sub-leasing, development
and investment business sector. Further details of the
change in controlling shareholders are disclosed in the
announcements dated 25 October 2016 and 23 January
2017.

The Board is currently conducting reviews on the
business operations and financial position of the Group
for the purpose of formulating suitable business plans
and strategies for the future business development of
the Group. Subject to the results of the reviews, and
should suitable investment or business opportunities
arise, the Board may consider acquisition of assets and/
or business by the Group in order to enhance its financial
performance as well as value to the shareholders of the
Company in the long run. As at the date of this report,
there was no plan for any acquisition or disposal of the
existing assets or business of the Group.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Directors of the Company present their report
together with the audited financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 March 2017.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note
46 to the financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’'s performance for the year
under review by business segment is set out in note 6
to the financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business objectives of the Group are to develop its
business and achieve sustainable growth of its business.
The Group aims to achieve such objectives by perusing
the following growth-oriented strategies: (i) investing in
more property development projects in China; (ii) further
diversifying the business of the Group by tapping into the
money lending business; (iii) broadening the customer
base of the exhibition-related business of the Group;
and (iv) closely monitoring the cost in the property sub-
leasing business of the Group.

A review of the businesses of the Group during the year
using the financial indicators and a discussion on the
Group's future business development are provided in the
sections headed “Management Discussion and Analysis”
and “Financial Review"” in this report. Particulars of
important events affecting the Company that have
occurred since the end of the financial year ended 31
March 2017 are set out in note 48 to the consolidated
financial statements of the Company.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Group's financial condition, results of operations,
businesses and prospects may be affected by a number
of risks and uncertainties. The followings are the key
risks and uncertainties identified by the Group. There
may be other risks and uncertainties in addition to those
shown below which are not known to the Group or
which may not be material now but could turn out to be
material in the future.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Principal Risks and Uncertainties (Continued)
Business Risk

Certain of the business segments to which the
Group operates are subject to changes in consumer
perception, preferences and tastes, in particular, for the
exhibition-related business as well as the property sub-
leasing business. The Group’'s business and financial
performance depends on factors which may affect the
level and pattern of consumer spending in China and in

Hong Kong.

Market Risk

The business and operation of certain business segments
of the Group, in particular, the licence fee collection and
provision of intellectual property enforcement services
business, property sub-leasing business and sludge and
sewage treatment, are basically conducted in the PRC
and the clients of another main business segment of
the Group, the exhibition-related business, are primarily
PRC based textile manufacturers, and therefore the
Group's operation, revenue and profit margin are highly
impacting by the economies of the PRC and the measures
implemented by the PRC government. During the vyear,
the Group affected by the slowing economies in the PRC.

Operational Risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from
inadequate or failed internal processes, people and
systems or from external events. Responsibility for
managing operational risks basically rests with every
function at divisional and departmental levels. The Group
recognises that operational risks cannot be eliminated
completely and that it may not always be cost effective

to do so.

Key functions in the Group are guided by their operating
procedures, limits of authority and reporting framework.
The Group will identify and assess key operational
exposures from time to time and report such risk issues
to senior management as early as possible so that

appropriate risk response can be taken.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Principal Risks and Uncertainties (Continued)
Financial Risk

The financial risk management of the Group are set out
in note 43 to the consolidated financial statements.

Legal Risk

Legal risk is the risk that unenforceable contracts,
lawsuits or adverse judgments may disrupt or otherwise
negatively affect the operations or financial conditions of
the Group. As at the date of this report, the Group has
initiated the Litigation against MVCM Association, for
details in relation to the Litigation, please refer to the
subsection headed “Licence fee collection and provision
of intellectual property enforcement services business”
under the section headed “Business Review” on pages
5 to 11 of this report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2017 are set out in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income on pages 71 to 73.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any
dividend in respect of the year ended 31 March 2017
(2016: Nil). Capital will be reserved for the expansion
of the Group’s business and to capture investment
opportunities arising in the future. There is no
arrangement that a shareholder of the Company has
waived or agreed to waive any dividend.

FIXED ASSETS

Details of movements in fixed assets of the Group during
the year under review are set out in notes 17 to 18 to
the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movement in the share capital of the Company
are set out in note 33 to the financial statements.
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RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year under review are set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 77
and note 34 to the financial statements, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of the distributable reserves of the Company as
at 31 March 2017 are set out in note 34 to the financial
statements.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2017, the Group had
entered into certain transactions with parties which
“Related Parties”

were regarded as under the applicable

accounting principles. Details of those related party
transactions are set out in note 39 to the financial
statements. The transaction which is considered as a
connected transaction under the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”) is further disclosed in the section headed

“Connected Transactions” below.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company's bye-laws (the “Bye-laws"”) and there is
no restriction against such rights under the laws of

Bermuda.

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on
page 4.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The Company did not make any charitable donation for
the two years ended 31 March 2016 and 2017.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Details of the retirement benefit schemes are set out in
note 4(o) to the financial statements.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted the share option scheme (the
“Share Option Scheme”) on 30 August 2012 under
which the Directors may grant options to eligible person,
including directors and employees of the Group, to
subscribe for shares of the Company.

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the
Share Option Scheme:

1. Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme is set up for the purpose
of attracting and retaining quality personnel and
other persons to provide incentive to them to
contribute to the business and operation of the
Group.

2. Participants of the Share Option Scheme

The Directors may at their discretion grant options
to (i) any director, employee or consultant of the
Group or a company in which the Group holds an
equity interest or a subsidiary of such company
(" Affiliate"); or (ii) any discretionary trust whose
discretionary objects include any director, employee
or consultant of the Group or an Affiliate; or (iii)
a company beneficially owned by any director,
employee or consultant of the Group or an Affiliate;
or (iv) any customer, supplier or adviser whose
service to the Group or business with the Group
contributes or is expected to contribute to the
business or operation of the Group as may be
determined by the Directors from time to time to
subscribe for shares of the Company.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

3.

Total number of shares available for issue under
the Share Option Scheme and percentage of the
number of issued shares as at the date of this
report

The maximum number of ordinary shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised under the
Share Option Scheme was in aggregate 27,942,462
shares as at 31 March 2017 (representing
approximately 2.6% of the number of issued shares

as at the date of this report).

Maximum entitlement of each participant under
the Share Option Scheme

The maximum number of the shares of the
Company (issued and to be issued) in respect of
which options may be granted under the Share
Option Scheme to any one grantee in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1 per cent. of the share
capital of the Company in issue on the last date
of such 12-month period unless approval of the
shareholders of the Company has been obtained in
accordance with Rule 17.03(4) of the Listing Rules.

The period within which the options must
be exercised under Share Option Scheme to
subscribe for shares

The holder of an option may subscribe for the
shares of the Company during such period as
may be determined by the Directors (which shall
be less than ten years from the date of grant of
the relevant option and may include the minimum
period, if any, for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised).
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

6.

The minimum period for which an option must
be held before it can be exercised

There is no minimum period for which an option
granted must be held before it can be exercised
unless otherwise imposed by the Directors.

The period within which the options granted
must be taken up

Options granted must be taken up within 21 days
inclusive of, and from the date of grant.

The basis of determining the exercise price

Options may be granted without any initial payment
for the options at an exercise price (subject to
adjustments as provided therein) equal to the
highest of (i) the nominal value of the shares of
the Company; (ii) the closing price per share of the
Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheet on the date of the grant of the
option, which must be a business day; and (iii) the
average closing price per share of the Company
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of the grant of the option.

The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for
a period of 10 years commencing from 30 August
2012.

Details of the Share Option Scheme, including grant and

lapse of options, are disclosed in note 35 to the financial

statements.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this
report are as follows:

Chen Weiwu (Chairman) (appointed on 8 December
2016)

Chen Gengxian (appointed on 8 December 2016)

Chen Songbin (appointed on 8 December 2016)

Zhou Houjie (appointed on 8 December 2016)

Chen Youchun (appointed on 8 December 2016)

Chan Chein Kwong William (appointed on 8 December
2016)

Lui Mei Ka (appointed on 21 April 2017)

Cheng Yang (appointed on 15 August 2016 as Chief
Executive Officer and resigned on 24 January 2017
as Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Executive
Director)

Tsoi Tung (Chief Executive Officer) (resigned on 15
August 2016)

Lei Lei (resigned on 24 January 2017)

Huang Ranfei (resigned on 15 August 2016)

Tong Jingguo (resigned on 24 January 2017)

Yang Rusheng (resigned on 24 January 2017)

So Tat Keung (resigned on 1 August 2016)

Li Weipeng (resigned on 8 April 2016)

In accordance with bye-law 84(1) of the Bye-laws, one-
third of the Directors for the time being, (or if their
number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest
to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office
by rotation so that each Director shall be subject to
retirement at least once every three years.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

Biographical details of Directors and senior
management

Executive Directors

Mr. Chen Weiwu (“Mr. WW Chen”), aged 34, is an
Executive Director, the Chairman of the Board and a
member of the Nomination Committee of the Company.
He was appointed to the Board on 8 December 2016.
He is a business entrepreneur and has experience in
the real estate industry. Mr. WW Chen is the chairman
and ultimate beneficial owner of 1t R XK & &l 8] & %
A PR 2 7 (Beijing Tian'an Innovation Technology and
Estates Limited*) ("BTIT"”), a real estate development
company established in the PRC with over RMB780
million total asset as at 31 December 2015. Its latest
property development project is K& e 24, located at
#= AR AMBIIE RAOERMFAZEE (Beijing Economic and
Technological Development Area, PRC¥*), with a total
land area of approximately 130,000 square meters.

Mr. Chen Gengxian (“Mr. GX Chen"), aged 45, is
an Executive Director of the Company. Mr. GX Chen
was graduated from 3 4t Al & K 2 (Northeast Normal
University*) in administration and management. He
was appointed to the Board on 8 December 2016. Mr.
GX Chen served as an executive director and the vice-
chairman of Kaisa Group Holdings Limited (“Kaisa"),
which is listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1638),
from 2009 to 2014 and from 2012 to 2014, respectively.

Mr. Chen Songbin (“Mr. SB Chen”), aged 35, is an
Executive Director of the Company. Mr. SB Chen was
graduated from B2 28t (China Jiliang University*)
with bachelor’'s degree in Electronic and Information
Engineering. He was appointed to the Board on 8
December 2016. Mr. SB Chen is currently a director of
BTIT.

Mr. Zhou Houjie (“"Mr. Zhou"), aged 35, is an Executive
Director and a member of the remuneration committee
of the Company. Mr. Zhou was graduated from PR32
BAE (Southwest Jiaotong University*) and obtained a
professional degree in business administration. He was
appointed to the Board on 8 December 2016. Mr. Zhou
is currently the vice president of BTIT.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

Biographical details of Directors and senior
management (Continued)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chen Youchun (“Mr. YC Chen”"),
Independent Non-Executive Director, the Chairman of

aged 40, is an

the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee
of the Company and a member of the Nomination
Committee of the Company. Mr. YC Chen joined the
Company on 8 December 2016. He was graduated from
Southwest University of Political Science & Law in 2000
with a degree in Bachelor of Laws and the University
of Northumbria in 2011 with a degree in Bachelor of
Laws. He also obtained a Master's Degree in Civil and
Commercial Law from Wuhan University in 2007. He is a
foreign lawyer registered with The Law Society of Hong
Kong and is a partner in Shenzhen Office of Junzejun
Law Offices. Mr. YC Chen has extensive experience in
corporate finance, initial public offerings and mergers
and acquisitions. Mr. YC Chen is an independent non-
executive director of China Soft Power Technology
Holdings Limited, which is listed on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 139). Mr. YC Chen is also an independent
director of Shenzhen Qixin Construction Group Co., Ltd.,
which is listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock
code: 002781) and Honz Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., which
is listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code:
300086).
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

Biographical details of Directors and senior
management (Continued)

Independent Non-Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. Chan Chein Kwong William (“Mr. William Chan”),
aged 49, is an Independent Non-Executive Director and
a member of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee of the
Company. Mr. William Chan joined the Company on
8 December 2016. He was graduated from The University
of Hong Kong with a bachelor’s degree in social sciences
in 1991. Mr. William Chan was admitted as a member of
the American Institute of Chartered Public Accountants
in 1995 and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants in 1996. He has been
qualified as a certified public accountant in Hong Kong
for 20 years. Mr. William Chan joined Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu's audit department in 1991, Hongkong Land
Group Limited's finance department in 1996, ABN AMRO
Bank N.V.'s wholesale banking division in 2001, and is
currently the chief operating officer of CITIC International
Assets Management Limited and the chief executive
officer of CITIC Carbon Assets Management Limited,
Mr. William Chan is also currently the responsible officer
of CIAM Capital Management Limited, a corporation
licensed to carry on Type 4 (advising on securities) and
Type 9 (asset management) regulated activities under the
SFO.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

Biographical details of Directors and senior
management (Continued)

Independent Non-Executive Directors (Continued)

Ms. Lui Mei Ka (“Ms. Lui”), aged 32, is an Independent
Non-Executive Director and a member of Audit
Committee of the Company. Ms. Lui joined the Company
on 21 April 2017. She was graduated from The Chinese
University of Hong Kong with a degree in bachelor
of business administration in 2006. She is currently a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. She has extensive experience in financial
management and corporate finance. Prior to joining
the Group, Ms. Lui has about 7 years of experience in
auditing and accounting in Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
from 2006 to 2013. From 2013 to 2016, she served
as the company secretary and financial controller of
LT Commercial Real Estate Limited (stock code: 112),
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. She is currently the chief financial officer and
company secretary of GR Properties Limited (stock code:
108), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

Biographical details of Directors and senior
management (Continued)

Senior management

Mr. Eric Jackson Chang (“Mr. Chang"”), aged 37, was
appointed as the Chief Financial Officer, Company
Secretary and an Authorised Representative of the
Company under Rule 3.05 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
("Listing Rules”), with effect from 1 April 2017. Mr.
Chang received his bachelor of commerce degree
from University of British Columbia in May 2002.
He is a member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Mr. Chang has over 14 years
of experience in accounting, finance and business
advisory work. Before joining the Company, Mr. Chang
was the executive director, chief financial officer,
company secretary and authorised representative of
ZH International Holdings Limited, a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
185). Prior to that, Mr. Chang also worked as the
chief financial officer of a sizable PRC-based property
development company and as a senior manager in
PricewaterhouseCoopers. Mr. Chang is currently a non-
executive director of DX.com Holdings Limited (stock
code: 8086), a company listed on the GEM Board of the
Stock Exchange.

Save as otherwise disclosed, there is no relationship
(including financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationship) between any members of the Board
or the senior management, and no information relating to
the Directors which is required to be disclosed pursuant
to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

Directors’ service contracts

None of the Directors has service contract with the
Company which is not determinable within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

Directors’ interests in transactions, arrangements and
contracts

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Connected
Transactions” below, no transactions, arrangements
and contracts of significance in relation to the Group's
business to which the Company, its subsidiaries, holding
company and any of their subsidiaries was a party and
in which a Director or his/her connected entity had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted

at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

Directors’ right to acquire shares or debentures

Save as the share option scheme as disclosed in this
report, at no time during the year ended 31 March 2017
was the Company, its subsidiaries, holding companies or
fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable
Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate.

Directors’ interests in equity or debt securities

As at 31 March 2017, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the
shares, underlying share and debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
“SFO")) as recorded in the register required to be kept
under section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
“Model Code") as set forth under
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules were as follows:

Listed Issuers (the
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

Directors’ interests in equity or debt securities
(Continued)

(a) Long position in the shares

EENENEERE 2

ESRRASEBRS 2 BE(E)

(a) RGGZIHFE

Number of Approximate
shares held percentage of
as at shareholding

31 March in the
Name of Director Nature of interest 2017 Company
i
—E—+tF
=A=+-—H EARAT
Z R4 BREZ
EEpE EEMtE £ g BHABED
Mr. Chen Weiwu (Note 1) Interest of controlled corporation 579,806,977 53.80%
BREE®R LM T) RIEHEE S
Note: Biat -
1. These shares are owned by Grand Nice International 1. ZERMERERTE2EERES

Limited which is wholly and beneficially owned by
Mr. Chen Weiwu.

(b) Share options of the Company

Pursuant to the Share Option Scheme, certain
directors were granted share options to subscribe
for the shares and details of the Directors’ interests
in share options are disclosed in note 35 to the
financial statements.

Save as disclosed herein, as at 31 March 2017,
none of the Directors or chief executive of the
Company had any interest or short position in the
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as
recorded in the register required to be kept under
section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2017, other than the interests of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company disclosed
in the paragraph headed “Directors’ interests in equity
or debt securities” above, according to the register of
interests required to be kept by the Company under
section 336 of the SFO, the following persons had
interests or short positions in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company:

FERR

R-E—tF=A=+—8 BEX[EER
BRSBTS B2 M2 | — BT BB 2 A DA
SERTBTHARZ I -
FRIEES R EDIE 336 HFE 2 RET
- AT ALRAR T2 B SRR
AR -
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BB LR F

Approximate

Number of percentage of
shares held shareholding
as at in the
Name of shareholder Nature of interest 31 March 2017 Company
R-Z—t#F
=A=+-AH R NG|
Z R 5 FRE
BRRER EmiE A ZBRBED
Grand Nice International Limited Beneficial owner 579,806,977 53.80%
("Grand Nice") (Note 1)
ZERRERRA([EE] (1) EREAA
Mr. Cheng Yang (Note 2) Beneficial owner 76,180,000 7.07%
BB EE (7 2) EREAA 73,500 0.01%
Interest of the spouse
BB s
China Resources National Interest of controlled corporation 66,666,666 6.19%
Corporation (“CRNC") (Note 3)
REEREAR([RAEBD]) (H:23) XEHEERER
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (Continued)

1. Grand Nice is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Chen
Weiwu who is an Executive Director and the Chairman of
the Company.

2. Mr. Cheng Yang personally owned 76,180,000 shares of
the Company and his wife, Ms. Bai Xue, owned 73,500

shares of the Company.

3. To the best knowledge of the Directors, Commotra
Company Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of China
Resources, which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of CRC
Bluesky Limited (“CRCB"), which is in turn wholly-owned
by China Resources Co., Limited, which is in turn wholly-
owned by CRNC.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2017, according
to the register of interests required to be kept by the
Company under section 336 of the SFO, there was no
person who had any interest or short position in the
shares or underlying shares of the Company which would
fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the Share Option Scheme as disclosed in
this report, no equity-linked agreements that will or may
result in the Company issuing Shares, or that require the
Company to enter into any agreements that will or may
result in the Company issuing Shares, were entered into
by the Company during the year or subsisted at the end
of the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Under the Bye-laws, every Director or other officers of
the Company acting in relation to any of the affairs of
the Company shall be indemnified and secured harmless
out of the assets and profits of the Company from and
against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and
expenses which they or any of them, their or any of their
heirs, executors or administrators, shall or may incur
or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred
in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty, or
supposed duty, in their respective offices, or trusts. The
Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in
respect of legal action against its Directors and officers.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company were entered into or existed
during the year.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group puts great emphasis in environmental
protection and energy conservation to enhance the
capacity of sustainable development and undertake
relative social responsibility. Through the establishment
of an ever-improving management system, energy
conservation and environment protection were strongly
promoted, leading to the remarkable achievement of
environmental management.

The Company will issue separately an Environmental,
Social and Governance Report under Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide as specified in
Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELATED LAWS AND
REGULATIONS AND ADVANCE TO AN
ENTITY

Compliance procedures are in place to ensure adherence
to applicable laws, rules and regulations, in particular,
those have a significant impact on the Group. Save
as otherwise disclosed and as far as the Board and
management are aware, the Group has complied with
all related laws and regulations in all material aspects
which may have significant impact on the business and
operation of the Group during the year under review.
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COMPLIANCE WITH RELATED LAWS AND
REGULATIONS AND ADVANCE TO AN
ENTITY (Continued)

On 25 November 2015, M R IR EE BT EXZEH R A
A (Nanjing Yinkun Investment Corporation*) (the
“Guarantor”), an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary
of the Company as the guarantor, entered into a
guarantee agreement (the “Guarantee Agreement”),
pursuant to which the Guarantor agreed to guarantee the
repayment obligations of MRk REBREEEABRE AT
(Nanjing Ruiyi Heng Tong Technology Development Co.,
Ltd.*), a company established in the PRC and a potential
business partner of the Guarantor, as the borrower
under the loan agreement in respect of the loan facility
for the principal amount of up to RMB35,000,000 at a
floating rate in accordance with the benchmark lending
rate of one-to-five year term loan as accounted by the
People’'s Bank of China, subject to adjustments, which
was secured by certain properties in the PRC and was
provided by a financial institution in the PRC in October
2015. Such facility shall be repaid by six (6) semi-annual
installments and its outstanding balance as at 31 March
2017 was RMB20,000,000.

At the material time, the provision of guarantee (the
“Guarantee”) under the Guarantee Agreement by the
Guarantor constituted a discloseable transaction for
the Company under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules.
Further, as the amount of the Guarantee exceeds 8%
of the assets ratio under Rule 13.13 of the Listing
Rules, the provision of the Guarantee is also subject to
the disclosure requirements under Rule 13.15 of the
Listing Rules. For further details, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 14 June 2016.
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RELATIONSHIP OF STAKEHOLDERS

The Company believes that employees, customers
and business partners are the key to have continuous
sustainable development. The Company is committed to
be people-oriented and build up good relationship with its
employees. The Group provides on-the-job training and
development opportunities to enhance its employees’
career progression. Through different trainings, staff's
professional knowledge in corporate operations,
occupational and management skills are enhanced. The
Group also values the health and well-being of its staff.
In order to provide employees with health coverage, its
employees are entitled to medical insurance benefits.
The Group also works together with its business partners
to provide high quality products and services to achieve
the goal of sustainable development and contribution to
the society. Two subsidiaries of the Company initiated
the Litigation against MVCM Association, the Group’s
business partner. The Litigation may affect the Group's
relationship with such business partner.

Save as otherwise disclosed, there was no material and
significant dispute between the Group and its distributors
and/or customers during the year under review.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year under review, the aggregated sales
attributable to the Group's five largest customers
accounted for approximately 24% while the largest
customer accounted for approximately 9% of its total
revenue.

During the year under review, the aggregate purchases
attributable to the Group's five largest suppliers
accounted for approximately 94% while the largest
supplier accounted for approximately 70% of its total
purchases.

None of the Directors, their close associates, or any
shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors
owned more than 5% of the Company’s issued shares)
had an interest in the five largest suppliers or customers
noted above.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year under review the Group did not conduct
any non-exempt connected transaction or continuing
connected transaction under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

As at 31 March 2017, the Group employed a total
number of 139 employees (31 March 2016: 131). The
remuneration of the employees of the Group amounted
to approximately HK$39.4 million for the year ended 31
March 2017 (31 March 2016: HK$47.1 million). The Group
remunerates its employees based on their performance,
experience and prevailing industry practices. The
emoluments of the Directors and senior management
of the Company are decided by the Remuneration
Committee of the Company, having regard to the
Company’s operating results, individual performance and
comparable market statistics.

The Group periodically reviews its remuneration package
in order to attract, motivate and retain its employees.
Discretionary bonuses are rewarded to Directors and
employees based on the Group’s operating results and
their performance.

Further, the Company has also adopted a share option
scheme for the primary purpose of providing incentives
or rewards to any Director, employee and other eligible
participant who made significant contribution to the
Group. The Group also provides external training courses
to its staff to improve their skills and services on an
ongoing basis.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

As at 31 March 2017, none of the Directors was
interested in any business, which competed or was
likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
Group's businesses except that Mr. Chen Weiwu is an
ultimate beneficiary owner of BTIT which is engaged in
construction, property development and related business
in the PRC.

As the Board is independent of the boards of BTIT, the
Company has therefore been capable of carrying on its
businesses independently of, and at arm’s length from,
the above businesses.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Liquidity and financial resources

As at 31 March 2017, the Group had bank borrowings of
approximately HK$51.4 million (2016: HK$68.7 million).
The gearing ratio of the Group as at 31 March 2017
was 36.5% compared with 58.0% as at 31 March 2016.
Such ratio was calculated with reference to the bank
borrowings over the Company's equity attributable to
owners of the Company. As at 31 March 2017, the Group
had net current assets of approximately HK$2.1 million
(2016: net current liabilities of approximately HK$45.3
million). The current ratio of the Group as at 31 March
2017 was 1.0 compared with 0.8 as at 31 March 2016.

The maturity profile of the Group’'s bank borrowings is
set out as follows:
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ZHEERDELRBIBITEERAEARAES A
Bl ARRIERFTESE - RZT— 15
—A=+—H8 AXEENERBHEEFENA
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AEBRITEEZDHESHINAT ¢

2017 2016
—E—+F ZE—XRF
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEET EE=y

Repayable: ARNTRAEE
Within one year —F R 51.4 50.7
After one year but within two years  —%F1#%  BRMER - 18.0
51.4 68.7
The carrying amounts of all the Group’s bank loans were FIEASBRITER ZEREBETIAARE
denominated in RMB except for certain loan balances B HERZT— ‘ti:ﬂ —t+—HzZETF

with an aggregate amount of HK$30.0 million as at 31
March 2017 which were denominated in Hong Kong
dollar. All of the Group’'s bank loans were charged at
fixed interest rates except for loan balance of HK$30
million as at 31 March 2017 which was charged at
floating interest rate. The bank loans carry interest rates
at 2.76% to 6.5% per annum. As at 31 March 2017,
the total amount of unutilised bank borrowing facility is
HK$30 million (2016: nil).

The revenue of the Group, being mostly denominated in
Renminbi and Hong Kong dollar, matches the currency
requirement of the Group’s expenses while other foreign
During the year ended 31
March 2017, no financial instrument was entered into by
the Group used for hedging purpose. The Group was not
exposed to any exchange rate risk or any related hedges.

currencies were immaterial.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Liquidity and financial resources (Continued)
Fund raising activities

During the year ended 31 March 2017, the Group
completed the following fund raising exercise to
strengthen its financial position and raised the gross
proceeds of approximately HK$107.8 million, with the net
proceeds of approximately HK$104.1 million. Details of
which are set out as follows:

BB (@)
RBESRABER )
EHEH

HE-_Z—tFZA=Z+—HLEFE  K£H
TRATEERES  NIBEHBBEAR R RE
SIS EEA 107,800,000 7T » MFT1E
FRIEFEEHI 104,100,000 T » HFF1EH 510
™

Actual use of

Date of Description of fund Intended use proceeds as at Unutilised amount
announcement raising activities of proceeds 31 March 2017 as at 31 March 2017
R=F—tF R=F—tF
=R=+—HBF$B =RA=+—8
A B SEEDHEM FBRERERS REZER AR ZARBAEHE
16 May 2016 Issue of 369,259,523 (i) Approximately (i) Approximately (i) Approximately
new Shares at the HK$74.8 million HK$74.0 million HK$0.8 million
subscription price of for conducting
HK$0.30 per Share the money lending
on the basis of one business of the
offer share for every Group in Hong Kong
two existing Shares
(the "Open Offer”) (i) Approximately (i) Approximately (i) Approximately
HK$29.3 million HK$21.8 million HK$7.5 million
for general has been utilised

working capital
of the Group
TE-RERATRE REMRBRARNEE—() # 74,800,000 T
REBERN 2 EERR AIERKSEREBE
fEEERR7M 0.30%8 THEXK 2 A
JLE17 359,259,523 &
R ([ABBED (i) 29,300,000 7T
RIEARREZ —RE
BE®ZA
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Treasury policies

The Group adopts conservative treasury policies in
cash and financial management. The Group’'s treasury
activities are centralised in order to achieve better risk
control and minimise cost of funds. Cash is generally
placed in short-term deposits with majority denominated
in Hong Kong dollar, Renminbi or US dollar. The Group's
liquidity and financing requirements are frequently
reviewed. In anticipating new investments or maturity of
bank borrowings, the Group will consider new financing

while maintaining an appropriate level of gearing.

Charges

As at 31 March 2017, certain bank deposits of the Group
in the aggregate amount of RMB30.0 million and HK$2.3
million were pledged to secure the banking and credit

facilities of the Group respectively.

As at 31 March 2017, certain bank loans of the Group
in the total amount of RMB19 million were secured by
personal and corporate guarantees provided by Mr. Yang
Lei (a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company),
his spouse and a company beneficially owned by Mr.
Yang Lei and his spouse (the “Related Company”) and

certain assets of Mr. Yang Lei, his spouse and, a related

party.

ARRHEEEXRERAR

Corporation*),

al(Nanjing Yinkun Investment
an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary
of the Company, provided the guarantee in respect of a
loan facility for the principal amount of up to RMB35.0
million provided to an independent third party from a
financial institution in the PRC. The estimated fair value
of the financial guarantee is HK$nil which was arrived on
the basis of valuation carried out by APAC for the year
ended 31 March 2017. Details of which are set out in the
paragraph headed “Advance to an Entity” in this report.
Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have any

charges on assets as at 31 March 2017.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 March 2017, the Group had no material
contingent liabilities.

Significant investments held, material acquisitions
and disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures, and future plans for material investments or
capital assets

On 18 May 2017, the Group disposed on-market a total
of 13,500,000 ordinary shares of Leyou Technologies
Holdings Limited (“Leyou”) (Stock code: 1089), a
company incorporated in Cayman lIslands with limited
liabilities and the ordinary shares of which are listed on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange, through a series
of transactions on market conducted during the period
from 18 April 2017 to 17 May 2017, at an average price
of HK$1.594 per ordinary share of Leyou for an aggregate
gross sale proceeds of approximately HK$21,523,838
(excluding transaction costs).

Save as the disposal of subsidiaries as disclosed in note
36 and the acquisition of the Great Group as disclosed
in note 37 to the financial statements of the Company,
there were no other significant investments held,
no material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures during the year ended 31
March 2017.

There was no plan authorised by the Board for other
material investments or additions of capital assets at the
date of this report.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Advance to an entity

On 25 November 2015, M RIR ML EE X HFR A
gl (Nanjing Yinkun Investment Corporation*)(the
“Guarantor”), an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary
of the Company as the guarantor, entered into a
guarantee agreement (the “"Guarantee Agreement”),
pursuant to which the Guarantor agreed to guarantee the
repayment obligations of FRIGHEBRINERE AR AR
(Nanjing Ruiyi Heng Tong Technology Development Co.,
Ltd.*), a company established in the PRC and a potential
business partner of the Guarantor, as the borrower under
the loan agreement in respect of the loan facility for the
principal amount of up to RMB35 million at a floating rate
in accordance with the benchmark lending rate of one-to-
five year term loan as announced by the People’s Bank
of China, subject to adjustments, which was secured
by certain properties in the PRC and was provided by
a financial institution in the PRC in October 2015. Such
facility shall be matured in 36 months and repaid by six
(6) semi-annual installments and its outstanding balance
as at 31 March 2017 was RMB20 million. At the material
time, the provision of guarantee (the “Guarantee”) under
the Guarantee Agreement by the Guarantor constituted a
discloseable transaction for the Company under Chapter
14 of the Listing Rules. Further, as the amount of the
Guarantee exceeds 8% of the assets ratio under Rule
13.13 of the Listing Rules, the provision of the Guarantee
is also subject to the disclosure requirements under Rule
13.15 of the Listing Rules. For further details, please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated 14
June 2016.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Details of the remuneration paid by the Group to the
Directors of the Company and senior management of the
Group for the year ended 31 March 2017 are set out in
notes 12 and 39(a) to the financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed the Company’s listed securities during the
year ended 31 March 2017.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of its Directors, the Company
has maintained sufficient public float in accordance with
the Listing Rules throughout the year ended 31 March
2017 and as at the date of this report.

OTHER MATTERS

Details of events after the reporting period are set out in
note 48 to the financial statements.

AUDITOR

A resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company to re-appoint BDO
Limited as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Chen Weiwu
Chairman
Hong Kong, 27 June 2017
*  For identification only
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CHEARE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

INTRODUCTION

The Board and the senior management of the Company
are committed to establishing good corporate governance
practices and procedures. The maintenance of high
standard of business ethics and corporate governance
practices has always been one of the Group's goals.
The Company believes that good corporate governance
provides a framework that is essential for effective
management, successful business growth and a healthy
corporate culture, thereby leading to the enhancement of
shareholders’ value.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The corporate governance principles of the Company
emphasize a quality Board, sound internal controls,
transparency and accountability to all shareholders. By
applying rigourous corporate governance practices, the
Group believes that its accountability and transparency
will be improved thereby instilling confidence to
shareholders and the public. The Company has been
conducting its business according to the principles of
the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code") as set
out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules during the year
ended 31 March 2017.

Pursuant to code provision A.1.1 of the CG Code, Board
meetings should be held at least four times a year at
approximately quarterly intervals. Although only two
regular Board meetings were held during the year, the
Board considered that sufficient meetings had been held
as business operations were under the management
and the supervision of the Executive Directors. In
addition, senior management of the Group provided to
the Directors the information in respect of the Group's
business development and activities from time to time
and, when required, ad hoc Board meetings will be held.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
(Continued)

Pursuant to code provision C.2.5 of the CG Code,
the Group should have an internal audit function. The
Company conducted an annual review on the need
for setting up an internal audit department. Given the
Group's simple operating structure, it was decided that
the Board would be directly responsible and review on
the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group. During the
year, the Board through the Audit Committee had
conducted an annual review on the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group, including the
analysis and appraisal of its adequacy and effectiveness.

THE BOARD
Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control
of the Company and oversees the Group's business,
strategic decisions and performances and is collectively
responsible for promoting the success of the Company
by directing and supervising its affairs. In practice, the
Board takes responsibility for decision making in all
major matters of the Company including the approval and
monitoring of all policy matters, the setting of objectives,
annual budgets and overall strategies, the entering into
material transactions, appointment of Directors and
other significant financial and operational matters. The
day-to-day management, administration and operation
of the Company are delegated to the senior executives
and the management. Their responsibilities include the
implementation of decisions made by the Board, the
co-ordination and direction of day-to-day operation and
management of the Company in accordance with the
management strategies and plans approved by the Board.
The Board receives full support from senior executives
to discharge its responsibility. Prior approval has to
be obtained from the Board before entering into any
significant transactions. The statement of the auditors of
the Company in relation to their reporting responsibilities
for the consolidated financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditor’'s Report on pages 64 to 70 of this
report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

THE BOARD (Continued)
Composition

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises six
Directors, including three Executive Directors, namely,
Mr. Chen Weiwu (Chairman), Mr. Chen Gengxian (Chief
Executive Officer) and Mr. Zhou Houjie and three
Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely, Mr. Chen
Youchun, Mr. Chan Chein Kwong William and Ms. Lui
Mei Ka.

One of the Independent Non-Executive Directors has
appropriate accounting and financial management
expertise. The number of Independent Non-Executive
Directors is more than one-third of the Board.
Biographical details of the Chairman and other Directors
are set out in the paragraph headed “Biographical details
of Directors and senior management” on pages 20 to 24

of this report.

The presence of three Independent Non-Executive
Directors is considered by the Board to be a reasonable
balance between Executive and Non-Executive Directors.
The Board is of the opinion that such balance can provide
adequate checks and balances to safeguard the interests
of shareholders and of the Group. The Independent Non-
Executive Directors provide to the Group with a wide
range of expertise and experience so that independent
judgment can be exercised effectively. They have also
participated in Board meetings and general meetings,
dealt with potential conflicts of interest, served on Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee of the Company and scrutinised the Group's
performance and reporting. Through their active
participation, the management process of the Company
can be critically reviewed and controlled.
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THE BOARD (Continued)
Composition (Continued)

The Directors have distinguished themselves in their
field of expertise, and have exhibited high standards
of personal and professional ethics and integrity. All
Directors have given sufficient time and attention to
the Company's affairs. The Board believes that the
ratio between Executive Directors and Independent
Non-Executive Directors is reasonable and adequate to
perform check and balance function over the Board in
the decision making process.

The Board is responsible for the appointment of new
Director and nomination for re-election by shareholders
at the annual general meeting of the Company. Under
the Bye-laws, the Board may from time to time appoint
a Director either to fill a vacancy or as an addition to
the Board. Any new Director appointed to fill a casual
vacancy or as an addition to the existing Board shall hold
office until the next following annual general meeting
after his/her appointment and shall then be eligible for
re-election at such meeting.

In compliance with Code Provision A.3.2 of the CG
Code, an updated list of the Directors identifying their
role and function are available on the websites of the
Company (www.tricor.com.hk/WebService/00674/) and
the Stock Exchange (www.hkex.com.hk). The Company
will review the composition of the Board from time to
time to ensure that the Board possesses the appropriate
and necessary expertise, skill and experience to meet
the needs of the Group’s business and to enhance the
Shareholders’ value.

INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received an annual confirmation
of independence from each of the Independent Non-
Executive Director in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules and each of them has declared fulfilment
of all the guidelines for assessing independence
in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
Accordingly, the Company considers that all the
Independent Non-Executive Directors are independent.

All Independent Non-Executive Directors are identified
as such in all corporate communications containing the
names of the Directors. In addition, there is no material
relationship between Board members.
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DEVIATION FROM THE CG CODE

Throughout the year ended 31 March 2017, the Company
has complied with the CG Code as set out in Appendix
14 to the Listing Rules, save and except the following
deviation:

Term of appointment of non-executive directors

Under the code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code, all non-
executive directors should be appointed for a specific
term, subject to re-election. Whilst the non-executive
directors are not appointed for a specific term, the
term of office for non-executive directors is subject to
retirement from office by rotation and is eligible for re-
election in accordance with the provisions of the Bye-
laws. At each annual general meeting of the Company,
one-third of the directors for the time being, (or if their
number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest
to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office
by rotation so that each directors shall be subject to
retirement at least once every three years. As such, the
Company considers that such provision is sufficient to
meet the underlying objectives of CG Code.

BOARD MEETINGS AND SHAREHOLDERS’
MEETINGS

The Board regularly meets in person or through other
electronic means of communication at least four times
every year to determine the overall strategic direction,
objectives and to approve interim results, annual results
or other significant matters. Draft notice and agenda
for regular meetings are provided to all Directors for
comments and inclusion of any matters for deliberation
at the meetings. Apart from holding regular meetings,
senior management from time to time provides to the
Directors information on activities and development
of the business of the Group. The Company Secretary
assists the Chairman in preparing agenda for the
meetings and ensures that all applicable rules and
regulations in connection with the meetings are observed
and complied with. The agenda and Board papers are
then sent to all Directors at least 3 days prior to the
meeting. The Company Secretary also takes detailed
minutes, keeps records of matters discussed and
decision resolved at the meetings.
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BOARD MEETINGS AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EEgeERRREAEH)
MEETINGS (continued)

Directors’ attendances in the general meetings and the RERN REAeNEEE FEZLTES .
meetings of the Board, Audit Committee, Remuneration THEEeREEEEER
Committee and Nomination Committee held during the FHy T -

year are set out below:

nHV

Audit Remuneration Nomination Annual Special

Board Committee Committee Committee General General

Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting

attended/ attended/ attended/ attended/ attended/ attended/

Eligible Eligible Eligible Eligible Eligible Eligible

Name of Directors attended attended attended attended attended attended
R/ R/ i/ i/ i/ i/

BERILRE RERILRE RERLRE RERLRE REK REK

g5 ENZEE FMzEE REZEE HERR HERR

EERE = = =E = BEAE BEAE

Executive Director

HTES

Mr. Chen Weiwu (appointed — — — — — —
on 8 December 2016)

REREE(R-_T—RF
+-AN\BEZ{T)

Mr. Chen Gengxian — — — — — —
(appointed on 8 December
2016)

BUELAE(RZE—RF
+ZANE] é‘éE)

Mr. Chen Songbin (appointed — — — — — —
on 8 December 2016 and
resigned on 1 July 2017)

BB E(R-_T—RF
+ZANBEZELR
2 —tFtA-HE)

Mr. Zhou Honjie (appointed — — — — — —
on 8 December 2016)

FEARE(R-_T—RF
TZANBEZME)

Mr. Cheng Yang (resigned 1718 — — 2/2 11 0/1
on 24 January 2017)

BEREE(RZZ—tF
—RAZtHAEE)

Mr. Tsoi Tung (resigned on 7110 — — — 0/1 01
15 August 2016)

EYRERZE—RE
NA+REET)

Ms. Lei Lei (resigned on 1718 — — — 1 11
24 January 2017)

BENL(RZZ—tF
—RAZTHBERT)
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BOARD MEETINGS AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EEgeERRREAEH)
MEETINGS (cContinued)

Audit Remuneration Nomination Annual Special
Board Committee Committee Committee General General
Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
attended/ attended/ attended/ attended/ attended/ attended/
Eligible Eligible Eligible Eligible Eligible Eligible
Name of Directors attended attended attended attended attended attended
R/ R/ e/ e/ e/ e/
RERILRE RERILE RERILE RERILE RER RER
£ EVZEE FHzEE REZ8E HERR HERR
EspA g3 E ] g3 3 BERE KEKE
Mr. Huang Ranfei (resigned 6/10 — — — 0/1 il
on 15 August 2016)
BREEE(RZT—RF
NA+REEE)
Mr. Li Weipeng (resigned on 1 — — — 0/1 on
8 April 2016)
FHREFRERZT—RF
MANBEE)

Independent Non-
Executive Director

BUFHITES

Mr. Chen Youchun — — — — — —
(appointed on 8 December
2016)

BRREREMN-_T—AF
TZANBEZE)

Mr. Chan Chein Kwong — — — — — —
William (appointed on
8 December 2016)

BEREE(R_T—RF
+TZANBEZE)

Ms. Lui Mei Ka (appointed — — — — — —
on 21 April 2017)

EERLL(R-T—LF
MAZ+—AEZMA)

Mr. So Tat Keung (resigned 5/8 12 — — 0N 0N
on 1 August 2016)

FERLE(R-T—RF
NE—BEF)

Mr. Yang Rusheng (resigned 16/18 2/2 2/2 2/2 0N 01
on 24 January 2017)

BRELE(RZZ—+&
—AZTHARE)

Mr. Tong Jingguo (resigned 13/18 2/2 2/2 2/2 0/1 01
on 24 January 2017)

AREEAE(RZT—t4F
—HAZTHARME)
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BOARD MEETINGS AND SHAREHOLDERS’
MEETINGS (continued)

During regular meetings of the Board, the Directors
discuss and formulate the overall strategies of the Group,
monitor financial performances, review the annual and
interim results, and make decisions on other significant
matters. The execution of daily operational matters is
delegated to the senior executives of the Group.

The company secretary records the proceedings of each
Board meeting in detail by keeping minutes, including the
record of all decisions resolved by the Board together
with concerns raised and dissenting views expressed (if
any). Draft Board minutes are circulated to all Directors
for comment and approval as soon as practicable after
the meeting. All minutes are open for inspection at any
reasonable time upon request by any Director.

All Directors have access to relevant and timely
information at all times and they may make further
enquiries if it is necessary to do so.

They also have unrestricted access to the advice
and services of the company secretary, who is held
responsible for providing Directors with Board papers
and other related materials. The company secretary also
ensures that proper Board procedures are followed and
that all applicable laws and regulations are complied
with. If the Directors consider necessary and appropriate,
they may retain the service of independent professional
advisers at the Group's expense.

In case where a conflict of interest arises involving a
substantial shareholder or a Director, such matter will be
resolved in a physical meeting instead of passing written
resolutions. Independent Non-Executive Directors with
no conflict of interest will be present at meetings to deal
with such conflict issues.
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BOARD MEETINGS AND SHAREHOLDERS’
MEETINGS (continued)

The Board committees, including the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, have all adopted the applicable practices and
procedures used in Board meetings.

The annual general meeting and other special
general meetings of the Company are the primary
forum for communication with its shareholders and
for shareholders’ participation. All shareholders are
encouraged to attend the general meetings or to appoint
proxies to attend and vote at meetings on their behalves
if they are unable to attend.

During the year ended 31 March 2017, the Company
held its annual general meeting on 29 September 2016
and its special general meeting on 29 July 2016 and 2
June 2017. Details of major items discussed in those
general meeting are set out in the circulars of the
Company dated 25 August 2016, 7 August 2016 and 12
May 2017, respectively.

TRAINING AND SUPPORT FOR
DIRECTORS

All Directors, including Independent Non-Executive
Directors, must keep abreast of their collective
responsibilities as Directors and of the business of the
Group. As such, the Group provides a comprehensive
and formal induction to each newly appointed Director
upon his/her appointment. Briefings and orientations are
provided so as to ensure that new Directors are familiar
with the role of the Board, their legal and other duties
as a Director as well as the business and governance
practices of the Group. Such programmes are tailor made
for each Director taking into account their background
and expertise.
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TRAINING AND SUPPORT FOR BEEZEIIRXXE#®)
DIRECTORS (continued)

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous ERERESLHUBERELE  UEBENK
professional so as to develop and refresh directors’ BEREFFECANELERE  THRERESHES

knowledge and skills and to ensure that their contribution SRHEEDNBEHEBYZEE -
to the Board remains informed and relevant.

tF=A=+—"RLEFEAN"

During the year ended 31 March 2017, the Directors REE—_T—
EXZ2ETHF :

participated in the following training:

Type of training

Name of Director EENSE IR
Executive Directors PITES
Mr. Chen Weinu (appointed on 8 December 2016)  RERAE(R_ZT—~F+-AN\BEZT) A B
Mr. Chen Gengxian (appointed on 8 December 2016) B B.4(R-E— A F+-A/\BEZE) A,
Mr. Chen Songbin (appointed on 8 December 2016 RIAEEE(R_F—"F+-_ANBEZIR A B
and resigned on 1 July 2017) R-E—t&F+F—HET)
Mr. Zhou Houjie (appointed on 8 December 2016)  AEBALXE(R=_T— "F+-AN\BEZ() A B
Mr. Cheng Yang (resigned on 24 January 2017) BEAE(RT—tE—-AZTMAEHTE) A B
Mr. Tsoi Tung (resigned on 15 August 2016) B EE(RZE—A"ENATRART) A, B
Ms. Lei Lei (resigned on 24 January 2017) EERT(RZE—t5—AZTNAEHT) A B
Mr. Huang Ranfei (resigned on 15 August 2016) BAFEERZE-R"FNATHBET) A, B
Mr. Li Weipeng (resigned on 8 April 2016) FTHELERZT-—AFENANREM) A B
Independent Non-Executive Directors BIUFBTES
Mr. Chen Youchun (appointed on 8 December 2016) RRFAE(R-_Z—~F+-AN\BEZT) A,
Mr. Chan Chein Kwong William BRik® LS A B
(appointed on 8 December 2016) (RZZE—R"E+ZANBEZE)
Ms. Lui Mei Ka (apponited on 21 April 2017) EXERT(R=F—+tFNA=-+—BEZMT) A B
Mr. So Tat Keung (resigned on 1 August 2016) RESAEW_Z—"ENA—BET) A B
Mr. Yang Rusheng (resigned on 24 January 2017)  BWMAELAE(R-E—+F—F -+ MNBET) A B
Mr. Tong Jingguo (resigned on 24 January 2017) REFEEE(MN-_Z—+F—A-FTWNEET) A B
A: attending seminars, briefing sessions, conferences A HEHANE  ENe ek dmE

and/or forums

B: reading newspapers, journals and updates relating B: MEEBELCER, H—MEBETmY
to the economy and/or general business etc. wE o BRI REHER

Each Director will, upon his/her first appointment and REEBREBNELZERBESERLASE
thereafter on a yearly basis, disclose to the Group the B EAE BA/A?AET&%H%}%%EZH%&%(
number and nature of offices held by such Director in BRME » ANEME KRIE -

public companies and organisations and other significant

commitments.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established with
specific written terms of reference which was revised
and adopted on 6 March 2015. The Remuneration
Committee currently consists of one Executive Director
and two Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely,
Mr. Chen Youchun (Chairman), Mr. Zhou Houjie and Mr.
Chan Chein Kwong William.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for, among
other things, making recommendations to the Board
regarding the overall remuneration policy, remuneration
of Directors and senior management of the Group,
share option scheme, bonus structure, provident fund
and other compensation-related issues. This committee
consults with the Chairman and/or Chief Executive officer
on its proposals and recommendations and has access
to professional advice, if necessary. The Remuneration
Committee is provided with sufficient resources to
discharge and perform its duties.

The specific terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee is posted on the Company’'s website. The
Remuneration Committee meets at least once a year.

During the year under review, the Remuneration
Committee held two meeting to review and make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of all Directors and senior management.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established with specific
written terms of reference which was revised and
adopted on 30 August 2013. The Nomination Committee
currently consists of one Executive Director and two
Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely, Mr. Chen
Weiwu (Chairman), Mr. Chen Youchun and Mr. Chan
Chein Kwong William.

The main duties of the Nomination Committee include
reviewing the structure, size and composition of the
Board annually, making recommendations on any
proposed changes to the Board to complement the
Company’'s corporate strategy, identifying individuals
suitably qualified to become members of the Board,
selecting individuals nominated for directorships,
assessing the independence of the Independent Non-
Executive Directors and making recommendations to
the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of
Directors and succession planning for Directors, in
particular the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer.
The Nomination Committee is provided with sufficient
resources to discharge and perform its duties.

The specific terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee is posted on the Company’'s website. The
Nomination Committee meets at least once a year.

During the year under review, the Nomination Committee
held two meeting to assess the independence of the
Independent Non-Executive Directors. The Nomination
Committee considered that an appropriate balance of
diversity perspectives of the Board is maintained.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an Audit Committee with

specific written terms of reference which was revised

and adopted on 17 December 2015. The main duties of

the Audit Committee include, among other things, the

following:

(a)

to review the financial statements and reports and
consider any significant or unusual items raised by
the Company’s staff responsible for the accounting
and financial reporting function or external auditor
before submission to the Board.

to review the relationship with the external auditor
by reference to the work performed by the auditor,
their fees and terms of engagement, and make
recommendation to the Board on the appointment,
re-appointment and removal of external auditor.

to review the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Company's financial reporting system, internal
control system and risk management system and
associated procedures.

The Audit Committee is provided with sufficient

resources to discharge and perform its duties.

Other duties of the Audit Committee are set out in

its specific terms of reference which is posted on the

Company’s website. The Audit Committee shall meet at

least twice a year.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (Continued)

The Audit Committee currently consists of three
Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely Mr. Chen
Youchun (Chairman), Mr. Chan Chein Kwong William and
Ms. Lui Mei Ka. No member of the Audit Committee
is a former partner of the existing auditing firm of the
Company within one year on the date of his ceasing to
be a partner or had any financial interest in the auditing
firm. The Audit Committee has reviewed the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group and
discussed auditing and financial reporting matters with
the management team of the Company.

During the year under reivew, the Audit Committee
held two meetings to review, among other things, the
Company’s interim report for the six months ended 30
September 2016, annual report for the year ended 31
March 2016. The Audit Committee has also reviewed
the financial reporting and compliance procedures, report
on the Company’s internal control and risk management
review and processes as well as the re-appointment of
the external auditor. There is no material uncertainty
relating to events and conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Company’'s ability to continue as
a going concern. There is no disagreement between the
Board and the Audit Committee regarding the selection,
appointment, resignation or dismissal of external auditor.

The accounts for the year were audited by BDO Limited,
whose term of office will expire upon the forthcoming
annual general meeting. The Audit Committee has
recommended to the Board that BDO Limited be
nominated for appointment as the auditor of the
Company at the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (Continued)

The company secretary keeps full minutes of all Audit
Committee meetings. In line with practices consistent
with Board meetings and other committee meetings,
draft and final version of Audit Committee meeting
minutes are circulated to all members of the Audit
Committee for comments, approval and record as soon
as practicable after each meeting.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy setting
out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board. The
Company considered diversity of board members can be
achieved through consideration of a number of aspects,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience, skills
and knowledge. All Board appointments will be based on
meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against
objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of
diversified perspectives, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length
of service. The ultimate decision will be made upon the
merits of the selected candidates and their contribution
to the Board. The Board considered the measurable
objectives, including but not limited to skills, knowledge,
professional experience and cultural and educational
background, and agreed that these measurable objectives
were achieved for the diversity of the Board which
contributed to the corporate strategy and the business
development of the Company.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2017, the remuneration
in respect of audit services provided by the auditors,
BDO Limited, amounted to HK$1,788,000 (2016:
HK$1,788,000). For non-audit services in respect of the
review of the interim results of the Group for the six
months ended 30 September 2016, the fees amounted
to HK$320,000 (2016: HK$320,000).
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COMPLIANCE WITH MODEL CODE

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of the Listed Issuers (the
“Model Code"”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules as its own code of conduct regarding directors’
securities transactions. Specific enquiries have been
made with all Directors, who have confirmed that,
during the year ended 31 March 2017, each of them has
complied with the required standards as set out in the
Model Code.

RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF
DIRECTORS AND AUDITOR

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of
financial statements, which give a true and fair view
of the financial position of the Group. The auditor is
responsible to form an independent opinion on the
audited financial statements and report the same to the
shareholders of the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

No corporate governance committee has been
established and the Board is responsible for performing
the corporate governance functions including but not
limited to developing and reviewing the Company’'s
policies and practices on corporate governance,
reviewing and monitoring training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Statements and Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements of
the Group that give a true and fair view in accordance
with applicable accounting standards and Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. The Directors are not aware of
any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’'s
ability to continue as a going concern.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (Continued)

Financial Statements and Financial Reporting
(Continued)

The Directors also acknowledge their responsibilities
to ensure that the consolidated financial statements on
annual and interim results of the Group are published in
a timely manner, within three months and two months
respectively of the year end and the half-year period end.

The reporting responsibility of the external auditor of the
Company on the consolidated financial statements of the
Group are set out in “Independent Auditor’'s Report” on
pages 64 to 70.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board recognises its overall responsibilities for
maintaining sound and effective risk management
and internal control systems including a review on
their effectiveness for achieving long-term sustainable
development of the Group. The risk management and
internal control systems, under a defined management
structure with limits of authority, are designed for the
Group to identify and manage the significant risks to
pursue its business objectives, safeguard its assets
against unauthorised use or disposition, enhance
effectiveness and efficiency of its operations, ensure the
maintenance of proper accounting records for reliable
financial reporting, and ensure compliance with relevant
laws and regulations. Such systems are designed to
manage rather than eliminate risks of failure in the
achievement of the Group’'s business objectives and
can only provide reasonable, but not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (continued)

The Board is responsible for the determination of the
Group's risk profile within its acceptable tolerance
levels in business operation, oversight of management
in the design, implementation and monitoring of overall
risk management process from risk identification, risk
assessment, establishment of appropriate risk responses
and regular risk evaluation and monitoring, so as to
ensure the systems are effectively established and
maintained.

The risk management process is structured from
management of the Group from respective business
functions at execution level to the Board, together
assisted with the Audit Committee in decision-making
and monitoring level. Management of the Group
identifies, assesses and prioritises the key existing and
potential risks through a detailed assessment process
and determines the appropriate mitigation strategies
and control measures in response of the identified risks.
Ongoing evaluation and monitoring of the identified risks,
respective measures, and results are carried out and
reported to the Board regularly. The Board at decision-
making level, assisted with the Audit Committee,
reviews the risk appetite, risk management process and
strategies and also the internal control systems and
provide recommendations for any improvement on the
systems in an ongoing basis to ensure risk management
effectiveness.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (continued)

To further strengthen the risk management and
internal control of the Group, the Board has engaged
an independent risk management and internal control
Avista PRO-WIS Risk
Advisory Limited, to carry out the internal audit function

review adviser (“the Adviser”),

by performing an annual review of the risk management
and internal control systems of the selected entities of
the Group for the year ended 31 March 2017. The scope
of review was determined and approved by the Board,
covering material controls on revenue and receipt cycle
and financial reporting cycle including review of risk
management functions of selected entities of the Group.
The Adviser carried out the review which involves the
following tasks:

1. Conducting interviews with relevant management
and staff members relating to the risk management
and internal controls

2. Conducting walk-through relating to the risk
management and internal controls review

3. Reviewing relevant documentation on site relating
to the risk management and internal controls review

4.  ldentifying significant deficiencies in the design of
the risk management and internal controls
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (continued)

5. Communicate the significant findings with the
management so as to confirm the factual accuracy
of the findings control system.

The Board and the Audit Committee are of the view
there are no material risk management and internal
control defeats were identified by the Adviser during
the course of review. With the discussion between
management, the Adviser and the Audit Committee, the
Board, with the concurrence of the Audit Committee,
considered that the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group are effective and adequate. The
review of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group is an ongoing process and the
Board maintains a continuing commitment to strengthen
the Group's control environment and processes.

The Company formulated the inside information policy.
The Company regularly reminds the Directors and
employees about due compliance with all policies
regarding the inside information. Also, the Company
keeps Directors, senior management and employees
appraised of the latest regulatory updates. The Company
shall prepare or update appropriate guidelines or policies
to ensure the compliance with regulatory requirements.
Procedures for collection, evaluation of information and
the publication manner are in place to ensure timely
reporting of the inside information to the Board and the
stakeholders of the Group.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for decisions in relation to the
overall strategic development of the Group’s business.
All Directors have formal letters of appointment setting
out key terms and conditions of their appointment. Due
to the diversity and volume of the Group's business,
responsibility in relation to the daily operations and
execution of the strategic business plans are delegated
to management of the Group.

All committees, namely the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, have specific terms of reference setting
out the authorities and responsibilities of the respective
committee. All committees are required by their terms
of reference to report to the Board in relation to their
decisions, findings or recommendations, and in certain
specific situations, to seek the Board's approval before
taking any actions.

The Board will review, on a yearly basis, all delegations
by the Board to different committees to ensure that such
delegations are appropriate and continue to be beneficial
to the Company as a whole.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ LIABILITY
INSURANCE

Insurance cover has been taken out for Directors’
and Officers’ Liability to provide adequate cover, as
determined by the Board, in respect of the Board
members and senior management of the Company.
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SHAREHOLDERS RELATIONS

The Company is committed to maintaining a high level
of transparency and employs a policy of open and timely
disclosure of relevant information to its shareholders.
The commitment to fair disclosure and comprehensive
and transparent reporting of the Company’s activities can
be reflected in various aspects.

To maintain an on-going dialogue with shareholders,
the annual general meeting provides an opportunity for
shareholders to exchange views with the Board.

The Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer attended
the annual general meeting in 2016 (the “2016 Annual
General Meeting”) so as to ensure that shareholders’
views were communicated to the Board. A separate
resolution was proposed by the Chairman in respect of
each separate issue at the annual general meeting.

The proceedings of the annual general meeting are
reviewed from time to time to ensure that the Company
conforms to the best corporate governance practices.
The circular in relation to the arrangement of annual
general meeting will be circulated to all shareholders at
least 20 clear business days prior to the holding of the
annual general meeting, in which it sets out the details of
each resolution proposed and other relevant information.
At the 2016 Annual General Meeting, all resolutions
were put to vote by poll. Tricor Secretaries Limited, the
Company's Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar, was
engaged as scrutineer to ensure votes were properly
counted. The rights of shareholders and the procedures
for demanding a poll on resolutions at general meeting
are contained in the Bye-laws. An explanation of the
detailed procedures for conducting a poll is provided to
the shareholders at the commencement of the meeting.
The chairman would respond to queries raised by the
shareholders regarding the voting procedures. The poll
results are published in accordance with the relevant
provisions of the Listing Rules.
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SHAREHOLDERS RELATIONS (Continued)

Pursuant to the Bye-laws, shareholder(s) holding at the
date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth
of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right
of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all
times have the right, by written requisition to the Board
or the company secretary of the Company, to require a
special general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition
and such meeting shall be held within two months after
the deposit of such requisition.

If within twenty one days of such deposit the Board fails
to proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionists
themselves may do so in accordance with the relevant
provisions in the Companies Act of Bermuda.

The Company also communicates to its shareholders
through its annual and interim reports. The Directors,
company secretary or other appropriate members of
senior management also respond promptly to inquiries
from shareholders and investors.

Shareholders may at any time serve their enquiries to the
Board in writing for the attention of company secretary
at Room 2101, 21/F., China Merchants Tower, Shun Tak
Centre, 168-200 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong.
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PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD
PROPOSALS AT SHAREHOLDERS'
MEETINGS

Under Bermuda law, in addition to the right to requisition
a special general meeting, any number of shareholders
representing not less than one-twentieth (1/20) of
the total voting rights of all the shareholders having
at the date of the requisition a right to vote at the
general meeting; or not less than one hundred (100)
shareholders, shall (unless otherwise resolved by the
Company) at their own expense have the right by written
requisition:

(@) to require notice of any resolution which may
properly be moved and is intended to be moved
at the next annual general meeting to be given to
shareholders; and/or

(b) to request for circulation to shareholders any
statement of not more than one thousand (1000)
words with respect to the matter referred to in any
proposed resolution or the business to be dealt
with at any general meeting.

A requisition referred to above must be signed by
the requisitionists in a single document or in separate
copies prepared for the purpose. A copy of the signed
requisition, accompanied by a sum reasonably sufficient
to meet the Company’s expenses, must be deposited at
the Company'’s registered office in Bermuda:

(@) in the case of a requisition requiring notice of a
resolution, not less than six (6) weeks before the
annual general meeting unless an annual general
meeting is called for a date six (6) weeks or less
after the copy has been deposited, in which case
the copy shall be deemed to have been properly
deposited though not deposited within the time
required; and

(b) in the case of any other requisition, not less than
one (1) week before the general meeting.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company is committed to a policy of open and
timely disclosure of corporate information to shareholders
and investors. The Company updates shareholders
on its latest business developments and financial
performance through its annual and interim reports and
notices, announcements and circulars. The Company's
website (http://www.tricor.com.hk/WebService/000674/)
provides a communication platform to the public and the
shareholders.

With a view to bringing the Bye-laws in line with certain
amendments to the Listing Rules and the Companies
Act 1981 of Bermuda between 2012 and 2015 and to
modernising and updating the Bye-laws, the amendments
to the Bye-laws were approved by the shareholders of
the Company in September 2015. Details of which are
set out in the circular of the Company dated 21 August
2015.

The Bye-law is available on both the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

CONCLUSION

The Company believes that good corporate governance
is significant in strengthening investor confidence and
attracting investment. The management will devote
considerable effort to strengthening and improving the
standards of the corporate governance of the Group. Any
views and suggestions from the shareholders to promote
and improve our transparency are also welcome.
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|IBDO

EEE 1 +852 2218 8288
{88 : +852 2815 2239

Tel : +852 2218 8288
Fax: +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

25t Floor Wing On Centre
111 Connaught Road Central

Hong Kong
EETHEER11155
FKZF2548

www.bdo.com.hk

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED
(XL BERERFRLQE)

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Culture Landmark Investment Limited (the “"Company”)
and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set out
on pages 71 to 211, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2017,
and the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at 31 March 2017, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs")
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“"HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the "“Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the HKICPA's
Accountants” (the

“Code of Ethics for Professional
“"Code"),
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the

and we have fulfilled our

Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our
professional judgment, were of most significance in
our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.

Impairment assessment of trade and loan receivables

Refer to Note 25 to the consolidated financial statements
and the accounting policies in Note 4(i)(ii) to the
consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 March 2017, the Group had trade receivables
and loan receivables of approximately HK$11 million and
HK$92 million respectively. The impairment assessment
of the Group’s trade and loan receivables is a key audit
matter due to the judgment involved.

RRzER

ZEEREBESHMASEM 2 (BEBEZ
BRIV EBEXRERDETEZ - EFHEZ
LRBTAEEZ BEXCEAFRE B E
IR e M RRAEZEF IO R IEE—F
it - RBEES ﬁEﬂiﬂAﬁﬁ%Mﬁ%@ﬁ
EEEFRNDUATEREIFR]) EEBVR
E5E IEEW#W$ZE@E%LhM
f-ELHE EECEBZERREER
MBEMRESZ CEGERIBMHER -

FRREREE

FAREZFESRBEESZIEXZHE - R
BAHRAERAMBRRLBERRRERZSE
B L¢K$IEEA£”%$Z%%3??Qﬁ?ﬁ%iﬁ%‘%
FHABRRETRE BETeHEES
RIEHEBZER -

EUREREERZBEFG

B2 ?éﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬁﬁTEEZS&Téﬂﬁ%i&%
B RE 4G) (i) 2 B RTECR

S

T—tF=A=+—H  EBEEEBHES
711,000,000 7% 7T % 92,000,000 /& 7T 2 &
RERERER - BEEBZERERK
B REBESRAE - Al AR
£IF o

Bl #

&

wﬁ)ﬂﬂﬁrﬁll

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 -+ FER

65



66

B % B A RS
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Our audit procedures in relation to the directors’
impairment assessment included:

— enquiring with management of the Group whether

there is any impairment indicator for trade and
loan receivables and assessing whether there
is evidence of management bias on impairment
assessment of trade and loan receivables by
considering the consistency of judgments made by
the management year on year through discussion
with the management to understand their rationale;

— reviewing subsequent settlements of the trade and

loan receivables;

— testing the aging analysis of the trade and loan

receivables, on a sample basis, to the source
documents; and

— assessing the reasonableness of recoverability of

trade and loan receivables with reference to the
collectability, ageing analysis of the receivables,
the ultimate realisation of these outstanding, the
current creditworthiness, past collection history and
the Group’s current and potential future business
relationship with each customer.

OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included
in the Company’s annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements
does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
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In connection with our audit of the consolidated
financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and
fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process. The Audit Committee
assists the directors in discharging their responsibility in
this regard.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’'s report that
includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda
Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we
exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

° identify and assess the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

° obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
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° evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the
directors.

o conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor's
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

° evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

° obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an
opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we
determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not
be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected
to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

BDO Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Chan Wing Fai
Practising Certificate no. P05443

Hong Kong, 27 June 2017
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RETEWHER
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
BE-Z—+HF=RA=1T—HILFE
For the year ended 31 March 2017

2017 2016
—E—tF ZE—RF
Notes HK$ HK$
k3 Er BT
(re-presented)
(&EF)
(notes 1 & 6)
(Hizt1k6)
Continuing operations BEREER
Revenue g 7 81,280,068 112,826,913
Other income and gains HAaug A R e 8 8,354,866 20,069,954
Costs of inventories FERAK (58,643) (1,744,778)
Depreciation on property, plant ~ #1% - BEMREZITE
and equipment (13,803,538) (14,949,958)
Amortisation BgE 9 (116,883) (116,883)
Impairment losses MEEE 9 (4,061,787) (40,453,246)
Operating lease payments BRI FOR (34,343,198) (41,151,417)
Staff costs BIA 11 (38,152,246) (46,047,344)
Other operating expenses Hipgeahx (84,248,527) (90,825,194)
Finance costs BER AR 13 (3,196,095) (3,371,646)
Loss before income tax expense [ P15 55 < pl & 12 9 (88,345,983) (105,763,599)
Income tax expense PSRRI X 14 (830,271) (765,325)
Loss for the year from REFEREEBR 2 REE
continuing operations Eig (89,176,254) (106,528,924)
Discontinued operation BRIEETR
Loss for the year from REBRIEEBZAFEEE
discontinued operation 10 (4,940,151) (27,283,120)
Loss for the year rEEER (94,116,405) (133,812,044)
ANNUAL REPORT 2017 — L FFE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

HE-T—tF=A=1+—HIEFE
For the year ended 31 March 2017

2017 2016
—B—tF ZE—RF
Notes HK$ HK$
iz BT BT
(re-presented)
(g E5)
(note 1 & 6)
(Hizt1k6)
Other comprehensive income  HttZ2EU
Items that will not be TEEFIEERHZER
reclassified to profit or loss
Gain on revaluation of properties EL¥IE 7 i 17 2,979,933 575,037
Tax expense related to changes HBHEEEMEEH BRI
on revaluation of properties 32 (491,690) (94,881)
Items that may be reclassified HETRKEHFIEZTEFZ
subsequently to profit or loss IHH
Exchange differences arising on BB GINEHE S Z[EH =58
translating foreign operations (3,686,046) (5,054,461)
Available-for-sale investments,  AIEHERE - AFEEE
change in fair value 22(a) 9,140,976 11,089,281
Release of foreign exchange A E T B A 7)1 B [0 SNE
reserve upon disposal of i
subsidiaries 36(b) — (231,378)
Reclassification adjustment for AREAHEERERERM
realisation upon disposal of ERZEFH AR
available-for-sale investments — (14,266,465)
Other comprehensive income ARNEEHM2MEKE
for the year, net of tax (B HMpkRBE) 7,943,173 (7,982,867)
Total comprehensive income AEE2XHEHWFHLE
for the year (86,173,232) (141,794,911)
CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED X {b# iR & A B 2 A



RETEWHER

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
BE-Z—+HF=RA=1T—HILFE

For the year ended 31 March 2017

2017 2016
—E—tF ZE—REF
Notes HK$ HK$
iz Er BT
(re-presented)
(g E5)
(note 1 & 6)
(Hist1k6)
Loss for the year attributable to:fE{5 A< E &8 :
Owners of the Company RAREEE A
— Continuing operations — BECEER 16 (87,335,873) (107,608,604)
— Discontinued operation — BRIEER (2,519,477) (23,725,889)
Loss for the year attributable to AR EIHEA AEEREE
,,,,, owners of the Company _ B® 16 (89,855350) (131,334,493)
Non-controlling interests IR
— Continuing operations — BEICEER (1,840,381) 1,079,680
— Discontinued operation — BRIEER (2,420,674) (3,657,231)
Loss for the year attributable to  FEIRAIERE(G A FEE R
non-controlling interests (4,261,055) (2,477,551)
(94,116,405) (133,812,044)
Total comprehensive income  EHRNFEEREUNZHEEE
for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company ZAN/NETEZ ¥ =N (81,653,817) (139,472,414)
Non-controlling interests FEPEAR R (4,519,415) (2,322,497)
(86,173,232) (141,794,911)
(restated)
(g E51)
Loss per share from continuing REFELERERILEE
and discontinued operations  EREE 16
Basic (HK cents) EAR(BAL) (8.93) (16.44)
Diluted (HK cents) OB (8.93) (16.44)
Loss per share from continuing REBEKLEXK 2 BRER
operations 16
Basic (HK cents) EARGEAL) (8.68) (13.47)
Diluted (HK cents) g (B) (8.68) (13.47)
ANNUAL REPORT 2017 — & —+ & & 1§
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

R=_ZE—+tF=A=+—H
As at 31 March 2017

31 March 31 March
2017 2016
—E—+tHF —ZE-RF
=A=+-—H =A=+—H
Notes HK$ HK$
KizE BT BT
Assets EE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment  ¥1% - &= &R E 17 74,930,895 100,521,045
Investment properties "EYE 18 6,538,977 6,246,653
Intangible assets mEE 20 788,962 905,845
Interests in associates iR l/N] P e 21 - 38,754,055
Available-for-sale investments  A[ftHEKE 22 50,367,334 43,087,358
Total non-currentassets  JFm#EEME 132,626,168 189,514,956
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 24 29,735,020 32,556,941
Trade and other receivables JEIE % E A FRIE 25 139,945,887 73,317,428
Amounts due from non- JrE IS B R B) 2 SR AR AR R
controlling shareholders of RIE
subsidiaries 26 14,053 14,049
Amounts due from related FEUFE A 58
parties 26 270,614 3,707,915
Amount due from an associate JEUR— B S A B FIE 26 - 5,320,302
Cash and bank balances e RIBITEH 27 64,645,440 103,035,471
234,611,014 217,952,106
Assets classified as held for DEABELEZEE
sale 28 40,855,423 —
Total currentassets  aw#EESE 275466437 217,952,106
Total assets ~~  ®E#@ 408092605 407,467,062
CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED 31t 4 4% 4% & A [R 2 7
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
RZE—+F=A=+—H

As at 31 March 2017

31 March 31 March
2017 2016
—E—tF —FBREF
=A=+-—H =A=+—H
Notes HK$ HK$
Biat BT BT
Liabilities =R
Current liabilities REBE
Trade, bills and other payables [EffE + ZiE M HAb IR 29 122,522,946 128,606,060
Amounts due to non- FEASTB /B A B) 2 FEIE AR A% 3R
controlling shareholders of K8
subsidiaries 26 47,667,960 53,594,160
Amounts due to related parties FEEIE A L5008 26 31,898,038 27,051,879
Amount due to ultimate JEAS B 4 RR A RIFAE
holding company 26 3,267,530 —
Bank borrowings RITIEE 30 51,401,458 50,702,070
Provision for long service RHRE S B 1H
payments 31 42,373 —
Deferred income PRI A - 480,048
Current tax liabilities WITRIEEE 538,577 2,808,177
257,338,882 263,242,394
Liabilities associated with DHEARBIERNEEEY
assets classified as held for HEAaE
sale 28 16,013,447 —
Total current liabilities mEN B BB 273,352,329 263,242,394
Net current assets/ REBEEEE (BEFHE)
(liabilities) 2,114,108 (45,290,288)
Total assets less current EEHAERABERS
liabilities 134,740,276 144,224,668
Non-current liabilities FnBERF
Bank borrowings wITIEE 30 - 18,001,800
Provision for long service RHRTS © B
payments 31 — 42,373
Deferred income FIEIA — 3,063,101
Deferred tax liabilities FLEHIEAE 32 356,455 6,645,278
Total non-current liabilities EmEBERTE 356,455 27,752,552
Total liabilities EEHE 273,708,784 290,994,946
NET ASSETS BEFE 134,383,821 116,472,116
ANNUAL REPORT 2017 —tEFY
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

R=_ZE—+tF=A=+—H
As at 31 March 2017

31 March 31 March
2017 2016
—E—tF —EBREF
=A=+-—H =A=+—H
Notes HK$ HK$
izt B BT
Capital and reserves KATEBAEEZRER
attributable to owners of &
the Company
Share capital A&z 33 53,888,928 35,925,952
Reserves & 87,360,249 82,505,179
Reserve of a disposal group BERE 2 HEARIHE
held for sale 28 (386,926) —
140,862,251 118,431,131
Non-controlling interests FEERER (6,478,430) (1,959,015)
TOTAL EQUITY R 134,383,821 116,472,116
On behalf of the directors REES
Chen Weiwu Chen Gengxian
PR E PREX B
Chairman Executive Director
FE HITEE

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED
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GEREBHE )
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
BE-Z—+HF=RA=1T—HILFE
For the year ended 31 March 2017

Equity
Employee Other Reserve of attributable
share-based  properties Foreign ~ Investment  a disposal to owners Non-
Share Share Other  Contributed compensation revaluation  exchange revaluation  group held Accumulated ofthe  controlling Total
capital ~ premium reserve surplus reserve reserve Teserve reserve for sale losses ~ Company interests equity
WRfxfz  EfhE HEHEZ KAAREA

BHEE  EEEE  BARR BEEMBE  ERRE  JEME REBREE MEEDEE  ZEEE  EGRR  GERER  EnsE
[note 4] (note 34) [note 34) fnote 34) (ot 34 note 34 note 34) (note 34)
Wa)  (WEn) Wiy ) WEH) WEw) o (B (i)
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS

Wit )
HKS HK§ HKS HKS

A1 A AT BT A A A AT A A A1 A
At 1 Aol 2016 35,925,952 2076251321 (99,144717) 28784000 9009407 7373450 19984388  (3,177,184) - (1956595492 118431131 (1,959,015) 116,472,116

Loss for the year KEEER
(Gain on revaluaton of properties EENE NS W)
fnote 17)

Exchange differences arising on BERNSREL ENEE
translating foreign operations

Avaiable-for-sale investments, change in
fair value fnote 22(a)

Tax expense related to changes on
revaluation of properties (note 32)

Reclassification of foreign exchange
reserve related to disposal group held
for sale (note 26]

- - - - - - - - - (09,855,350 (89,855,350) (4,261,085 (94,116,405)

- - - - - 297983 - - - - 291998 - 297993
- - - - - - (3421.686) - - - [3421686)  (258360) (3,686,046
- - - - - - - 9140976 - - 3140976 - 9140876
- - - - - (491,690) - - - - [491.690) - (491690)
- - - - - - 386,926 - [386,92) - - - -

Total comprehensive income
Issue of shares upon open offer (note 33) 12
Share issue expenses

&

3/!

- - - - - 2488243 (3040760 9140976 (386,926) (89,855,350) (81,683,817)  (4519415) (86,173,232)
17962976 89,814,881 - - - - - - - 107,777,851 - 107,711,851
- (3692920 - - - - - - - - (3692820 - (369290
(1,736,424) - - - - 7364 - - -

Share option cancelled (note 35) - - - -
At 31 March 2017 RoF-tE=A=1-8 53,808,928 2162373288  (99,144717) 28784000 7292983 9861693 16943628 5963792 (386,926) (2,044,714,418) 140,862,251 (6478430 134,383,821
At 1 April 2015 W-5-RERA-R 35026952 2076251327 (99144717) 28784000 9376692 6893294 25425281 - — (1825608284 257903545  [18,160,784) 239,742,761
Loss for the year LEEEE - - - - - - - - — (131334403 (131334498 (2477551) (133812044)
(ain on revaluation of properties EfEE s

[note 17) - - - - - 575,031 - - - - 575,031 - 575,031
Exchange differences arising on BERNFHEL R 2R

translating foreign operations - - - - - - b29515) - - = b29518 155064 (5,064461)
Avalable-forsale investments, change in - IHERE - ATEERY

far value note 221a) (226 - - - - - - - 11081 - — 11089281 — 1108981
Reclassiication adjustment for realisaion & & HER

upon disposal of available-for-sale ENAER

nvestments (note ] - - - - - - —  [14.266465) - — (14,266,465 —  (14.266465)
Toxexpense relted o changes on - EBEGTERHHERR

revaluation of properties (note 32) Wzz) - - - - — (s - - - - (s - (s
Release of foreign exchange reserve upon Rt ENBATAES EEE

disposal of subsidiaries (note 361b)) (i 55) - - - - - - (231,378) - - - (231,378) - (231,378)
Total comprehensive income - - - - - 40156 (544089 3,177,184) — (131330493 (139472,414)  (2322497) (141,794.911)
Acquistion of subsidiaries (note 37) - - - - - - - - - - — 18524266 18,524,266
Share option lapsed (note 35) - - - - 347,285 - - - - 347,285 - - -

At 31 March 2016 RZE-7EZAz1-8

HI6%2 2076251327 (©9,144717) 28784000 9029407 7313450 19984388 (3,177,184

(1,956,595492) 118431131 (1959018 116,472,116
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GREBRERER

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HE-T—tF=A=1+—HIEFE
For the year ended 31 March 2017

2017 2016
—E—tF —E—RF
Notes HK$ HK$
taE BT BT
Cash flows from operating REEBEIHERE
activities
Net cash used in operations REEBFRAZR®F5 40 (146,867,163) (49,262,967)
Interest received =Rl & IPS) 1,779,574 1,363,929
Tax (paid)/refund B (), REFE (137,883) 1,235,193
Net cash used in operating EEEEFAZHESTE
activities (145,225,472) (46,663,845)
Cash flows from investing REZHZHERE
activities
Acquisition of subsidiaries, IR BB B AR (B k%
net of cash acquired s zBe) 37 - (34,225,700)
Refund of deposit for BB A EIRE 2R
acquisition of subsidiaries — 110,000,000
Disposal of subsidiaries, net HEW B QR (2T
of cash disposed HEZRE) 36 (959) (2,970,756)
Deposit received for disposal  HEH B R R D KEIRS
of subsidiaries 16,000,000 —
Purchase of available-for-sale BB At HERE
investments - (46,396,600)
Increase of pledged bank B IRIRITIF 5L 0N
deposits - (44,790,629)
Release of pledged bank AERR IR IRITIF X
deposits 7,437,440 6,767,815
Increase in amounts due JE U FEVE AR A% BR SR IR
from non-controlling 0
shareholders - (10,000)
Decrease/(Increase) in FENS EEiE A T FIR
amounts due from related B, ()
parties 506,925 (3,227,93b)
Purchases of property, plant EBEWE  BERRE
and equipment 17 (5,554,068) (4,406,514)
Proceeds from disposal HEWE - WERE&#EZ
of property, plant and FriS3kTE
equipment - 57,038
Proceeds from disposal HEAHEEERE Y
of available-for-sale Fr5 3R
investments — 33,962,754
Deregistered of an associate — BB 2 B RS v 1 1,922,558 —
Net cash generated from RETHELEZHSFE
investing activities 20,311,896 14,759,473
CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED X {12 & BB 4 7



GEBRERER

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HE-T—t+tF=A=+—HItFE
For the year ended 31 March 2017

2017 2016
—E—tF —TE—RF
Notes HK$ HK$
izt B BT
Cash flows from financing RETH2RERE
activities
Increase in bank borrowings RITIEEIE N 22,079,900 52,764,468
Repayment of bank ERRITEE
borrowings (37,477,725) (41,862,010)
Interest paid BRAFLE (3,196,095) (3,371,646)
Proceed from issue of TR 2 FT1E R0
ordinary shares 107,777,857 —
Share issuance expenses BIROZEAX (3.692,920) —
Increase/(decrease) in FEIS BB A L FIAR
amounts due to related =/ CRsd)
parties 11,030,002 (16,033,789)
Increase in amount due to FEAS AR PR A RIFRIR
ultimate holding company 30 3,267,530 —
Net cash generated from/ BMEFTBHEL(FFA)Z
(used in) financing REeFE
activities 99,788,549 (8,502,977)
Net decrease in cash and ReRELEEEBRD
cash equivalents b2 (25,125,027) (40,407,349)
Cash and cash equivalents at RFEHz2RERBLEE
beginning of year BHE 57,051,103 100,314,658
Effect of exchange rate EXFHHRE RRSEFE
changes on cash and HEZ&2
cash equivalents (694,831) (2,856,206)
Cash and cash equivalents at RFRCHERBEEEE
end of year EH 31,231,245 57,051,103
Analysis of the balances of RE&RBSZEHEH 2&
cash and cash equivalents Akl
Cash and cash equivalents FFIARS RIRTTHESBR 2R
included in cash and bank e RBESEEEE
balances 27 28,553,665 57,051,103
Cash and bank balances FFAREREEE RS
included in assets held MARTT#E84
for sale 28 2,677,580 —
Cash and cash equivalents FREEMEEEMEIAE
as at year ended 31,231,245 57,051,103
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—ET—+tH¥=A=1+—H
31 March 2017

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED X{tiiZ#%& & A

GENERAL
Culture Landmark Investment Limited (the
“Company”) is a public limited company

incorporated in Bermuda. Its shares are listed on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). Its registered office is at
Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM
11, Bermuda and its principal place of business
has been changed to Room 2101, 21/F, China
Merchants Tower, Shun Tak Centre, 168-200
Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong with effect
from 1 April 2017. As at 31 March 2017, the
directors of the Company (the “Directors”) consider
the Company's immediate and ultimate holding
company is Grand Nice International Limited, a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
(the “BVI').

The Company is engaged in investment holding.
The principal activities of the subsidiaries are set
out in note 46. The Company and its subsidiaries
are collectively referred to as the “Group”.

During the year ended 31 March 2017, the Group
entered into an equity transfer agreement with an
independent third party to dispose its sludge and
sewage treatment business. As at 31 March 2017,
the disposal was not completed. Accordingly, the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income and
related notes have been re-presented as if the operation
discontinued during the year had been discontinued at
the beginning of the comparative period.

ADOPTION OF NEW OR REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(a) Adoption of revised HKFRSs — effective
1 April 2016

HKFRSs (Amendments) Annual Improvements 2012-
2014 Cycle

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure Initiative

Amendments to HKAS 16 Clarification of Acceptable
and HKAS 38 Methods of Depreciation
and Amortisation

The adoption of these revised HKFRSs has
no material impact on the Group’'s financial
statements.
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REMB®RMTE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E—+F=A=+—H

31 March 2017

ADOPTION OF NEW OR REVISED 2.
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

R BT 2B RBYHK
HEA(TEEBMBHREE

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs"”) (Continued) Al ) )
(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued (b) CEMEMKRERZHT L5
but are not yet effective ERMBERELEL

TR RE AR E B F5 R B
el eI BRI RS £R -

R T R"FHUA—AHRBZH
BFEERARERRREREEIES

The following new/revised HKFRSs, potentially
relevant to the Group’s financial statements
have been issued, but are not yet effective for
the financial year beginning on 1 April 2016

and have not yet been early adopted by the BN o
Group.
HKFRSs (Amendments)  Annual Improvements EAOBREEN —T-MEE-T-F
2014 - 2016 Cycle' (#31) B FEE
Amendments to Disclosure Initiative’ EAGHRAETE BB/
HKAS 7 BT
Amendments to Recognition of Deferred Tax Asset BASTENE 125 BAREREEZELER
HKAS 12 for Unrealised Losses’ ZEBF] BEE
Amendments to Transfers of Investment Property® EAGEF 0% REDEER’
HKAS 40 2B
Amendments to Classification and Measurement of BEARBREEN KRG AERHTNRS
HKFRS 2 Share-Based Payment Transactions® F2R 2B WAER &
Amendments to Sale or Contribution of Assets EEUBRERY REEEABENTIYA
HKFRS 10 and between an Investor and its FI0RREBEH 2LABENEELE
HKAS 28 (2011) Associate or Joint Venture® BHFBH BT LR
(Z%——F)
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments’ ERpEHL R SRIES
95
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with ERHBRL LY RABRPANHKE’

Customers® F15%

Amendments to Revenue from Contracts with EARBREENE REEPANUE(BE

HKFRS 15 Customers (Clarifications to 155 7 {53] B REERE 165
HKFRS 15)° ZBE)
HKFRS 16 Leases’ ERpBHL e AL
£16%

Effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2017 or 1 January 2018, as
appropriate

Effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2017

Effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2018

Effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2019

The amendments were originally intended to
be effective for periods beginning on or after
1 January 2016. The effective date has now
been deferred/removed. Early application of
the amendments continues to be permitted.

! RZB—tF—A—-RBx=-%F
—NFE-A-BEE)HZ%
Filsh 2 FE B A

: R-ZE—tF—- ARk z2&H
A2 FEHRAER

¢ R-ZZE—N\F—-A—-RH &M
A2 FEHRAER

! R-ZZE-NF— ARk %M
A2 FEHRAER

° FZEEFTRER T —RF—H
—HAsz &Gz BREER - &
BEMBREWEIL, B - 122
FEFRZ FIE AT MERT -
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REMB®RRMTE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—T—+F=RA=+—H
31 March 2017

2. ADOPTION OF NEW OR REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

(b)

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED X{tiiZ#%& & A

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 7 — Disclosure
Initiative

The amendments introduce an additional
disclosure that will enable users of financial
statements to evaluate changes in liabilities
arising from financing activities.

Amendments to HKAS 12 — Recognition of
Deferred Tax Asset for Unrealised Losses

The amendments relate to the recognition of
deferred tax assets and clarify some of the
necessary considerations, including how to
account for deferred tax assets related to debt
instruments measured of fair value.

Amendments to HKAS 40 — Transfers of
Investment Property

HKAS 40 requires a property to be transferred
to, or from, investment property only when
there is a change in use. The amendment
clarifies that a change in management’s
intentions for the use of a property does not
in isolation provide evidence of a change in
use. This is because management’s intentions,
alone, do not provide evidence of a change in
use.

y
el

RAFETREMBT 2B BT

HREA(ERBMBREE

all)#)

(b)

BB RERZHETRIEFT
BRMBHRELER(E)

EERIEAE TR — H
it e

BB NBINEE - BEHTG
BREE R PTEREEDEL
ZBEED -

EBEHEREFIZHZ KT —
BRABEEEZEER BEE

AEFEF N ERELEHAEE
KEBETHRENRE - BENAG
HERAHEEFEZEK AN
ZBEERBEE -

BEBEERFEWH 2T —
REWFBE

ER B EAFEIRREDFE
RRENESEASLBHREY
¥ ZERIRBEREBERMEN
BB NEBEKAGEE 2

B -



REMB®RMTE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E—+F=A=+—H

31 March 2017

ADOPTION OF NEW OR REVISED 2. BRMFISRETZERBUH
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING ERA(ERBUBREE
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued) 2l )

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued (b) CEMEMKRERZHT, &5

but are not yet effective (Continued) BERMBREERNE)
Amendments to HKAS 40 — Transfers of EEBEERFIAR ZEFT —
Investment Property (Continued) REYFEZ(Z)
An entity must, therefore, have taken Hit - BV ERNAER 2178
observable actions to support such a change NS HRE(\L - B8 ERE
HKAS 40.57 gives the following examples of 40.57 15528 2 i@ & BB RG] F
appropriate sources of evidence (this is not (WFHFFHBRIDAT :

intended to be an exhaustive list):

e commencement of owner-occupation, or . I EMEEETETEEY
of development with a view to owner- XMmE - ABEEaEIMN
occupation, for a transfer from investment E¥FEAFAB ZHIBERE

property to owner-occupied property;

. commencement of development with o MIREMEEEFTEMS
a view to sale, for a transfer from UHEAB ZHBREE
investment property to inventories;

e end of owner-occupation, for a transfer o BMEFAFVEEEREY
from owner-occupied property to EME - RIEEFERE R

investment property; and

e inception of an operating lease to another e NEFEHEKREWMEmNE
party, for a transfer from inventories to MEMATHBEEHE -

investment property.
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REMB®RRMTE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—T—+F=RA=+—H
31 March 2017

2. ADOPTION OF NEW OR REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

(b)

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED X 1t

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 2 — Classification
and Measurement of Share-Based Payment
Transactions

The amendments provide requirements on
the accounting for the effects of vesting and
non-vesting conditions on the measurement
of cash-settled share-based payments;
share-based payment transactions with a
net settlement feature for withholding tax
obligations; and a modification to the terms
and conditions of a share-based payment that
changes the classification of the transaction
from cash-settled to equity-settled.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 —
Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

The amendments clarify the extent of gains
or losses to be recognised when an entity
sells or contributes assets to its associate or
joint venture. When the transaction involves
a business the gain or loss is recognised in
full, conversely when the transaction involves
assets that do not constitute a business the
gain or loss is recognised only to the extent of
the unrelated investors’ interests in the joint
venture or associate.
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REMB®RMTE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E—+F=A=+—H

31 March 2017

ADOPTION OF NEW OR REVISED 2. BRHETSREIT 2EBYHE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING HEA(EBUHHREE

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued) all) )

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued (b) TEMEERERZHTEI5ET
but are not yet effective (Continued) BERMBREERNE)
HKFRS 9 — Financial Instruments BBUBEHREERNEIR — 25

I&

HKFRS 9 introduces new requirements for the BB RELERF IS AL/
classification and measurement of financial BEDERTEZHBRE - BEH
assets. Debt instruments that are held within XA mE /N AEEEEEAURER
a business model whose objective is to hold AEHReREZER T A(EBKE
assets in order to collect contractual cash AR URAEABRESREY
flows (the business model test) and that have EHBRREEAZIN TN RAER
contractual terms that give rise to cash flows ReMEZEBRTE(GHRER
that are solely payments of principal and SRFEAE) - —RIZEE ARG
interest on the principal amount outstanding 2 WZREBEKEAZBENAR
(the contractual cash flow characteristics test) BRUBEHREREURHES
are generally measured at amortised cost. BMEE  AFEENReNEEH
Debt instruments that meet the contractual Bl G TER AT EEFAR
cash flow characteristics test are measured at hEERE([RAEEET AR
fair value through other comprehensive income ZEWKE]  ERARTTER
(“FVTOCI") if the objective of the entity’'s BEEE T RIS 21212 UstE
business model is both to hold and collect the FEEATFEEFAEMEAKGR
contractual cash flows and to sell the financial EEBEZRATEA - FrEEMEE
assets. Entities may make an irrevocable KA T BTy A FEET AERE
election at initial recognition to measure equity (RAFEEEFAER]) -

instruments that are not held for trading at
FVTOCI. All other debt and equity instruments
are measured at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVTPL").
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REMB®RRMTE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—ZT—+H=A=+—H
31 March 2017

2. ADOPTION OF NEW OR REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

(b)

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED X{tiiZ#%& & A

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective (Continued)

HKFRS 9 — Financial Instruments
(Continued)

HKFRS 9 includes a new expected loss
impairment model for all financial assets not
measured at FVTPL replacing the incurred loss
model in HKAS 39 and new general hedge
accounting requirements to allow entities to
better reflect their risk management activities
in financial statements.

HKFRS 9 carries forward the recognition,
classification and measurement requirements
for financial liabilities from HKAS 39, except
for financial liabilities designated at FVTPL,
where the amount of change in fair value
attributable to change in credit risk of the
liability is recognised in other comprehensive
income unless that would create or enlarge
an accounting mismatch. In addition, HKFRS
9 retains the requirements in HKAS 39 for
derecognition of financial assets and financial
liabilities.
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REMB®RMTE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E—+F=A=+—H

31 March 2017

ADOPTION OF NEW OR REVISED 2.
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

R BT 2B RBYH
HEA(TEBUBREE

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs"”) (Continued) Al )

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued (b) CEMEMKRERZHT, L5
but are not yet effective (Continued) EBMKREER(E)
HKFRS 15 — Revenue from Contracts with BB BIHREERF155H — XK
Customers BEFEH KA

The new standard establishes a single revenue
recognition framework. The core principle
of the framework is that an entity should
recognise revenue to depict the transfer of
promised goods or services to customers
in an amount that reflects the consideration
to which the entity expects to be entitled
in exchange for those goods and services.
HKFRS 15 supersedes existing revenue
recognition guidance including HKAS 18
Revenue, HKAS 11 Construction Contracts and
related interpretations.

HKFRS 15 requires the application of a b-step
approach to revenue recognition:

ZFT AR — B B8 2 WA TERR
HEZR o« ZIER 20 RE BB BEfE
BERRANASERLEEAEE
MEBBTFEFE  ZeERBREH
ZEBERRIBRZEFEN RS
FTURER 2 (R (B - BAEM SRS %8|
FI55ENAIE A W AERIES
BREAEBSFTERFE18HBA -
BB EREVIREEAOR
FARERRE -

BREPBHREENFE 165K ESCE
WAL BRRERUA

. Step 1: ldentify the contract(s) with a . F—5 HANEEFZAH
customer

. Step 2: ldentify the performance o F-5: HBAAHNFZEY
obligations in the contract 5T

. Step 3: Determine the transaction price . F=5F BEXHE

e Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to e  ZENMF: BRIBHEES
each performance obligation BHEMR

e Step5: Recognise revenue when e BRI : REBHWEETK
each performance obligation is RSB

satisfied

HKFRS 15 includes specific guidance on
particular revenue related topics that may
change the current approach taken under
HKFRS. The standard also significantly
enhances the qualitative and quantitative
disclosures related to revenue.

Amendements to HKFRS 15 — Revenue
from Contracts with Customers
(Clarifications to HKFRS 15)

The amendments to HKFRS 15 included
clarifications on identification of performance
obligations; application of principal versus
agent; licenses of intellectual property; and
transition requirements.

FRAMBHRELANSZ RS HE
FEWARBE 2 FFERES - %FHE
Sl E N E BB IS ERRRE
FER 2730k ° sz R TRE W A AERE
ZEBREREREAZE(CEEL
HUE ©

EEMBHREERFEI5HEZE
i — BEEBUBHEERES
RREEFEHNZUAZEE

FRMBREERNE LR ZER]
BREEBHETEEZHATA
ERZRFEARKRIEA + HBEEFT
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REMB®RRMTE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—ZT—+H=A=+—H
31 March 2017

2. ADOPTION OF NEW OR REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

(b)

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED X{tiiZ#%& & A

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective (Continued)

HKFRS 16 — Leases

HKFRS 16, which upon the effective date
will supersede HKAS 17 "“Leases” and
related interpretations, introduces a single
lessee accounting model and requires a
lessee to recognise assets and liabilities
for all leases with a term of more than 12
months, unless the underlying asset is of
low value. Specifically, under HKFRS 16, a
lessee is required to recognise a right-of-
use asset representing its right to use the
underlying leased asset and a lease liability
representing its obligation to make lease
payments. Accordingly, a lessee should
recognise depreciation of the right-of-use
asset and interest on the lease liability, and
also classifies cash repayments of the lease
liability into a principal portion and an interest
portion and presents them in the statement
of cash flows. Also, the right-of-use asset
and the lease liability are initially measured
on a present value basis. The measurement
includes non-cancellable lease payments and
also includes payments to be made in optional
periods if the lessee is reasonably certain to
exercise an option to extend the lease, or not
to exercise an option to terminate the lease.
This accounting treatment is significantly
different from the lessee accounting for leases
that are classified as operating leases under
the predecessor standard, HKAS 17.

In respect of the lessor accounting, HKFRS
16 substantially carries forward the lessor
accounting requirements in HKAS 17.
Accordingly, a lessor continues to classify its
leases as operating leases or finance leases,
and to account for those two types of leases
differently.
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REMB®RMTE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E—+F=A=+—H

31 March 2017

ADOPTION OF NEW OR REVISED 2. BREWHR]HAETT 2 BB
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING HFEA([ BBV BREE
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued) All) =)
(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued (b) EMEAE MR ERZHET BT
but are not yet effective (Continued) BB BREER(E)
HKFRS 16 — Leases (Continued) EBUBHERRFE 165 — HE
(&
The Directors will assess the impact of the BB eN (L EREBYBREE
application of HKFRS 16. For the moment, BIE 16y E. EBEMMS
it is not practicable to provide a reasonable EREEETHEMEST R HER
estimate of the effect of the application of EHMERE LS 16 &
HKFRS 16 until the Group performs a detailed EE A B E AT -
review.
The Group is in the process of making an NEBEIRFREEHE KI5
assessment of the potential impact of these new/ BB TR YR Y B S BT
revised HKFRSs and the Directors so far concluded Sk o BE YR AR ST
that the application of these new/revised HKFRSs SIRIEE  BEP SRS LT
will have no material impact on the Group's financial BWARER Y G AU BREBKERX
statements. 248
ANNUAL REPORT 2017 =F — L% %5

89



90

REMB®RRMTE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—ZT—+H=A=+—H
31 March 2017

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a)

(b)

(c)

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED X{tiiZ#%& & A

Statement of compliance

The financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"),
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs")
and Interpretations (hereinafter collectively
referred to as the "HKFRS") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the disclosure requirements of
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. In addition,
the financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”)
on Stock Exchange.

Basis of measurement

The financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost basis except for certain
properties and available-for-sale investments,
which are measured at revalued amount or fair
value.

Functional and presentation currency

The financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is the same
as the functional currency of the Company.
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e MW R

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)

Business combination and basis of
consolidation

The consolidated financial statements
comprise the financial statements of the
Company and its subsidiaries. Inter-company
transactions and balances between group
companies together with unrealised profits are
eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Unrealised losses
are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of impairment on the
asset transferred, in which case the loss is

recognised in profit or loss.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income from the effective dates of acquisition
or up to the effective dates of disposal, as
appropriate. Where necessary, adjustments
are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with those used by other members of
the Group.

—T—+F=A=+—H
31 March 2017
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REMB®RRMTE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—ZT—+H=A=+—H
31 March 2017

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(a)

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED X 1t

Business combination and basis of
consolidation (Continued)

Acquisition of subsidiaries or businesses is
accounted for using the acquisition method.
The cost of an acquisition is measured at the
aggregate of the acquisition-date fair value
of assets transferred, liabilities incurred and
equity interests issued by the Group, as the
acquirer. The identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed are principally measured
at acquisition-date fair value. The Group's
previously held equity interest in the acquiree
is re-measured at acquisition-date fair
value and the resulting gains or losses are
recognised in profit or loss. The Group may
elect, on a transaction-by-transaction basis,
to measure the non-controlling interests
that represent present ownership interests
in the subsidiary either at fair value or at
the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other non-controlling
interests are measured at fair value unless
another measurement basis is required by
HKFRSs. Acquisition-related costs incurred are
expensed unless they are incurred in issuing
equity instruments in which case the costs are
deducted from equity.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred
by the acquirer is recognised at acquisition-
date fair value. Subsequent adjustments to
consideration are recognised against goodwill
only to the extent that they arise from new
information obtained within the measurement
period (a maximum of 12 months from the
acquisition date) about the fair value at
the acquisition date. All other subsequent
adjustments to contingent consideration
classified as an asset or a liability are
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(a)

Business combination and basis of
consolidation (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary,
the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as
the difference between (i) the aggregate of
the fair value of the consideration received
and the fair value of any retained interest
and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the
assets (including goodwill), and liabilities
of the subsidiary and any non-controlling
interest. Amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in relation to
the subsidiary are accounted for in the same
manner as would be required if the relevant
assets or liabilities were disposed of.

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount
of non-controlling interests that represent
present ownership interests in the subsidiary
is the amount of those interests at initial
recognition plus such non-controlling interest’s
share of subsequent changes in equity. Total
comprehensive income is attributed to such
non-controlling interests even if this results in
those non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the
Company is able to exercise control. The
Company controls an investee if all three of
the following elements are present: (1) power
over the investee, (2) exposure, or rights, to
variable returns from the investee, and (3) the
ability to use its power to affect those variable
returns. Control is reassessed whenever facts
and circumstances indicate that there may be
a change in any of these elements of control.

In the Company's statement of financial
position, investments in subsidiaries are stated
at cost less impairment loss. The results of
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company
on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.
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REMB®RRMTE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—ZT—+H=A=+—H
31 March 2017

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(c)

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED X 1t

Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group
has significant influence and that is neither a
subsidiary nor a joint arrangement. Significant
influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the
investee but not control or joint control over
those policies. Associates are accounted for
using the equity method whereby they are
initially recognised at cost and thereafter,
their carrying amount are adjusted for the
Group's share of the post-acquisition change
in the associates’ net assets except that
losses in excess of the Group's interest in the
associate are not recognised unless there is
an obligation to make good those losses.

Profits and losses arising on transactions
between the Group and its associates are
recognised only to the extent of unrelated
investors’ interests in the associate. The
investor's share in the associate's profits
and losses resulting from these transactions
is eliminated against the carrying value of
the associate. Where unrealised losses
provide evidence of impairment of the asset
transferred they are recognised immediately in

profit or loss.

Any premium paid for an associate above
the fair value of the Group’s share of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities acquired is capitalised and included
in the carrying amount of the associate.
Where there is objective evidence that the
investment in an associate has been impaired,
the carrying amount of the investment is
tested for impairment in the same may as

other non-financial assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d)

Goodwill and gain on a bargain purchase

Goodwill is initially recognised at cost being
the excess of the aggregate of a consideration
transferred and the amount recognised for
non-controlling interests over the fair value
of identifiable assets acquired, liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed.

Where the fair value of identifiable assets and
liabilities exceed the aggregated of fair value
of consideration paid and the amount of any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree, the
excess is recognised in profit or loss on the
acquisition date, after re-assessment.

Goodwill is measured at cost less impairment
losses. For the purpose of impairment testing,
goodwill arising from an acquisition is allocated
to each of the relevant cash-generating
units that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the acquisition. A cash-generating
unit is the smallest identifiable group of assets
that generates cash inflows that are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other
assets or groups of assets. A cash-generating
unit to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment annually by comparing
its carrying amount with its recoverable
amount (see note 4(qg)), and whenever there is
an indication that the unit may be impaired.

For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a
financial year, the cash-generating unit to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment before the end of that financial
year. When the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit is less than the carrying
amount of the unit, the impairment loss is
allocated to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill allocated to the unit first, and
then to the other assets of the unit pro rata
on the basis of the carrying amount to each
asset in the unit. However, the loss allocated
to each asset will not reduce the individual
assets carrying amount to below its fair value
less cost of disposal (if measurable) or its
value in use (if determinable), whichever is
higher. Any impairment loss for goodwill is
recognised in profit or loss and is not reversed
in subsequent periods.
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REMB®RRMTE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—ZT—+H=A=+—H
31 March 2017

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(e)

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED X 1t

Property, plant and equipment

Leasehold land and buildings are stated at
revalued amount, being the fair value at
the date of revaluation less any subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses. As the
fair value of the land cannot be measured
separately from the fair value of a building
situated thereon at the inception of the lease,
the land portion is accounted for as being held
under a finance lease. Fair value is determined
by the Directors of the Company based on
independent valuations which are performed
periodically. The valuations are on the basis
of open market value. The Directors of the
Company review the carrying value of the
leasehold land and buildings and adjustment
is made where they consider that there has
been a material change. Increases in value
arising on revaluation are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity under other properties revaluation
reserve. Decreases in value arising on
revaluation are first offset against increases
on earlier valuations in respect of the same
property and are thereafter recognised in
profit or loss. Any subsequent increases are
recognised in profit or loss up to the amount
previously charged and thereafter to the other
properties revaluation reserve.

Upon disposal of leasehold land and buildings,
the relevant portion of the other properties
revaluation reserve realised in respect of
previous valuations is released from the other
properties revaluation reserve to retained
earnings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(e)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment are stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses.

The cost of property, plant and equipment
includes its purchase price and the costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of the
items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's
carrying amount or recognised as a separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated
with the item will flow to the Group and
the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced
part is derecognised. All other repairs and
maintenance costs are recognised as an
expense in profit or loss during the financial
period in which they are incurred.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated
so as to write off their cost net of expected
residual value over their estimated useful
lives on a straight-line basis. The useful lives,
residual value and depreciation method are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the
end of each reporting period. The useful lives
are as follows:

Leasehold land and 40 years
buildings

Leasehold Over lease terms
improvements of 2-16 years

Furniture, fixtures and 3-5 years
equipment

Plant and machinery 5 years

Motor vehicles 3-5 years

Yacht 10 years
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—ET—+tH¥=A=1+—H
31 March 2017

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(e) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

An asset is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if its carrying amount is
higher than the asset’'s estimated recoverable

amount.

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of
property, plant and equipment is the difference
between the net sale proceeds and its carrying
amount, and is recognised in profit or loss on

disposal.

(f) Intangible assets

(i)  Acquired intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are
initially recognised at cost. The cost of
intangible assets acquired in a business
combination is fair value at the date of
acquisition. Subsequently, intangible
assets with finite useful lives are carried
at cost less accumulated amortisation
and accumulated impairment losses.

Amortisation is provided on a straight-line

basis over their useful lives as follows:

Provision of intellectual 11 years
property enforcement
services
Golf club memberships 12 years,
indefinite

Customer relationship and 10 years

customer contracts
Patent

Intangible assets with indefinite useful
lives are carried at cost less any

accumulated impairment losses.

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED X1k #iiF#% &
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(f) Intangible assets (Continued)

(ii)

Impairment

Intangible assets with finite lives are
tested for impairment when there is
an indication that an asset may be
impaired (note 4(qg)). Intangible assets
with indefinite useful lives and intangible
assets not yet available for use are tested
for impairment annually, irrespective
of whether there is any indication that
they may be impaired. Intangible assets
are tested for impairment by comparing
their carrying amounts with their
recoverable amounts (see note 4(q)). If
the recoverable amount of an asset is
estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset
is reduced to its recoverable amount.

An impairment loss is recognised as an
expense immediately.

When an impairment loss subsequently
reverses, the carrying amount of the
asset is increased to the revised estimate
of its recoverable amount, to the extent
that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the
asset in prior years.
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REMB®RRMTE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—ZT—+H=A=+—H
31 March 2017

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(g)

(h)

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED X 1t

Investment properties

Investment property is property held either
to earn rentals or for capital appreciation or
for both, but not held for sale in the ordinary
course of business, use in the production
or supply of goods or services or for
administrative purposes. Investment property
is measured at cost on initial recognition and
subsequently at fair value with any change
therein recognised in profit or loss.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases
whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to the lessee. All other leases are
classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the term of the relevant lease.
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and
arranging an operating lease are added to
the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised as an expense on straight-line
basis over the lease term.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(h)

(i)

Leasing (Continued)

The Group as lessee

The total rentals payable under the operating
leases are recognised in profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease
incentives received are recognised as an
integrated part of the total rental expense,
over the term of the lease.

Financial instruments

(i)

Financial assets

The Group classifies its financial assets
at initial recognition, depending on
the purpose for which the asset was
acquired. Financial assets at FVTPL
are initially measured at fair value and
all other financial assets are initially
measured at fair value plus transaction
costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition of the financial assets.
Regular way purchases or sales of
financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on a trade date basis.
A regular way purchase or sale is a
purchase or sale of a financial asset
under a contract whose terms require
delivery of the asset within the time
frame established generally by regulation
or convention in the marketplace
concerned.

Loans and receivables

These assets are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active
market. They arise principally through
the provision of goods and services
to customers (trade debtors), and also
incorporate other types of contractual
monetary asset. Subsequent to initial
recognition, they are carried at amortised
cost using the effective interest method,
less any identified impairment losses.

4.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—T—+F=A=+—H

31 March 2017

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i)

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED X 1t

Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

Financial assets (Continued)
Available-for-sale investments

These assets are non-derivative
financial assets that are designated as
available-for-sale or are not included
in other categories of financial assets.
Subsequent to initial recognition, these
assets are carried at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in
other comprehensive income, except
for impairment losses and foreign
exchange gains and losses on monetary
instruments, which are recognised in
profit or loss.

For available-for-sale equity investments
that do not have a quoted market price
in an active market and whose fair
value cannot be reliably measured and
derivatives that are linked to and must
be settled by delivery of such unquoted
equity instruments, they are measured
at cost less any identified impairment
losses.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i) Financial instruments (Continued)

(ii)

Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group assesses, at the end of each
reporting period, whether there is any
objective evidence that financial asset is
impaired. Financial asset is impaired if
there is objective evidence of impairment
as a result of one or more events that
has occurred after the initial recognition
of the asset and that event has an impact
on the estimated future cash flows of
the financial asset that can be reliably
estimated. Evidence of impairment may
include:

° significant financial difficulty of the
debtor;

° a breach of contract, such as a
default or delinquency in interest or
principal payments;

° granting concession to a debtor
because of debtor's financial
difficulty; and

o it becoming probable that the
debtor will enter bankruptcy or
other financial reorganisation.

e BHRRME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—T—+F=A=+—H
31 March 2017

4, FEESTTHE#®)

(i) &®mIBE#E)

(if)

ANNUAL REPORT 2017

MBEEEZRERFR

REREHR - AEEFG
EEEUBEEFHEREL
EAEEERE - WRAMGEE
REERBEZ -ALZA
FHERTFETBERER
B MZxBASFHEUBEE
ZAEETARRB IR EPTIERK

FEEMA MG - Al
MBEELTRE - RER
Al B

e BEBALBEBREUBRE

#
o EH - mAESIERF
BHASER

s HREBALRMBE
i T HEBRME
54

o EMHABARERESE
TR EEA -

103



104

REMB®RRMTE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—ZT—+H=A=+—H
31 March 2017

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i)

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED X 1t

Financial instruments (Continued)

(ii)

Impairment loss on financial assets
(Continued)

For loans and receivables

An impairment loss is recognised in profit
or loss when there is objective evidence
that the asset is impaired, and is
measured as the difference between the
asset’'s carrying amount and the present
value of the estimated future cash flows
discounted at the original effective
interest rate. The carrying amount of
financial asset is reduced through the
use of an allowance account. When any
part of financial asset is determined as
uncollectable, it is written off against
the allowance account for the relevant
financial asset.

Impairment losses are reversed in
subsequent periods when an increase in
the asset’s recoverable amount can be
related objectively to an event occurring
after the impairment was recognised,
subject to a restriction that the carrying
amount of the asset at the date the
impairment is reversed does not exceed
what the amortised cost would have
been had the impairment not been
recognised.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i) Financial instruments (Continued)

(ii)

Impairment loss on financial assets
(Continued)

For available-for-sale investments

Where a decline in the fair value
constitutes objective evidence of
impairment, the amount of the loss is
removed from equity and recognised in
profit or loss.

An impairment losses on available-for-
sale debt investments are subsequently
reversed in profit or loss if an increase in
the fair value of the investment can be
objectively related to an event occurring
after the recognition of the impairment
loss.

For available-for-sale equity investment,
any increase in fair value subsequent to
an impairment loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income.

For available-for-sale equity investment
that is carried at cost, the amount of
impairment loss is measured as the
difference between the carrying amount
of the asset and the present value of
estimated future cash flows discounted
at the current market rate of return for a
similar financial asset. Such impairment
loss is not reversed.
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REMB®RRMTE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—ZT—+H=A=+—H
31 March 2017

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i)

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED X 1t

Financial instruments (Continued)

(iii) Financial liabilities

(iv)

(v)

Financial liabilities are initially recognised
at fair value, net of directly attributable
transaction costs incurred, and are
subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest
method. The related interest expense is
recognised within “finance costs” in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.

Gains or losses recognised in the
profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the
amortisation process.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a
method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial asset or financial
liability and of allocating interest income
or interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts or payments through
the expected life of the financial asset or
liability, or where appropriate, a shorter
period.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the
Company are recorded at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.
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e MW R

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i)

(i)

Financial instruments (Continued)
(vi) Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset
when the contractual rights to the future
cash flows in relation to the financial
asset expire or when the financial asset
has been transferred and the transfer
meets the criteria for derecognition in
accordance with HKAS 39.

Financial liabilities are derecognised
when the obligation specified in the
relevant contract is discharged, cancelled
or expires.

Non-current assets held for sale and
disposal groups

Non-current assets and disposal groups are
classified as held for sale when:

o they are available for immediate sale;

° management is committed to a plan to
sell;
° it is unlikely that significant changes to

the plan will be made or that the plan
will be withdrawn;

° an active programme to locate a buyer
has been initiated,

o the asset or disposal group is being
marketed at a reasonable price in relation
to its fair value; and

o a sale is expected to complete within 12
months from the date of classification.
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REMB®RRMTE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—ZT—+H=A=+—H
31 March 2017

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i)

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED X 1t

Non-current assets held for sale and
disposal groups (Continued)

Non-current assets and disposal groups
classified as held for sale are measured at the
lower of:

° their carrying amount immediately prior
to being classified as held for sale in
accordance with the Group’s accounting
policy; and

° fair value less costs to sell.

Following their classification as held for
sale, non-current assets (including those in a
disposal group) are not depreciated.

The results of operations disposed of during
the year are included in profit or loss up to the
date of disposal.

Inventories

Inventories are initially recognised at cost,
and subsequently at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost comprises all costs of
purchase and other costs incurred in bringing
the inventories to their present location and
condition. Cost is calculated using the first-
in first-out method. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated
costs necessary to make the sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(1)

Revenue recognition

Revenue from licence fee collection business
is recognised when services are performed.

Compensation for infringement of music
licence is recognised when the right to
receive the compensation is established and
it is probable that the Group will receive the
compensation.

Revenue from exhibition and related service is
recognised when the exhibition is completed
and related services are rendered.

Rental income from operating leases/facility
sharing income is recognised on a straight-
line basis over the term of the relevant lease/
agreement.

Revenue from entertainment services
including artist management is recognised
when services are rendered.

Revenue from musical works is recognised
when the Group's entitlement to such
payments has been established which is upon
the delivery of the master copy or materials to
the customers.

Revenue from restaurants is recognised when
food and beverages are sold and services are
provided.
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REMB®RRMTE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—ZT—+H=A=+—H
31 March 2017

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(1)

(m)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from sale of goods is recognised on
transfer of risks and rewards of ownership,
which is at the time of delivery and the title is
passed to customer.

Interest income is accrued on a time basis
on the principal outstanding at the applicable
interest rate.

Income taxes

Income taxes for the year comprise current
tax and deferred tax.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from
ordinary activities adjusted for items that are
non-assessable or disallowable for income tax
purposes and is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted at
the end of reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of
temporary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the corresponding
amounts used for tax purposes. Except for
goodwill and recognised assets and liabilities
that affect neither accounting nor taxable
profits, deferred tax liabilities are recognised
for all temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be
available against which deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Deferred tax is
measured at the tax rates appropriate to the
expected manner in which the carrying amount
of the asset or liability is realised or settled
and that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of reporting period.

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED X{biif#%& & H R 2 7
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(m)

Income taxes (Continued)

An exception to the general requirement on
determining the appropriate tax rate used in
measuring deferred tax amount is when an
investment property is carried at fair value
under HKAS 40 “Investment Property”. Unless
the presumption is rebutted, the deferred
tax amounts on these investment properties
are measured using the tax rates that would
apply on sale of these investment properties
at their carrying amounts at the reporting
date. The presumption is rebutted when the
investment property is depreciable and is held
within a business model whose objective is
to consume substantially all the economic
benefits embodied in the property over time,
rather than through sale.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for
taxable temporary differences arising on
investments in subsidiaries and associates,
except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss
except when they relate to items recognised
in other comprehensive income in which
case the taxes are also recognised in other
comprehensive income.

—T—+F=A=+—H
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REMB®RRMTE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—ZT—+H=A=+—H
31 March 2017

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(n)

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED X 1t

Foreign currency

Transactions entered into by group entities
in currencies other than the currency of the
primary economic environment in which
they operate (the “functional currency”)
are recorded at the rates ruling when the
transactions occur. Foreign currency monetary
assets and liabilities are translated at the
rates ruling at the end of reporting period.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that
are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date
when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the
settlement of monetary items, and on the
translation of monetary items, are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they
arise. Exchange differences arising on the
retranslation of non-monetary items carried at
fair value are included in profit or loss for the
period except for differences arising on the
retranslation of non-monetary items in respect
of which gains and losses are recognised in
other comprehensive income, in which cases,
the exchange differences are also recognised
in other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(n)

Foreign currency (Continued)

On consolidation, income and expense
items of foreign operations are translated
into the presentation currency of the Group
at the average exchange rates for the vyear,
unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during the period, in which case, the rates
approximating, to those ruling when the
transactions took place are used. All assets
and liabilities of foreign operations are
translated at the rate ruling at the end of
reporting period. Exchange differences arising,
if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity as foreign
exchange reserve (attributed to non-controlling
interests as appropriate). Exchange differences
recognised in the profit or loss of group
entities’ separate financial statements on
the translation of long-term monetary items
forming part of the Group's net investment
in the foreign operation concerned are
reclassified to other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity as foreign exchange

reserve.

the
cumulative exchange differences recognised

On disposal of a foreign operation,

in the foreign exchange reserve relating to
that operation up to the date of disposal are
reclassified to the profit or loss as part of the
profit or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on
identifiable assets acquired arising on an
acquisition of a foreign operation on or
after 1 January 2005 are treated as assets
and liabilities of that foreign operation and
translated at the rate of exchange prevailing
at the end of reporting period. Exchange
differences arising are recognised in the
foreign exchange reserve.
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REMB®RRMTE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—ZT—+H=A=+—H
31 March 2017

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(o)

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED X 1t

Employee benefits

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave
are recognised when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for the
estimated liability for annual leave as a
result of services rendered by employees
up to the end of reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and
maternity leave are not recognised until
the time of leave.

Profit-sharing and bonus plans

The expected costs of profit-sharing and
bonus payments are recognised as a
liability when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result
of services rendered by employees and a
reliable estimate of the obligation can be
made.

Liabilities for profit-sharing and bonus
plans are expected to be settled within
12 months and are measured at the
amounts expected to be paid when they
are settled.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised
on the earlier of when the Group can
no longer withdraw the offer of those
benefits and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs involving the payment
of termination benefits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ‘
—E—+F=A=+—H
31 March 2017

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. FEGSTTBEE)
(Continued)
(o) Employee benefits (Continued) (o) EEENE)

(iv) BEBEEF

(iv) Post-employment benefits

Retirement benefits to employees
are provided through several defined
contribution plans.

The Group adopts a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement
benefits scheme (the "MPF Scheme”)
under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance of Hong Kong
for all employees of its subsidiaries
operating in Hong Kong. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries but subject to
a cap in accordance with the statutory
requirement and are recognised in
profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF
Scheme.

The Group has recorded provisions for
long service payments for employees
who had completed the required number
of years of service under Hong Kong's
Employment Ordinance for whom
the Group is obligated to pay long
service payment on termination of their
employment.

The employees of the Group's
subsidiaries that operate in the PRC are
required to participate in a government-
managed retirement benefit schemes.
These subsidiaries are required to
contribute a fixed cost per employee
to the government-managed retirement
benefit schemes. The contributions are
charged to profit or loss as they become
payable.
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REMB®RRMTE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—ZT—+H=A=+—H
31 March 2017

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(p)

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED X 1t

Share-based payments

Where share options are awarded to
employees, the fair value of the options at the
date of grant is recognised in profit or loss
over the vesting period with a corresponding
increase in the employee share-based
compensation reserve within equity. Non-
market vesting conditions are taken into
account by adjusting the number of equity
instruments expected to vest at the end of
each reporting period so that, ultimately,
the cumulative amount recognised over
the vesting period is based on the number
of options that eventually vest. Market
vesting conditions are factored into the fair
value of the options granted. As long as
all other vesting conditions are satisfied, a
charge is made irrespective of whether the
market vesting conditions are satisfied. The
cumulative expense is not adjusted for failure
to achieve a market vesting condition.

Where the terms and conditions of options
are modified before they vest, the increase
in the fair value of the options, measured
immediately before and after the modification,
is also recognised in profit or loss over the
remaining vesting period.

Where equity instruments are granted to
persons other than employees, the profit or
loss is charged with the fair value of goods
or services received unless the goods or
services qualify for recognition as assets. A
corresponding increase in equity is recognised.
For cash settled share based payments, a
liability is recognised at the fair value of the
goods or services received.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(a)

Impairment of other assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of the following
assets to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss or an impairment loss
previously recognised no longer exists or may
have decreased:

° property, plant and equipment;

° intangible assets; and

° interests in subsidiaries and associates
(except for those classified as held for
sale (or included in a disposal group that
is classified as held for sale) (see note
4();

If the recoverable amount (i.e. the greater of
the fair value less costs of disposal and value
in use) of an asset is estimated to be less
than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised as
an expense immediately, unless the relevant
asset is carried at a revalued amount under
another HKFRS, in which case the impairment
loss is treated as a revaluation decrease under
that HKFRS.
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REMB®RRMTE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—ZT—+H=A=+—H
31 March 2017

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(a)

(r)

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED X 1t

Impairment of other assets (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently
reverses, the carrying amount of the asset
is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, to the extent that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
as income immediately, unless the relevant
asset is carried at a revalued amount under
another HKFRS, in which case the reversal of
the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation
increase under that HKFRS.

Value in use is based on the estimated
future cash flow expected to be derived from
the asset or cash-generating unit (see note
4(d)), discounted to their present value using
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset or
cash-generating unit.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of
uncertain timing or amount when the Group
has a legal or constructive obligation arising as
a result of a past event, which it is probably
will result in an outflow of economic benefits
that can be reasonably estimated.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required, or the
amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability,
unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote. Possible obligations, the
existence of which will only be confirmed
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one
or more future events, are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(s) Related parties

(a)

(b)

A person or a close member of that

person’s family is related to the Group if

that person:

(ii)

(iii)

has control or joint control of the
Group;

has significant influence over the
Group; or

is a member of key management
personnel of the Group or the
Company’s parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of

the following conditions apply:

(ii)

(i)

(iv)

The entity and the Group are
members of the same group (which
means that each parent, subsidiary
and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others);

One entity is an associate or joint
venture of the other entity (or
an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the
other entity is a member);

Both entities are joint ventures of
the same third party;

One entity is a joint venture of a
third entity and the other entity is
an associate of the third entity;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—ET—+tH¥=A=1+—H
31 March 2017

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(s)

Related parties (Continued)

(b)

An entity is related to the Group if

any of the following conditions apply:
(Continued)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

The entity is a post-employment
benefit plan for the benefit of the
employees of the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

The entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in
(a);

A person identified in (a)(i) has
significant influence over the entity
or is a member of key management
personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity); or

The entity, or any member of a
group of which it is a part, provides
key management personnel services
to the reporting entity or to the
parent of the reporting entity.

Close members of the family of a person are

those family members who may be expected

to influence, or be influenced by, that person

in their dealings with the entity and include:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

that person’s children and spouse or

domestic partner;

children of that person’s spouse or

domestic partner; and

dependents of that person or that

person’s spouse or domestic partner.

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED X 1t
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(t)

(u)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs attributable directly to the
acquisition, construction or production of
qualifying assets which require a substantial
period of time to be ready for their intended
use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost
of those assets. Income earned on temporary
investments of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on those assets is deducted
from borrowing costs capitalised. All other
borrowing costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised when
there is reasonable assurance that they will be
received and that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them. Grants that
compensate the Group for expenses incurred
are recognised as revenue in profit or loss
on a systematic basis in the same periods
in which the expenses are incurred. Grants
that compensate the Group for the cost of an
asset are recognised as deferred income in
consolidated statement of financial position
and consequently are effectively recognised in
profit or loss over the useful life of the asset.

—T—+F=A=+—H
31 March 2017

4, FEEITTHE#®)

(t)

(u)

BEEE

Wi ZRIEEFEREE(R
ZHE REHEGR AR BE
HHEE)ERS R ZEERAT)
BNERAEEEKAR 2 8D -
AEFRFXSEERS ZHEE
EZERBREMRIMZHEA - AR
BERMCZEERATR - TE
HiEERATIREEL Z AR
RIBEHFHER -

BT BY

478 & HE AR 78 AN 5 8] ] BUS U A8
B 30 5 38 <7 EL MY A A RIUBOR
e TIAER - HEAKECDE
X2 BREERXZF
—HIMA Z R B R R
& MEAKE-REERANZME
8 - AR E MBI R R SR
YA - ERREEAEAFHR

B BRER -

ANNUAL REPORT 2017

121



122

REMB®RRMTE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—ZT—+H=A=+—H
31 March 2017

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(v)

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED X 1t

Financial Guarantee

A financial guarantee contract is a contract
that requires the issuer to make specified
payments to reimburse the holder for a loss
it incurs because a specified debtor fails
to make payment when due in accordance
with the original or modified terms of a debt
instrument. A financial guarantee contract
issued by the Group and not designated as
at FVTPL is recognised initially at its fair
value less transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the issue of the financial
guarantee contract. Subsequent to initial
recognition, the Group measures the financial
guarantee contact at the higher of: (i) the
amount determined in accordance with HKAS
37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets; and (ii) the amount initially
recognised less, when appropriate, cumulative
amortisation recognised in accordance with
HKAS 18 Revenue.

The contracted fee of the financial guarantee
recognised as other income in profit or loss
over the term of the guarantee as income
from financial guarantee issued. In addition,
provisions are recognised if and when it
becomes probable that the holder of the
guarantee will call upon the Group under the
guarantee and the amount of that claim on
the Group is expected to exceed the current
carrying amount i.e. the amount initially
recognised less accumulated amortisation,
where appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

Estimates are evaluated and are based on historical

experience and other factors, including expectations

of future events that are believed to be reasonable

under the circumstances. The key assumptions

that have a significant risk of causing a material

adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets

and liabilities within the next financial year are

discussed below:

(a)

(b)

Fair value of investment properties and
leasehold land and buildings

The fair value of the investment properties and
leasehold land and buildings are determined
by independent valuers on an open market
value for existing use basis. In making their
judgment, consideration has been given to
assumptions that are mainly based on market
conditions existing at the end of reporting
period, by reference to recent market
transactions and appropriate capitalisation
rates based on an estimation of the rental
income. These estimates are regularly
compared to actual market data and actual
transactions entered into by the Group.

Useful
equipment

lives of property, plant and

Management determines the estimated useful
lives of the property, plant and equipment and
will revise depreciation charges when useful
lives differ from previous estimates.

5"

e MW R

—E2—+tF=A=+—H
31 March 2017
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REMB®RRMTE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—ZT—+H=A=+—H
31 March 2017

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

(c)

(d)

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED X 1t

Impairment test of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is
impaired at least on an annual basis. This
requires an estimation of the value in use
of the cash-generating units to which the
goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value in
use requires the Group to make an estimate of
the expected future cash flows from the cash-
generating units and also to choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows.

Impairment loss on intangible assets

Determining whether an intangible asset is
impaired requires an estimation of the future
cash flow and a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value. Where
the actual future cash flows are less than
expected, a material impairment loss may
arise.

Impairment of interests in associates

The Group’'s management assesses
impairment of interests in associates at each
reporting date by evaluating conditions specific
to the Group that may lead to impairment of
assets. Where an impairment trigger exists,
the recoverable amounts of the assets are
determined.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

(e)

(f)

Impairment of interests in associates
(Continued)

Value in use calculations performed in
assessing recoverable amounts incorporate
a number of key estimates and assumptions
about future events, which are subject to
uncertainty and might materially differ from
the actual results. In making these key
estimates and judgments, the management
takes into consideration assumptions that are
mainly based on market condition existing at
the reporting date, appropriate market and
discount rates and what information it can
obtain from the associates. These estimates
are regularly compared to actual market data
and actual transactions entered into by the

Group.

Impairment loss on loans and receivables

The policy for impairment of loans and
receivables of the Group is based on the
evaluation of collectability and ageing
analysis of the loans and receivables and
on management’'s judgment. A considerable
amount of judgment is required in assessing
the ultimate realisation of these loans
and receivables, including the current
If the

financial conditions of customers of the Group

creditworthiness of each customer.

were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment
of their ability to make payments, additional
impairment may be required.

5"

—E—+F=A=+—H ‘

31 March 2017
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—ET—+tH¥=A=1+—H
31 March 2017

SEGMENT REPORTING

Management determines operating segments
based on the reports regularly reviewed by the
chief operating decision maker, which is the
Board of Directors (the “Board”), in assessing
performance and allocating resources. The chief
operating decision maker considers the business
primarily on the basis of the types of services
supplied by the Group. During the year ended
31 March 2017, the Group has re-organised its
internal reporting structure so as to enhance the
operational efficiency. The segments of property
sub-leasing and property development and
investment have been grouped into property sub-
leasing, development and investment business.
The money lending business has been included as
a new operating segment as the Group continued
to develop the money lending business in Hong
Kong. Accordingly, the comparative segment
information has been re-presented to conform to
current year's segment. The Group is currently re-
organised into seven operating divisions — licence
fee collection and provision of intellectual property
enforcement services business, exhibition-related
business, property sub-leasing, development and
investment business, entertainment business, food
and beverages, money lending business and sludge
and sewage treatment.

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED X1t &R EBR 2 7
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

Principal activities are as follows:

Licence fee
collection and
provision of
intellectual
property
enforcement
services business

Exhibition-related
business

Property sub-
leasing,
development and
investment
business

Entertainment
business

Food and beverages

Money lending
business

Sludge and sewage
treatment

—  operation of the business of the
licences of copyright to karaoke
music products and provision of
intellectual property enforcement
services in the People’s Republic
of China ("PRC") as managed
by China Music Video Collective
Management Association* (
BEGEERERERNE) (the
"MVCM Association”)

— organising all kinds of exhibition
events and meeting events

—  sub-leasing, development of real
estates and leasing of investment
properties

—  provision of talent management
and entertainment and travelling
related services

—  sale of food and beverages and
restaurant operations

—  provision of loans to customers,
including individual and
corporations under the provisions
of Money Lenders Ordinance
(Chapter 163 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) in Hong Kong

—  operation of sludge and sewage
treatment plants in the PRC

—T—+F=A=+—H
31 March 2017
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—ET—+F=A=+—8H
31 March 2017

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 6. DEEHmEE)
Segment information is presented below: SEERZY0T
(a) Information about reportable segment (a) BBEAUHREIEWE  BHHE
revenue, profit or loss, assets and liabilities E-EEREBZERREMESR
and other information
2017
e
Discontinued
Continuing operations operation
HREEER BRLER
License fee
collection and
provision of Property
intellectual subleasing,
property development
enforcement  Exhibition- and Money Inter- Sludge and
services related  investment Entertainment Food and lending segment sewage
business business business business ~ beverages business  elimination Subtotal treatment Total
HEER
HERRE
nEER HEE
£k BE 3ER BER
BRER HEER REEH o 44 i HEEE  AEENR it FhEE 48
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS$ HKS HKS HKS
A AL A A A A Y23 A A A
Reportable segment revenue TREARNE
Externdl sdles bk 203041 42726300 3236942 312215 5575 3540945 - 81280068 - 81280068
Inter-segment sales AEHRE - - - -0 - (20m42) - - -
213047 42726307 32,369,742 312,215 2,057,174 3,542,945 (2,001,422) 81,280,008 - 81,280,068
Reportable segment (oss)/profit before ~ BAERERATREANE
income tax expense (58)/&8 (2541597)  (4,075,577) (402,039) (510,967) (361,420 2,972,648 - (4918,952)  (4,927,585)  (9,846,537)
Other segment information EfaEEH
Interest income HEBA 469,341 1131 56,744 294 1 657 - 644,414 6,293 650,707
Interest expenses feRs - - 220424 - - - - 2264234 - 2204234
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1% + BRRZE,17E 743,838 40725 10033715 179,005 379933 - - NI - N
Loss on disposal of property, plant and LENE - BERRE?
equipment B - 68541 1,146,112 - - - - 1,214,653 - 1,214,653

1|

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED X1titiZ& & HFR A



REMB®RMTE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—T—+tF=A=+—8H
31 March 2017

SEGMENT REPORTING (cContinued) 6. DEEHmEE)

(a) Information about reportable segment (a) BEATHESEWRE  BERHE
revenue, profit or loss, assets and liabilities B -EEREEZERNREMER
and other information (Continued) (&

2017
o3-tf
Discontinued
Continuing operations operation
it e REYES
License fee
collection and
provision of Property
intellectual sub-leasing,
property development
enforcement ~ Exhibition- and Money Inter- Sludge and
services related  investment Entertainment Food and lending segment sewage
business business business business ~ beverages business  elimination Sub-total treatment Total
HHEER
HEREE
nEER x>
£k BE 3ER BER
BRER HEER REER S £ HEXE  AEEEE it BREE %
HKS HKs HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS
V%1 # # # # )73 )73 )71 -/ )71
Imgairment loss on trade and other receivables  BAEH R4 AL HEER - - 418 - - - - 46 509000 4552164
Share of losses of associates AEBELAEE - - - - - - - - AEBME 461345
Loss on disposal of subsidiares HENBLTLEE - - - 1400 - - - 1400 - 1400
Reportable segment assets TREARAE 1000022 24957087 9226814 301752 43740314 95479847 - 297491606 40855423 338,347,009
Expenditure for reportable
segment non-Current assets - 11,860 3,383,843 - - - - 3,395,703 - 3,395,703
Reportable segment iabiities B EL 74,532,858 8729964 112,476,299 5,853,450 115742 51,000 - 202800998 16013447 218814445
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—F—tF=A=t+—R
31 March 2017

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 6. DEEHmEE)

(a) Information about reportable segment (a) BEATHESEWR BRI HE
revenue, profit or loss, assets and liabilities B EEREBEZERREMER
and other information (Continued) (&

2016
Ik
Discontinued
Continuing operations operation
REELER BRILER
License fee
collection and
provision of Property
intellectual suo-leasing,
property development
enforcement Exhibition- and Money Inter- Sludge and
senvices related  investment  Entertainment Food and [ending segment sewage
business business business business beverages business ~ elimination Sub-totel treatment Total
HiTEER
HEREE
MaEE LEvER
i B 5BR TR
Rhzh ik BB s & HERE  AREME g SRR 28
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS
AT V43 A V23 A A AT A A A
[re- presented] (re- presented) [re- presented) [re- presented]
(55)) (f2271) (8551) (551
(note 6 (note 6) notes 166/ (note 6]
(ko) (h#6) (h#1k6) (ko)
Reportable segment revenue TREARNE
Extemal sales bk 12810708 4602737 443143 297885 259 849,84 — 11286913 — 11286913
Inter-segment sales AEHHE - - - - 55,909 - [525,929) - - -
12,810,708 54,602,737 442431483 297,685 548626 849,844 (525929 112,826,913 - 11286913
Reportable segment (loss)/profit before ~~ BERERATRENE
income tax expense (F8) /& (36519775 (300450 356653 (711758 (3,142,080 (21360) — 03891 (27283120 67612034
Other segment information AhogE
Interest income HEsA 51,466 107,018 5,742 670 1 19 - 214916 5512 20428
Interest expenses Hems - - 3,095,394 - - - - 3,055,994 - 3,085,994
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1% - KR REE21TE 1703623 4870 9513368 178667 175,087 - — 005565 101954 13175119
Amortisation of ntangible assets EREE B - - - - - - - - 327,009 377,009
(Lossl/gein on disposal of property, plant and
equipment 83,671) - 662,913 - - - - 573,242 1,269,887) 696,646
CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED X1t iZ& & F R 2 7
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E—+F=A=+—H

31 March 2017

N

SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 6. DEEHmEE)

(a) Information about reportable segment (a) BEATHESEWRE  BERHE
revenue, profit or loss, assets and liabilities B -EEREEZERNREMER
and other information (Continued) (&

2016
Ik
Discontinued
Continuing operations operation
REELER BRIER
License fee
collection and
provision of Property
intellectual suo-leasing,
property development
enforcement Exhibition- and Money Inter- Sludge and
senvices related  investment  Entertainment Food and [ending segment sewage
business business business business beverages business ~ elimination Sub-totel treatment Total
HiTEER
&R
MaEE LEvER
i B% 5BR TR
Rhzh ik BB s & HERE  AREME g SRR 28
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS
AT V43 A V23 A A AT A A A
[re- presented) (re- presented) [re- presented) [re- presented]
(55)) (f2271) (8551) (551
(note 6 (note 6) notes 166/ (note 6]
(ko) (h#6) (h#1k6) (ko)
Impaiment loss on trade and other receivales  EAEHRERTAZRESE 3173994 - 26M018 - - - - L0991 81061 4131022
mpairment loss on property, plant % BERABEERR
and equipment - - - - - - - - 993,162 993,162
Whiten down of inventories to HRFEETSRAE
et realisable value - - - - - - - - 193,260 193,260
Impairment loss on goodhwl BEINERE - - - - - - - - N0B46 2003466
Impairment loss on intangible assets EEEREEE - - - - - - - - 285,881 285,881
Share of losses of assocites ABERTEE - - - - - - - - 167,356 167,356
(Lossllzin on disposel of subsidaries LENRRAL (BE)/a - - (217 B35 (26959 - Lk Lk
Reportable segment assets TREAREE 094167 29630011 124337887 12519736 34%382 2894715 — MR8 45740393 317632290
Expenditure for reportable TREARERDEE RS
segment non-current assets - 6,706 2,788,108 - - - - 2794814 401,949 6,806,763
Reportable segment libiltes BEEp 81997713 906635 143064881 57203% 605,927 51,000 — 20640 15600410 256,276,962
ANNUAL REPORT 2017 —Z— Lt 54§ 131
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—ET—+tH¥=A=1+—H
31 March 2017

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

6. DEHBE®)

(b) Reconciliation of reportable segment profit (b) AHRESERFNER EERE
or loss, assets and liabilities Bz H R
Loss before income tax expense BRET S BB T AT E 15
2017 2016
—E—tF ZE—RF
HK$ HK$
B BT
(re-presented)
(ke E75)
(notes 1 & 6)
(BisF1X6)
Reportable segment loss before income & A5 5 S B AT &5 2 48
tax expense 518 (4,918,952)  (40,328,914)
Unallocated gain on disposal of RAOMEEAIHEEREY
available-for-sale investments W as - 14,266,465
Unallocated (loss)/gain on disposal of AOBRHEHRBARZ
subsidiaries (B18),/ s (4,632) 83,164
Unallocated loss on disposal of property, ADBEHEEDE - BERREZ
plant and equipment g (454,097) —
Unallocated interest income and other KA EFEUA K& E AU A
income 461,377 2,279,402
Unallocated amortisation of intangible KO BEFEE 2 BiH
assets (116,883) (116,883)
Unallocated impairment loss on trade AOBEERRERREMFIEL
and other receivables BEEE (18,624) (43,285)
Unallocated finance costs AOBREKAR (931,861) (315,652)
Unallocated staff costs ROBLE TRA (25,292,133) (31,343,890
Unallocated rent, rates and management RHTMAE - ZNREEE
fee (21,937,033) (21,026,904)
Unallocated depreciation of property, RANEEME BERZEZ
plant and equipment e (2,059,793) (2,794,393)
Unallocated head office and corporate APEBHRERRDRFAY
expenses (note) (Hiiz) (33,073,352)  (26,422,709)
Loss before income tax expense from R ERFELEEH 2 BATE
continuing operations RSz AR 18 (88,345,983) (105,763,599)

Note:

Unallocated head office and corporate expenses
mainly include professional and consultancy fees,
administrative expenses and business development

expenses.

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—T—+F=A=+—H

31 March 2017

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 6. D¥EBmEE
(b) Reconciliation of reportable segment profit (b) AHRESERFNERE R EERE
or loss, assets and liabilities (Continued) BEZYHER(E)
Assets BE
2017 2016
—E—+tF —ET—RF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
(re-presented)
27
(note 6)
(Hi76)
Reportable segment assets AREDHEE 338,347,029 317,632,291
Property, plant and equipment ME - BE L& E 3,242,771 5,279,167
Available-for-sale investments AEHERE 50,367,334 43,087,358
Trade and other receivables M & R B A IR 9,518,152 10,442,256
Cash and cash equivalents RekfeFEEE 5,610,107 29,920,545
Unallocated head office and corporate ~ ADEERSREN A AEE
assets 1,007,212 1,105,445
Total assets BELE 408,092,605 407,467,062
Liabilities =¥
2017 2016
—E—+F ZE-RF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
(re-presented)
27
(note 6)
(H1zt6)
Reportable segment liabilities ARENEARE 218,814,445 256,276,962
Bank borrowings RITEE 30,000,000 30,000,000
Deposit received from disposal of HEMBRARIEWRIES
subsidiaries 16,000,000 —
Unallocated head office and corporate  ROBEHABERLAAIEE
liabilities 8,894,339 4,717,984
Total liabilities BE8E 273,708,784 290,994,946
ANNUAL REPORT 2017 =% — + 4 & 3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—ET—+tH¥=A=1+—H
31 March 2017

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 6.
(c) Geographical information

The Group's operations are mainly located in
Hong Kong, the PRC and Korea.

An analysis of the Group’s geographical
segments is set out as follows:

DEBRE#)

(c) HEEHR
AEEMT LB TBRNES  FE
REEE -

AEEMER B ZAFTEHINMT

2017
t- Ll of 3
Hong Kong The PRC Korea Total
0 HE 7E b
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT B BT
Revenue Wi 3,661,954 77,309,096 309,018 81,280,068
Non-current assets other than 3EREIEE (2R IA
financial instruments and RIEERBEER
deferred tax assets M) 15,332,084 58,629,996 8,296,754 82,258,834
2016
—TREF
Hong Kong The PRC Korea Total
EE HE L1 mE
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
(re-presented) (re-presented)
(g E5) (E5)
(note 6) (note 6)
(Hizzte) (Hizt6)
Revenue Wegs 1,000,546 111,656,588 169,779 112,826,913
Non-current assets other ERBEE(SH
than financial instruments TAREENIE
and deferred tax assets BERSIN) 14,896,200 122,629,353 8,902,045 146,427,598
CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED X{ti#iZ#& & FE A 7



REVENUE

Analysis of the Group's revenue for the year is as

follows:

e %R KM
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—T—+F=A=+—H

7. W&

31 March 2017

AEBZARFERGZDMAT :

2017 2016
—E—+F —T—AF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
(re-presented)
(&e=71)
(notes 1 & 6)
(Wz1X%k6)
Continuing operations: BREQEEL
Revenue from licence fee collection AR AR E RIRHAHE
and provision of intellectual property RIS XS 2 W
enforcement services business 2,213,047 12,810,708
Revenue from exhibition-related business ~ EEiAEERS 2 W 42,726,307 54,602,737
Gross rental income from property sub- MESHEBRFHESBA
leasing business k] 32,369,742 44,243,143
Revenue from talent management and KIBAEERIRBEEEL
entertainment and travelling related N B i 4B B AR TS 7%
services business ZWEs 372,275 297,885
Sale of food and beverages BHHE 55,752 22,596
Money lending business RIE X 3,542,945 849,844
81,280,068 112,826,913
ANNUAL REPORT 2017 — & —+ & & 1§
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—ET—+tH¥=A=1+—H
31 March 2017

8. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS Ha g A R s
2017 2016
—E-t& —T-RF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
(re-presented)
(mE5)
(notes 1 & 6)
(BisE1%6)
Continuing operations: FERSEEK
Bank interest income RITHEIA 665,941 508,573
Income from financial guarantee issued REBETUHEREA
(note (i)) (Wi () 320,768 153,814
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEWME - WERSEKE
equipment - 662,913
Government grants IEgiSEEEY
— relating to unconditional subsidies — BEEGERS - 1,643,288
— for leasehold improvements (note {ii)) — HEMERAEHF (1) 3,430,866 492,205
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale HEHDERE 2 s
investments - 14,266,465
Fair value gain on investment properties HEWME 2 N FEEz K
(note 18) (Hrit18) 292,324 —
Others Hith 3,644,967 2,442,696
8,354,866 20,069,954
Discontinued operation: BARIEER
Bank interest income RITHFEUA 6,293 5,512
Others Hit 2,729,710 —
2,736,003 5,512
11,090,869 20,075,466
Notes: Bist -

(i)

(ii)

The amount represents income from financial
guarantee issued for an independent third party in
which to indemnify the bank any loss in case of
any default in repayment in respect of a loan facility
for the principal amount of up to RMB35,000,000
(equivalent to HK$39,424,000) (2016:
RMB35,000,000 (equivalent to HK$42,004,200))
drawn by that party.

The amount represents government subsidy
received in advance in relation to leasehold
improvement on a property sub-leasing project. The
amount will be recognised in profit or loss over the
lease term of the property being leased.

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED X 1{t#iRx &R R A A
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ZRBERBYLE =T IREHEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—T—+F=A=+—H
31 March 2017

LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX EXPENSE 9. BRFIBEHBEXZAIER

Loss before income tax expense is arrived at after

BATEHAXAEED MRIATRIE

charging:
2017 2016
—E—tF —E-RF
HK$ HK$
B BT
(re-presented)
(/e &E75)
(notes 1 & 6)
(Hiat1%6)
Continuing operations BEREER
Amortisation on: B
__Tintangble assets  TRPEE 16883 116,883
Fair value loss on investment properties REWMEZ NFEEEE
fnote 18) (Wazie) T 19897
Losses on disposal of subsidiaries, net HEHBAR 2 BBFHE
fnotes6) (Wess) 6032 2574197
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HENE - BENLZHE
_equpment o ZBR 1668750 696,645
Impairment losses on: EEE
T trade and other receivables T EMEHRAMHE 4061787 40453246
Written down of inventories to net realisable i F & & Al 215 BE
value fote24) (Wit24) T 193,260
Auditor's remuneration  EEEME 1,788,000 1,788,000
Discontinued operation BRIEER
Amortisation on: e
Tintengibleassets  TRERE - 327,009
Impairment losses on: EEE
— trade and other receivables — RS TR E A FRIE 509,001 821,061
— goodwill — e - 20,023,466
— intangible assets — R AE - 285,882
— property, plant and equipment e/ ENN G - 993,162

509,001 22,123,571

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 -+ FER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—ET—+tH¥=A=1+—H
31 March 2017

10. DISCONTINUED OPERATION

During the year ended 31 March 2017, the sludge
and sewage treatment business of the Group is
classified as held for sale in order to enable the
Group to realise its investment in the business and

to focus on the continuing businesses and business

10.

E%%Jt%i%

RBEE_FT—tF=-A=1t—HL*F
E $%.ZE/}E VRN BEE g
RIFELE - BN AS EEHE R 5
B2RE  UWREIRERBEEBME
BEE -

development.

The results of the sludge and sewage treatment

VeI

EKEEEBREBE_T—LF

business for the year ended 31 March 2017 and for —A=+—BIFE;KA-_ZT—AHFN
the period from 5 August 2015 (date of acquisition) ﬂ AHMWERR) ZE -2 —XRF=A
to 31 March 2016 are as follows: —BEMECEENT

Period from
5 August
2015 (date of
Year ended acquisition)
31 March to 31 March
2017 2016
T—hF
NARH

B (WmeE)=
—E—+& —E-RF
ZB=t—-H ZA=1—H
HEE HAfE
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Other income and gains (note 8) Erb A R (A5 8) 2,736,003 5,612
Cost of inventories FEKA - (193,260)
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 1% - BERREZITE - (1,019,554)
Amortisation (note 9) BH(WEI) - (327,009)
Impairment losses (note 9) REEREZ9) (509,001)  (22,123,571)
Operating lease payments ERFIE (588,973) (464,581)
Other operating expenses ,J‘M«%Eﬁﬁ (662,758) (1,975,273)
Staff costs (note 11) BIRA(Hit11) (1,289,411) (1,018,028)
Share of losses of associates HEEE R REE (4,613,445) (167,356)
Loss before income tax expense BRETSHAL ISR (4,927,585)  (27,283,120)
Income tax expense FriS B (12,566) —
Loss for the year/period KEE/ BREEE (4,940,151)  (27,283,120)
Operating cash outflows mEREmM (66,710) (4,532,415)
Investing cash inflows RERSHA 1,937,284 10,036
Total cash inflows/(outflows) RBemA/ (Rt 88 1,870,574 (4,522,379)
For the purpose of presenting discontinued MEBVERIFEBMES  EHE 286

operation, the comparative consolidated statement
of comprehensive income and the related notes
have been re-presented as if the operation
discontinued during the year had been discontinued
at the beginning of the comparative year.

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED X {ti#iiEH & B R A 7
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—ET—+#=A=+-8

31 March 2017

11. STAFF COSTS 1. BIRAK

Continuing operations Discontinued operation Total

FESEEY BAILER st
2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
IE-tf ZE N ZB-tE R F ZB-tF R
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HKS
AT AT V-7 AT Az AT

Staff costs (including Directors) comprise: & TRA(BEEE)
Salaries &% 32,770,232 41,485,681 1,076,677 823,308 33,846,909 42,308,989
Contribution to defined contribution REMTRAE BT 2067568 2715404 212,734 177360 2,480,302 2,892,764
pension plans

Other short-term monetary benefits Egdcsin 3,114,446 1,846,259 - 17360 3,114,446 1863619
38,152,246 46,047,344 1,289411 1,018,028 39,441,657 47,065,372

12.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR

MANAGEMENT’'S EMOLUMENTS

12. EEREREEEME

Directors’ emoluments EEMS
The aggregate amounts of the Directors’ EEMEL|HOT
emoluments are as follows:
Salaries Retirement
and other scheme Benefits in
Fees benefits  contributions kind Total
‘ B4R B
e HitER HE 23 ENFlE ag
2017 HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
ZE-tF BT BT BT BT BT
Executive Directors HTES
Chen Weiwu (i BREE, () - 226,452 6,000 - 232,452
Chen Gengpxian (i BRELE (i) - 226,452 6,000 - 232,452
Chen Songbin (i) BRAL i) - 75,484 3,774 - 79,258
Zhou Houjie (i) JEIE (i) - 75,484 3,774 - 79,258
Cheng Yang (i) 1245 (i) - 3,434,400 18,000 - 3,452,400
Tsoi Tung (i 21 (i) - 1,246,451 7,500 - 1,253,951
Lei Lei (i) EE i) - 1,950,000 18,000 - 1,968,000
Huang Ranfei iii BN (i) - 667,741 7,500 - 675,241
Li Weipeng (iv) EHE (iv) 28,000 - - - 28,000
Independent BUFBTES
Non-Executive Directors
Chen Youchun i BRE () 56,613 - - - 56,613
Chen Chein Kwong William (i) B {&% (i 56,613 - - - 56,613
Tong Jingguo (i) S=Cillll 120,000 - - - 120,000
Yang Rusheng (i) I (i) 120,000 - - - 120,000
So Tat Keung (v) i (v) 40,000 - - - 40,000
421,226 7,902,464 70,548 - 8,394,238
ANNUAL REPORT 2017 T L EER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—ET—+tH¥=A=1+—H
31 March 2017

12. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT'S EMOLUMENTS

12. EEREREEEME &)

(Continued)
Directors’ emoluments (Continued) BEEMe(E)
Salaries Retirement
and other scheme Benefits in
Fees benefits contributions kind Total
HER AR

e At EF BEL3 ENFlG ek
2016 HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
—E-RE BT BT BT AT BT
Executive Directors ~ H{TEZ
Cheng Yang &5 — 3,720,600 18,000 — 3,738,600
Tsoi Tung =37 — 3,620,400 18,000 — 3,638,400
Lei Lei = — 1,950,000 18,000 186,000 2,154,000
Huang Ranfei BRI — 1,939,500 18,000 — 1,957,500
Li Weipeng TEiE 1,440,000 - — — 1,440,000
Independent BUFBITES

Non-Executive
Directors
Tong Jingguo REHE 120,000 — — — 120,000
Yang Rusheng Bing 120,000 — - - 120,000
So Tat Keung BER 120,000 - - - 120,000
1,800,000 11,230,500 72,000 186,000 13,288,500

No Directors waived their emoluments in respect of MEEEmEEE2_Z—+tF=A

the year ended 31 March 2017 (2016: nil).

Discretionary bonuses were granted based on
the performance of individual Directors and
were approved by the Company's Remuneration

Committee.

Notes:

(i) The Directors were appointed on 8 December 2016.

(ii) The Directors were resigned with effect from 24

January 2017.

(iii)  The Directors were resigned with effect from 15

August 2016.

(iv)  The Director was resigned with effect from 8 April

2016.

(v) The Director was resigned with effect from 1

August 2016.

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’'S EMOLUMENTS
(Continued)

Five highest paid individuals

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments
in the Group, three (2016: four) were Directors of
the Company whose emoluments are included in
the above.

The emoluments of the remaining two (2016: one)
highest paid individual in 2017 are as follows:

12.

e MW R

—T—+t&=A=+—H
31 March 2017

EELEHREEEME 2

TERSHMAL
AEBRAARRFMALF  =ZR(=
E-RE HB)RARRES  HIH
TEENEX -

TE—ttFHEHBMB(ZE—ARF —
ZIBSFMALZEESMT

2017 2016
—E—+tF —ZT—RF
HKS$ HK$
BT BT

Basic salaries, housing allowances, other EZ&R#H4 - EERAL - i
allowances and benefits in kind EAREYF 3,340,000 1,780,000
Retirement scheme contributions RRET B 36,000 18,000
3,376,000 1,798,000

The emoluments are within the following band: EEL TNEEZA -

2017 2016
ZE—tF —ZTRF
Number of Number of
Employees  Employees
ESEH ESEH

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,600,001 & 7T 2 2,000,000
BIT 2 1
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—ET—+tH¥=A=1+—H
31 March 2017

12. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’'S EMOLUMENTS
(Continued)

Remuneration of senior management

Remuneration of senior management of the
Group, including amounts paid to the highest paid
employees other than Directors as disclosed above,
are within the following bands:

12. EEREREEEME &)

BREEE M

AEBRREEREFHM(BHE LXK
BENTEEMIINZEEFMERZS
BIENTHEZA

2017 2016
—E-tF T AF
Number of  Number of
Employees  Employees

ESEH ESEH

HK$1,000,000 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,000,8 L= 1,500,000
BT - 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 % 7L ZE 2,000,000
BT 2 1
13. FINANCE COSTS 13. ERAK
Discontinued
Continuing operations operation Total
FEEEXHE BRIER @t
2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
“E—t&E —T5RF ZBE-tE —FF Bt _T1F
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
B BT B BT B BT
Interest on bank borrowings BTEEZFIS 3,196,095 3,371,646 - — 3,196,095 3,371,646

ol|

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED Xf{bi#Z#R&EHR R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The amount of income tax expense in the

—T—+t&=A=+—H
31 March 2017

14. Fri8HiBxX
ERt2ERAERNEHEYSE

consolidated statement of comprehensive income ¥ :
represents:
Discontinued
Continuing operations operation Total
RFESEER BRILER @
2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
“E—tF ZTRF ZE-tF T ZB—tF ZT1F
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT BT BT
Current tax — Hong Kong profits 31718 — AR5
tax i
— over-provision in respect — BEFEHEE
of prior years i - 768 - — - 768
7777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777 - mw.,8 - - - 768
Current tax — PRC Enterprise ~ H{7H1E — B E
Income Tax FriSH
— tax for the year — AEERE (125,159)  (60,981)  (12,566) — (137,725) (60,981
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, (125159) (60,981) (12566) — (137.725) (60,981)
Deferred tax (note 32) ERBIE M 32) (705,112)  (705,112) - —  (705,112) (705,112
(830,271) (765,325)  (12,566) — (842,837) (765,325)

No Hong Kong profits tax has been provided within
the Group as there is no estimated assessable
profits for the year ended 31 March 2017 and 2016.

The PRC subsidiaries are subject to PRC Enterprise
Income Tax at 25% (2016: 25%).

HREEZE-ZE—+tF T —R"F=HA
—t+—HLEFETEGERTGEF
AR EE W ETIRBE TS BIEE -

R B AR AKR25% (ZF— R :
25% ) Z TR RGN BB RPAFH -

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 -+ FER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—ET—+tH¥=A=1+—H
31 March 2017

14. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 14.

The income tax expense for the year can be
reconciled to the loss before income tax expense

REZH

per the consolidated statement of comprehensive

income as follows:

i@

SHRAXESEEZEKERT

B PR n—ﬁRFﬂEJS'iHIJEEﬂEZﬂEEZZDT :

2017 2016
—E—tF —Z—XRF
HK$ HK$
B BT
Loss before income tax expense BRETSHASAIERE
Continuing operations SIBLEES (88,345,983) (105,763,599)
Discontinued operation BRIEER (4,927,585)  (27,283,120)
Loss before income tax expense BRETSHFZ AIEE (93,273,568) (133,046,719)
Tax calculated at Hong Kong profits tax rate ~ R&EBHEHHE16.5%
of 16.5% (2016: 16.5%) (ZT—RF 1 165%)iTEZ
Filg 15,390,139 21,952,708
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries REMBEZEEREE ZHBR
operating in other jurisdictions AR TR ZFE 1,168,500 3,946,197
Tax effect of share of losses of associates DEBEARBE I NETE (761,218) (27,614)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses W\T?D%RE%E‘ZZ%M%%Z (5,003,390) (9,727,241)
Tax effect of non-taxable revenue BARGIW G < BT E 301,359 2,648,713
Tax effect of deductible temporary differences REER AT LIS =58 7 Fifg
not recognised TE (91,678) (65,201)
Utilisation of deductible temporary differences 1 5E AT AW HER AT HIR 2
previously not recognised TREER 72,832 —
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AERREEE BT E (11,919,381)  (19,503,655)
Over-provision in respect of prior years BEFERERE - 768
Income tax expense PSR < (842,837) (765,325)
CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED X/t BREBRA T



15.

16.

e MW R

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—F-—tF=A=t+-8
31 March 2017

DIVIDENDS 15. RE
No dividend was paid or proposed in respect of the HE-_T—+tF=-A=+—HIFEW
year ended 31 March 2017, nor has any dividend ERNSEZRMAKRE - BREHRE
been proposed since the end of reporting period MERFRMERRE(ZE—NEF
(2016: nil). ) -
LOSS PER SHARE 16. BREE
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per KRR E @R ER %—rﬁ/\ﬂETEZtng
share attributable to the ordinary equity holders of AREEEBIRBEATEGE
the Company is based on the following data:
2017 2016
—E—tf —TNE
HK$ HK$
B BT
Loss for the purpose of basic and diluted loss R EEREAR B FEE
per share ZEE
Loss for the year attributable to owners of the ~ RNAFIEA ABEREE 2
Company 518
— from continuing operations — REFBELEED (87,335,873)  (107,608,604)
— from discontinued operation — REEKRIEEE (2,519,477)  (23,725,889)
— from continuing and discontinued operations — RERFELERDKILE
ES (89,855,350) (131,334,493
(restated)
Number of shares B8 E (&=751)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for FA{EstE GIRE A8 7 il
the purpose of basic loss per share B hnREF 9 E 1,006,724,266 799,042,733

The weighted average number of ordinary shares
adopted in calculation of the basic loss per share for
the year ended 31 March 2017 has been adjusted
to reflect the impact of the bonus element in the
open offer in September 2016. The comparative
figures have been restated accordingly.

For the year ended 31 March 2017 and 2016, basic
loss per share is the same as diluted loss per share.
There are no dilutive effects on the share options
granted, as they are anti-dilutive.

BE_FT—tF=-A=T—"HLEFER

MR ESRERBRZ BB INE
FHBOEFE  URR-F—RFN
ARRABEZANKD ZFE - LBE

FERLTED -

HE_FT—ttHFET—-—R"F=H
E%*Eﬁ@&'ih%$%ﬁﬁ#k
HEEERR -  ARERE 2RRIER
REEE - B EEELE -
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—T—+F=RA=+—H

31 March 2017

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

17. W% - BERRE

Leasehold Furniture,
land and Leasehold fixtures and Plant and Motor
buildings improvements  equipment machinery vehicles Yacht Total
HELH EEN
kEF HEEVERE EERRE BERES RE P ok
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT BT B BT
Cost or valuation BAREE
At 1 April 2015 RZZ—HEMA-A 8,600,000 141,204,979 8,533,906 — 9,834,394 6,800,000 174,973,279
Surplus on revaluation BhAR 300,000 — — — — — 300,000
Additions i — 2,861,433 103,776 — 1,441,305 — 4,406,514
Acquisition of subsidiaries WM B2 7]
(note 37) (Hs£37) - 812,079 109,902 18,129 2,312,680 — 3,252,790
Disposal of subsidiaries ~ H&EHERF
{note 36(b)) (Hiz£36(b)) —  (2,525,182) (984,605) - — —  (3,509,787)
Disposals HE —  (13,580,250) (625,752 — (1,344,392) —  (15,550,394)
Exchange differences EHER — (7,575,397) 304,887 (728) (697,485) — (7,968,723)
At 31 March 2016 and RZE—RF
1 April 2016 ZRA=+-8k
NS
mA—A 8,900,000 121,197,662 7,442,114 17,401 11,546,502 6,800,000 155,903,679
Surplus on revaluation EfAH% 2,600,000 - — — — — 2,600,000
Additions 2 - 2,843,334 857,370 — 1,853,364 — 5,554,068
Disposal HE —  (18,028,651) (241,233) — (74,916)  (6,800,000)  (25,144,800)
Reclassified as assets held EHHBARZIEHESR
for sale (note 28) E (it 28) - (849,870) (161,858) - (942,370) —  (1,954,098)
Exchange alignment EHAE — (7,961,686) (543,019) — (775,689) — (9,280,394)
At 31 March 2017 R=Z—tfF
ZA=+-H 11,500,000 97,200,789 7,353,374 17,401 11,606,891 — 127,678,455
Accumulated depreciation REFTERFE
and impairment
At 1 April 2015 RZZ-HFMA—A — 35,515,678 5,505,988 — 2,751,526 3,853,333 47,626,525
Charge for the year AFELH 275,037 9,605,824 1,807,118 6,915 3,694,618 680,000 15,969,512
Impairment loss REEE — 202,549 156,211 10,851 623,551 - 993,162
Eliminated on revaluation  EfHEF L84 (275,037) — — — — — (275,037)
Eliminated on disposals HEREH —  (1,639,016) (658,245) — — —  (2,197,261)
Disposal of subsidiaries ~ HEHERE
(note 36(b)) (s 36(b)) — (2,525,182 (984,605) — — - (3,509,787)
Exchange differences EHER — (2,318,302) (437,785) (365) (468,028) — (3,224,480)
At 31 March 2016 and RZE—RF
1 April 2016 ZRA=+-8k
N — 38,941,551 5,388,682 17,401 6,501,667 4,633,333 55,382,634
Charge for the year 379,933 9,815,834 885,361 — 2,552,410 170,000 13,803,538
Eliminated on revaluation (379,933) — — — — — (379,933)
Eliminated on disposals — (5,199,710) — — (71,170) (4,703,333) (9,974,213)
Reclassified as assets held
for sale (note 28) E (171 28) — (849,870) (161,858) — (942,370) —  (1,954,098)
Exchange alignment BN AR - (3,054,156) (440,892) — (635,320) — (4,130,368)
At 31 March 2017 RZF—+F
=A=1+-H — 39,653,649 5,671,293 17,401 7,405,217 — 52,747,560
Net book value BRERHE
At 31 March 2017 RZB—+F
=A=+-H 11,500,000 57,547,140 1,682,081 - 4,201,674 - 74,930,895
At 31 March 2016 RZE—RF
=A=1+-AH 8,900,000 82,256,111 2,053,432 — 5,044,835 2,266,667 100,521,045
CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED X1 tiiZ#&%EER QA



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—T—+t&=A=+—H
31 March 2017

T Tl T i‘{

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. % > BERRE @)

(Continued)
The analysis of the net book value or valuation of UNEBER-_TE—tF=A=+—H2
the above assets at 31 March 2017 is as follows: BEE R ENEES TN T ¢
Furniture,
Leasehold fixtures
land and Leasehold and Plant and Motor
buildings improvements  equipment machinery vehicles Yacht Total
HELH g &
kEF NEEE  HERRE  HERES byt il fam
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
A AT A7 A7 A7 AT AT
At cost G - 57547,140 1,682,081 - 4,201,674 - 63,430,895
At 2017 professional ~ B=E—+ &2
valuation E2[LE 11,500,000 - - - - - 11,500,000
11,500,000 57,547,140 1,682,081 - 4,201,674 - 74,930,895
The analysis of the net book value or valuation of WEBER-_ZE—R"F=ZA=+—H2
the above assets at 31 March 2016 is as follows: FEENFESNHESITHT -
Furniture,
Leasehold fixtures
land and Leasehold and Plant and Motor
buildings improvements  equipment machinery vehicles Yacht Total
HELH HE &
kEF NEEE  KERRE  BERES RE if an
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
AT AT AT AT AT AT AT
At cost A — 82,256,111 2,053,432 — 5,044,835 2,266,667 91,621,045
At 2016 professional ~ E=E—7E2
valuation EE 30 8,900,000 - - - - - 8,900,000
8,900,000 82,256,111 2,053,432 - 5,044,835 2,266,667 100,521,045
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—ET—+tH¥=A=1+—H
31 March 2017

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED Xt R&RERBR R

(Continued)

The Group's leasehold land and building is located
in Hong Kong and the carrying value is as follows:

. ME S BERRKREE)

AEBsHELHRETFURE LK
EEMAT :

2017 2016
—E—+tF ZT=—KF
HK$ HKS$
BT BT

Properties located in Hong Kong NREBZYME
Lease between 10 to 50 years NF10E 50 FHEL 11,500,000 8,900,000

Leasehold land and buildings were revalued at 31
March 2017 and 2016 on the open market value
basis by APAC Asset Valuation and Consulting
Limited (“APAC"). The valuation was mainly arrived
at by reference to comparable market transactions.
A net revaluation surplus of HK$2,488,243 (2016:
HK$480,156) was credited to other properties
revaluation reserve, after netting off applicable
deferred tax expense of HK$491,690 (2016:
HK$94,881).

The fair value of the leasehold land and buildings in
Hong Kong of HK$11,500,000 as at 31 March 2017
(2016: HK$8,900,000) is a Level 2 recurring fair
value measurement.

The carrying amount of leasehold land and building
of the Group would have been HK$639,756
(2016: HK$664,027) had they been stated at cost
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses.

At 31 March 2017 and 2016, the Group did not
pledge any property, plant and equipment.

eall]

HET M REFERTAEET G RE
MAERARA(READZRARMEEREE
RZE—EFR T - R"F=ZA=+—
HEMf - HEXZELEAEALRMER
S15H - B AIFRE2,488,243 78
(ZZ—7X%F : 480,166 8 7C) Bt A E
Y EEGHHEE  YENRBERZIELE
FRIE B £ 491,690 (= — <N F ¢
94,881 77L) °

W_ZE—+HF=F=+—0 RNEEZ
e+ MEFZ AFEE11,500,000
B(ZZ—73F 8,900,000/ L) A
BHR2EEE QAT EENE -

HARERE 2 BE+ i B8 FIHAR
RRENMERREREBRYE  HE
H A FE 5639,756 8 L(Z T — RN F
664,027 8 7T) °

R-E—tFR_F—ARF=ZA=1+—
B AEBEYEETEAYE  BER
Byl
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—T—+t&=A=+—H
31 March 2017

18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 18. REWE

2017 2016

—E—tF ZZT—RF

HK$ HK$

BT BT

At 1 April REA—H 6,246,653 6,326,550
Change in fair value NEEE 292,324 (79,897)

At 31 March R=A=+—H 6,538,977 6,246,653

(a) Investment properties were revalued at 31 (a) WEYER-_Z—+FER_ZF—RX

(c)

March 2017 and 2016 on the open market
value basis by an independent valuer, Daeil
Appraisal Board. The valuation was mainly
arrived at by reference to comparable market
data. There were no changes to the valuation
technique during the year.

FZAZ-Z+ —BHRBIGERM
Daeil Appraisal Board 2 AT %5
BEREESHE -HEEXELE[E
LR TISEIEER - RAFE - &
BRI EEAEE -

At 31 March 2017 and 2016, the Group did not b)) RZE—EFR=ZZT—R F=H
pledge any investment property. =+—H  AEEWEKFEMAE
= /E
At 31 March 2017, the fair value of the (¢ RZZE—+tF=ZH=1T—8 'R
investment properties in Korea of approximately BRHIREMEZAFEED
HK$6,539,000 (2016: HK$6,247,000) is level 2 6,539,000/ (= T — X F -
recurring fair value measurement. The fair value 6,247,000 870) BER2EEUR
measurement is based on the above properties’ FEEFZ - A FEEFENER
highest and best use, which does not differ LimErsr e k&ERE - A
from their actual use. EEHEHERAREER -
The Group’s investment properties are (d) AEBZEREWELZERMAES T
analysed at their carrying values as follows: ORI
2017 2016
—E—tF —ZT—RF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Investment properties located NREEZIREYE
in Korea
Freehold KA FERE 6,538,977 6,246,653
ANNUAL REPORT 2017 =~ —+ & £ %
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—ET—+tH¥=A=1+—H
31 March 2017

19. GOODWILL AND IMPAIRMENT

19. BEKRE

Provision of
intellectual Sludge
property Property and sewage
enforcement sub-leasing treatment
services business business Total
b
ARERE MEIE ERRIEK
BRI £ BEEK ok
(note (a)) (note (b)) (note (c))
(Hz# (@) (Hzt(v) (Hizt(c)
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
Cost RA
At 1 April 2015 RZE—AFMA—H 79,427,363 16,591,728 — 96,019,091
Acquisition of NG XY,
subsidiaries (note 37) — — 20,023,466 20,023,466
At 31 March 2016 and RZE—RE=ZA=+—H
1 April 2016 kZE—FMA—H 79,427,363 16,591,728 20,023,466 116,042,557
Reclassified as held for ~ BEFPEAEELE
sale (note 26) (Hiz28) — — (20,023,466) (20,023,466)
At31March 2017 R=-B-tFZA=t-A 79427363 16591728 - 96,019,091
Impairment RE
At 1 April 2015 RZE—RFMA—H 79,427,363 16,591,728 — 96,019,091
Impairment loss (note 37) R{EEE(H:37) — — 20,023,466 20,023,466
At 31 March 2016 and RZE—"¥=H=1+—H
1 April 2016 T ¥MA—-H 79,427,363 16,591,728 20,023,466 116,042,557
Reclassified as held for ~ BHAEASELE
sale (note 28) (H1:£28) — — (20,023,466) (20,023,466)
At 31 March 2017 N-B—-+t&=A=+-H 79,427,363 16,591,728 - 96,019,091
Carrying value RHEE
At 31 March 2017 R=ZE—tF=A=+-H - - - -
At 31 March 2016 R-ZE-R"E=A=+—H — — — —
CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED X/t#iiZ%E AR 2 7
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

19. GOODWILL AND IMPAIRMENT
(Continued)

In accordance with HKAS 36
assets”,

“Impairment of
management of the Group performed

impairment test for goodwill allocated to the

Group’'s various cash-generating units (“CGUs")

by comparing their recoverable amounts to their

carrying amounts at the end of the reporting period.

The recoverable amount of a CGU is determined

based on value-in-use calculation.

(a)

During the year ended 31 March 2015, the
goodwill of HK$79,427,363 was fully impaired
and impairment loss on intangible assets of
HK$68,494,242 were provided (note 20(a)). It
was because the revenue generated from the
CGU has dropped. The Directors considered
that the customer, the karaoke venue
operators, were affected by the reduction in
expenditures in entertainment and recreation
activities in the PRC and the industry would
experience no growth in future.

During the year ended 31 March 2015, the
goodwill of HK$16,591,728 was fully impaired,
it was mainly due to keen competition in
property market and adverse economic
environment in the PRC, and significant
investments in renovation of leasehold
improvements for sustaining the growth in

future.

—T—+F=A=+—H
31 March 2017

19. BERBE®E)

RBEBGHERECRIEE 2R
Bl AEEEEERAEEEREE
E%ﬁ(TCGUJ)EAi&iHH?EZEM&@@
HEHRERELE  OEESCGUZ
EEETREAE - CGU ZEJJ%Z@@%E
TIRERBENEEERE -

a) REBEE-_ZT—AF=-A=+—H1t
FEA- %%79,427,363/%755
PHYREREREEZRERIE
68,494,242;‘%ﬁesﬂ—%%ﬁﬁ(waﬁ

a) WP HRCGUE L Z I
J\Tﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁz EERAR B K
R OKGZFTE &R B 2 IR 4
KREVESF SR D E  BITER
RGEER o

b) REEZZ—RAF=-A=1+—81t
FE - Péﬁ%16,591,728,%7zai
%&WE T EBHNTEDED

55 F BRI R FIEOEIRR - UK
REAEMERMEELERNIRE L
FEARMILRATEL -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—ZT—+H=A=+—H
31 March 2017

19. GOODWILL AND IMPAIRMENT
(Continued)

(c)

On 5 August 2015, the Group completed
the acquisition of 51% equity interest of
Suzhou Great Research & Industrialization
Co., Ltd.* (BAMBIHBFRABMREXZZEREGRA
7)) (“Great Research”) and its subsidiaries
(the “Great Group"”) at an aggregated
consideration of RMB31,435,514 (equivalent
to HK$39,303,823). The Great Group is
principally engaged in the operation of sludge
and sewage treatment plants in the PRC. The
estimated recoverable amount was zero and
determined from value-in-use calculation based
on cash flow projections covering a five-year
period. Discount rate of 17.6% per annum is
used in the calculation which was provided
by Vigers Appraisal & Consulting Limited
(“Vigers"”) for the year ended 31 March 2016.
The key assumption is have been determined
by the Group’s management based on past
performance and its expectations for the
industry development.

During the year ended 31 March 2016, the
goodwill of HK$20,023,466 was fully impaired
and impairment loss on intangible assets of
HK$285,882 were made (note 20(d)) as certain
potential projects were suspended due to
expiration and are pending for re-negotiation
and financing. As a result, as at 31 March
2016, the Directors expect the future profit
generated by the Great Group will be minimal.

All the discount rates used above are pre-tax

and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant

segments.

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED X1{t#hiZ&RERBR L

eall]

19. BERBE®E)

(c)

RZZ—RAFNARA  AEER
FRUSBE BR N AR TR R IR R B EE 22 8%
BERAR(EHSRERK])
REWBRAR(EHESESR]
Z51% M BREABARE
31,435,514 7L (#H% 7 39,303,823
BIT) c B EEETERERF
Bl & )5 e 5 KRR o 5T T]
WEEEAT  WHRFEREAER
BERBEREAFHHZASRE
BHEE -REE-_T—~F=A
=+t—HLEFE  FFERARE
FEEFHBEMARRDA(EE
HDIRHEF17.6% 28R X -
FERRDBEAEEEEERER
ARAREHTERRE CTBEME

TE °

REE-_ZT—A"FZA=+—H
1EF[E » 20,023,466 0 2 2
BAEERE - &285,8828 T 2
BREEDCIEDRERBE T
20(d)) ° TR E T EEMNIEE
HAEBHLEFEEEEERERE
MEE - At - RZE—RF=A
=+—H EFSEHAEREEE
RIRBGEE ST BEETIRK o

N ERAz 28R T RBA > AR
RIS BB ER



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—T—+t&=A=+—H
31 March 2017

EAMBHRERME }fs

20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 20. B EE
Provision of
intellectual Customer
property relationship
enforcement Golf club  and customer
services memberships contracts Patent Total

Rt BRXR
ARER B%¥  EFBER

BERY e EEAH =G| ag
(note (a)) (note (b)) (note (c) (note (d))
(Hit(a)) (Hitm) (Hit(c) (Hit()
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HKS
BT BT AT BT BT
Cost KA
At 1 April 2015 RZE-RFMNA—H 119,132,109 1,500,000 38,410,000 — 159,042,109
Acquisition of subsidiaries WENBARHH7)

(note 37) — — — 627,109 627,109
Exchange differences EAZERE - - - (27,049) (27,049)
At 31 March 2016 RZE—R E=ZA=1—H

and 1 April 2016 k=E—"ENA-H 119,132,109 1,500,000 38,410,000 600,060 159,642,169
Reclassified as assets ENNBEBELEEE

held for sale (note 28) (Hi28) — - - (581,050) (581,050)
Exchange differences ERES — — — (19,010) (19,010
At 31 March 2017 RZE-tF=A=1+-0 119,132,109 1,500,000 38,410,000 - 159,042,109
Accumulated amortisation ZRBERAE

and impairment
At 1 April 2015 R-ZE-RFMA-H 119,132,109 477,272 38,410,000 — 158,019,381
Amortisation for the year TEESH — 116,883 — 327,009 443,892
Impairment loss FEBE — - - 285,882 285,882
Exchange differences ERES — — — (12,831) (12,831)
At 31 March 2016 and RZE—RE=R=1—H

1 April 2016 k=Z-~FNA-H 119,132,109 594,155 38,410,000 600,060 158,736,324
Amortisation for the year TEESH — 116,883 — — 116,883
Reclassified as assets ENNBABELEEE

held for sale (note 28) (H1et28) — — - (581,050) (581,050
Exchange differences ERES — — — (19,010) (19,010)
At 31 March 2017 RZE-tF=A=1-H 119,132,109 711,038 38,410,000 - 158,253,147
Net book value RHFE
At 31 March 2017 R-E-+E=ZR=1+-H - 788,962 - - 788,962
At 31 March 2016 RZE-R"¥=A=1—H - 905,845 - - 905,845
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—ZT—+H=A=+—H
31 March 2017

20.

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED X1{t#hiZ&RERBR L

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

(a)

The recoverable amount of the CGU of
provision of intellectual property enforcement
services to which the intellectual property
enforcement services right is allocated
has been determined by the value-in-
use calculation, the details of which are
disclosed in note 19(a). As at 31 March 2015,
impairment loss of HK$68,494,242 was
recognised due to the reason as described in
note 19(a).

For the purpose of impairment testing on
the golf club memberships, the recoverable
amount has been determined based on fair
value less costs to sell. The fair value less
costs to sell is referenced to the second-hand
market price of the golf club memberships
less estimated costs of disposal. During
the years ended 31 March 2017 and 2016,
no impairment loss was recognised since
the recoverable amount of the golf club
memberships exceeded its carrying amount.

As at 31 March 2015, impairment loss of
HK$19,864,005 was recognised in respect
of the customer relationship and customer
contracts as the Directors consider the
clients of China Resources Advertising &
Exhibition Company Limited (together with its
subsidiaries, the “CRA Group”) are primarily
the PRC based textile manufacturers which
are recently facing the industry downturn,
and in addition, the drop in the client base of
the CRA Group due to the exhibitions held in
the PRC attract a significant number of the
existing clients of the CRA Group.

Patent represents the technologies for
sludge and sewage treatment. Patent with
carrying amount of HK$285,882 is attributable
to the same CGU with which the goodwill
amount is recognised for the sludge and
sewage treatment business. As at 31 March
2016, impairment loss of HK$285,882 was
recognised due to the reason as described
in note 19(c). Details of the impairment
assessment of that CGU are set out in note
19(c).

eall]

BREE®

(a)

(c)

BB EREGRERGE R
HABERERRBCGU 2 A Ik
EemNREREENEEET
HEBRWE190@)FE - R -F
—hAF=ZA=+—8"  ERWE

(@) il 7 B - EERREE
18 68,494,242 7T, ©

LR B ARIREL RS RE 2R E R

FoAkEeRCRAFEE
ﬁ%%&$ﬁmoﬂiﬁﬁﬂ%ﬁ
RATI2ESRRRBLRE
_imﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁ%&$ﬁ ﬁ
BE_ZTtFR-FT—"F=A
=t+—BLFE- mm@@%ﬁﬁ
LB KBS ESNEERR
8 - BAEERREEE -

RZZE—RAF=A=+—H %
FRARMEFAENERRBERIE
£19,864,0057% 7t ° %Em#%
ERE FEHEEREERA

(EREMBA uﬁﬂ¢!§%$
Eﬁzgﬁﬁz%ﬁu$ﬁ¢ﬁ
B I BER - AT EAE H1T
EEER AN - ARNEFBRRR 2
RERS|FEEEEBAERER
F HAEESEEZTPEMRR

oo

HHFETR AT KEIE 2 Bl - B
{8 A 285,882 /8 L2 EFE{E)5
e EK IR E TSI ER 2 BB 2K
EHRACGU - RZZE—RNF=
A=+—8 &®X EXKE19(c)
Frat 2 [RA - 285,882 /8 7T 2 (&
EED &R - CGURET ™2
FEIBER A HIFE19(c)



21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

e BHRRME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—T—+t&=A=+—H
31 March 2017

21. BERNT z2ER

2017 2016

—E—tF ZZT—RF

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Share of net assets of associates SMEBE R EEFE - 8,811,556

Goodwill Gk — 29,942,499

— 38,754,055

Percentage of Percentage of

Particulars of equity interests ownership

issued Place of Place of Principal indirectly held interests directly

Name of associate shares held incorporation operation activities by the Group held by the Group

e RT AEEBE AEEEERE

BENRER ierA=3 - EMALHY  LEHY FTEER BERTERBAML RERERFAN

2016 2016

“ERF “E-RF

BBEATRRREAER  RMB15,000,000 The PRC The PRC Sludge and sewage 40% 20.4%
AR(EBXAE])  AR¥15000,0007c FE& el treatment (note 1)
ARRAKEE (Hiz#1)

HEERRENE RMB 10,000,000 The PRC The PRC Environmental 16.5% 8.4%
BRAF(LERR]) ARK10,000,0007 HE el engineering (note 2)
RETRE (F1322)

Notes: Biat -
1. Interest in EFEATE was classified as assets held for 1. WM 28FTHE RZT—+F=
sale as at 31 March 2017 as disclosed in note 28. A=+T—BREGREHES 2=
DERIFELEERE -
2. Although the Group’s ownership interest in /2 2. WBEAGERLEEREBHEERD

is less than 20%, E)&EZ's article of association
allow the Group to appoint one out of six directors
of the board. The Directors of the Company
therefore consider they have the power to exercise
significant influence and have treated the interest in
/822 as an associate.

On 27 April 2016, /82 was deregistered.

N20%  EEERZAEERAA AR
AARERENBEESETHS—
2EZ-Hit ARFEERA/EA
FREZENRBENLEBRR R
RIS N R ©

EERRR T AFMA =+
R -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—ET—+tH¥=A=1+—H
31 March 2017

21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

On b August 2015, the Group acquired 51% equity
interests of Great Group, after completion of the
acquisition, the Group is indirectly held 40% equity
interest of FMF5 AT and 16.5% equity interest of
BE2 . The carrying amount of the interests in
associates held by Great Group was remeasured at
fair value at acquisition date.

For the purpose of impairment testing on the
interests in associates, the recoverable amount has
been determined by the value-in-use calculation
based on cash flow forecast projections covering
a five-year period at a discount rate of 17.6%
per annum. At the end of the reporting period,
management of the Group determines that there
was no impairment of the interests in associates
as the recoverable amount of the interests in
associates exceeds their carrying amount.

(a) Summarised financial information of FE& X,
the material associate, adjusted for any
differences in accounting policies, are
disclosed below:

21. BBE QT 2R E)

R-ZZ—RAFN\AREA  REBWER
Imbr & 51 % ixkE - RIKEETTATE - R
SEMEFEREERATE40% BAER &
LBER165% BRAEZ - ARmES
ERBERBEQARERZ CREEDE NI
BAMZEATEESHGE

B R SR RS ETRENRAAE
MmE @ JREl¢EHIERRESRERE
AL REENEARERF MR
RETF17.6%FTETE - RIFEHFK -
AEEZEBERET  ARREE QT
ERzAkEsEsREREE  BR
B8 N B RERR I R (E -

(a) FAFBAB(EREERR)ZHBE
HRECHE T BREMERE
R - RN

As at

31 March 2016

RZE—RF

=A=+—8H

HK$

o

Current assets MENBEE 1,015,848

Non-current assets IEMBEE 37,596,855

Current liabilities ViEIRERE (20,916,201)

Net assets BESE 17,696,502
CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED X /L0 iZ& & A8 A 7
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E—+HF=A=+—H

31 March 2017

21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 21. BME QR 2E®(#)

(a) (Continued) (a) (#&)

Period from

5 August 2015
(date of
acquisition) to
31 March 2016
—E-HF
NAAH
(WEBEH)E
—EB-RF
=A=+—BH#H
HK$

BT

Revenue Iz 523,579
Loss from operations and total CEBEREERM Y A%
comprehensive expenses (299,258)

(b)  Summarised financial information of immaterial (b) SEEREERRZHBERBEEN
associate is as follows: N

Period from

5 August 2015
(date of
acquisition) to
31 March 2016
—E-8F
NAAHA
(REEE)ZE
—E-RF
ZA=+—BHH8
HK$

BT

Loss from operations and total KEBEREEAS R85
comprehensive expenses (288,803)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—tF=A=+—~”
31 March 2017

22. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

22. AIHHERE

2017 2016
—E—tF —T—RF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Listed securities in Hong Kong, at fair HEZ FhE

value (note (a)) BRATEEN (@) 21,932,312 12,791,336

Unlisted equity securities in the PRC, at ~ FEIIE FIRAES -
cost (note (b)) R (BT 5 (b)) 28,435,022 30,296,022
50,367,334 43,087,358

Notes:

(b)

As at 31 March 2017, the listed securities in Hong
Kong represented mainly the equity interests in
Brockman Mining Limited and Leyou Technologies
Holdings Limited (“Leyou”) (2016: Brockman Mining
Limited and Leyou) which are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange.

During the year ended 31 March 2017, net fair value
gain on the available-for-sale investments of the
Group amounted to HK$9,140,976 (2016: net fair
value gain of HK$11,089,281) was recognised in
other comprehensive income.

The fair values of listed equity investments are
based on quoted market prices.

On 8 June 2015, Shenzhen Wendi Multimedia
Technology Company Limited* G£ ¥l 1 X #1 %
I® B8 5 T 5 R 2 & )(“Shenzhen Wendi”), an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into a sale and purchase agreement with
Guangwei Technology Group Limited* (& #f & #
£ @ E R A 7 )("Guangwei”), pursuant to which
Shenzhen Wendi conditionally agreed to purchase
and Guangwei conditionally agreed to sell the
9.5% of the subscribed capital contribution of
Chongging Lianshun Heqi Venture Investment
Fund Partnership* (EEBIEA RAEIEREEEAIK
%) (“Lianshun”) at a consideration equivalent to
HK$32,000,000 in RMB.

Lianshun is an investment fund principally engaged
in unconventional oil/gas industry in the PRC.

As at 31 March 2017, the unlisted equity securities
with a carrying amount of HK$28,435,022
(2016: HK$30,296,022) were stated at cost less
impairment.

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED X 1{t#iRx &R R A A

RZTE—tEF=ZA=+—H0 FEZ
iﬁ*’*%IxﬁﬁAﬁﬁﬁ“FﬁIthZ
AR EBEEAR DR REBERE
BERR T(F%ﬁj)(_g—ﬁi xin
ﬁ%%%ﬂgﬁﬁﬂﬁ K843 ) 2 BANHE

11089281/ fc) E(‘ @w& EP

ﬁg_ﬂ °

ru

EmRAREZ R
WESD

FEEDREDS

RZZ—RFXNANB  FIITH D
ZE M ER AR (R )
(ARBRIZEE2EWBAR)EEM
REEEERAR(EMDITLES
Wik B RIS B ST E
%ﬁﬂ%;&ﬂﬁzﬁﬂ%ﬁiﬁﬁ%ﬁ%i%
BIEARAIEREES AN E(H
JIEJ)m REHEEBEZ295% REA
32,000,000 8702 AR EEE o

SRR —EREEE  TERPEL
EFEHRBRITE -

R-ZB—+F=A=+—HB E@E
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30,296,022 % 70) 2 IE E TR AFE S TY
LA AR 2R E S R o



A MW R MR )

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ‘
—E—+F=A=+—H
31 March 2017

23. DEFERRED EXPENDITURE 23. IEIERX
HK$
BT
Cost 2N
At 1 April 2015, 31 March 2016 and RZE—RFMNA—B —ZF—XF
1 April 2016 “A=1T—HBRZFT—R"FWMA—H 251,874,043
Eliminated on written off T £ AeF Y 4 (251,874,043)
At 31 March 2017  R=B—t%=A=t-RAR -
Accumulated amortisation and impairment Z2&E#RERE
At 1 April 2015, 31 March 2016 and RZE-—RAFMHA—H -  ZZT—R%F
1 April 2016 ZA=+t—HEZZT—R"FWMNA—H 251,874,043
Eliminated on written off 61 58 BEE 4 8 (251,874,043)
At 31 March 2017 R-ZZE—tH=A=+—H -
Carrying amount BREE
At 31 March 2016 and 31 March 2017 R-ZE—RFE=A=+—HK
—E—+F=A=+—H —

In previous years, the Group entered into
cooperation agreements with various copyright
holders for the business of collecting license fees
from karaoke operators in the PRC for their use
of licensed audio-visual works on behalf of the
copyright holders.

As a condition of the agreements, the Group
advanced the sum which was capitalised as
deferred expenditure to the copyright holders as
their guaranteed share of the expected profit on
license fees that will be earned.

The total amount deferred expenditure of
HK$251,874,043 was eliminated on written off
during the year as cooperation agreements with
various copyright holders had expired.

RBEFE  ARERZZRESAA
RN AFERE  NRBRARRERA
AP EZz REOKEE®WERESR K
MEZEEFRMERERETRER
EL

ERZFHE 2 —BIRT - AEEEAR
BFAABNBR(CEENMCRELER
X)) ERRSERRESTEER 2B
HPE N 2 (RESHR

AR L R REFE AR 2 G 1EH &
BEm  BURER X 42%58251,874,043
BITE R AT EMGERT T 5H o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—ET—+tH¥=A=1+—H
31 March 2017

24. INVENTORIES 24. FE
2017 2016
—E—tF ZZT—RF
HK$ HK$
BT o
Food and beverages B 20,999,651 23,916,372
Artwork AT 8,735,369 8,640,569
29,735,020 32,556,941
For the year ended 31 March 2017, no write-down HE_Z—+F=-A=T—HLEFE"
of inventories to net realisable value was made BMECEMRETZ2RFE TN
(2016: HK$193,260). F :193,26087T) °
25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 25. EWWER K EMRRIE
2017 2016
—E—tF —FT—RF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Trade receivables (note (a)) FEWE R (K7 (a) 11,311,280 12,641,943
Deposits, prepayments and other e BNRER
receivables (note (b)) Ho A EWGRIE (M52 (b)) 36,852,513 32,305,785
Loan receivables (note (c)) FEWE R (K77 (c) 91,782,094 28,369,700
139,945,887 73,317,428

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED X {ti#iiEH & B R A 7



25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

e %R KM
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—T—+F=A=+—H

31 March 2017

25. BWERRHMRE #)

(Continued)
Notes: Wi
(a) The ageing analysis of trade receivables based on (a) BEREFRRIBRREBERZREREER
invoice date after impairment loss is as follows: HASH 2 BRI DT T -
2017 2016
—E—+tF ZE-RF
HK$ HK$
BT JETT
Within 90 days 90 HA 11,238,280 12,116,796
91 days to 365 days 91 HZE365H 26,000 18,088
More than 365 days 38 365 H 47,000 507,059
11,311,280 12,641,943

The below table reconciles the impairment loss of

JEWE TN AFEZBEFBYERER

trade receivables for the year: PR T
2017 2016
—E—+tF ZE-RF
HK$ HK$
BT JETT
At 1 April REA—AH 40,409,960 —
Impairment loss recognised BERBEEE 4,043,163 40,409,960
At 31 March R=A=+—H 44,453,123 40,409,960

The Group recognised impairment loss on individual

assessment based on the group accounting policy. wRREEE -

The Group generally grants no credit period to its
customers, except for transactions with customers
in exhibition-related services, in which credit period

ranging from 30 to 60 days is granted. H o

ANNUAL REPORT 2017
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REMB®RRMTE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—ZT—+H=A=+—H
31 March 2017

25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 25. EWERKRHEMIAIEZ)

(Continued)

Notes: (Continued) Biat - (&)

(b)  The below table reconciles the impairment loss of (b)  I&® - FENREREAMAERZKBEBRA
deposits, prepayment and other receivables for the FEZREBBEERIHAIINTE
year:

2017 2016

—=—+tF —E—RF

HK$ HK$

BT BT

At 1 April HmA—A 864,347 —

Impairment loss recognised BRI EEE 527,625 864,347

Reclassified as held for sale B BEAIFELE (509,001) —

At 31 March R=A=+—H 882,971 864,347

The Group recognised impairment loss based on the NEBRBEEESTHRERERBER
group accounting policy. =1

(c)  Loan receivables presented: (c) EWEIE:

2017 2016

—E—tF ZE—RF

HK$ HK$

BT BT

— Loans to independent third parties — ABMNE=FER 91,782,094 28,369,700

It represented advances to fourteen (2016: four)
independent third parties. The Group and the
independent third parties entered into the loan
agreements in which the Group agreed to advance
loans to the independent third parties in the
aggregate principal amount of HK$91,782,094 (2016:
HK$28,369,700). The loans are unsecured and
bear an effective interest rate ranging from 3% to
10% (2016: 4% to 10%) per annum and shall be
repayable in 1 month to 15 months (2016: 3 months)
from the date of advance. 66.3% of the total loan
receivables have been subsequently settled after 31
March 2017.

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED X {ti#iiEH & B R A 7

HEEM+MOE(ZT—XF: 1H)
BYUFE=ZFBR - AEBERBILF
ZHEMNERBHE B ~E
EREASBYE - haNAE8E
#691,782,094% (= T — X F:
28,369,700 L) 2 B - ZEE X
AEEBRIZEESNFRNENTFTR3%
210%(ZF — N F 4% =E10%)
AR WHARBZFABRET1EA
Z15EA(ZZE—AF:3EA)RNE
B EWERBE 663%EER
T—+FZA=+—HEBE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

26. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO NON-
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS OF
SUBSIDIARIES, RELATED PARTIES,
ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY AND
AN ASSOCIATE

At 31 March 2017 and 2016, all amounts due from/
to non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries,
related parties, ultimate holding company and
an associate were unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.

27.

CASH AND BANK BALANCES

—T—+F=A=+—H
31 March 2017

26. UL FEASFIE D B 2 FEIER
RE--BEAL FRERAD
A&k —EEE A RMRIE

p
E!

T LFR-B-AFZASt—
A R T B A )2 SRR

BRR - BEAL  REERAFE—HE
g ARRIEE REER - 28 RAR

b=

i
ZREE o

27. BERBITHEER

2017 2016

—B—+F T RE

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Cash and cash equivalents BekReEEER 28,553,665 57,051,103
Pledged bank deposits (note (a)) EEBIRITFER (A5 (a) 36,091,775 45,984,368
64,645,440 103,035,471

Notes:

(a)

At 31 March 2016, pledged bank deposits of
HK$7,680,768 represent deposits pledged to bank
to secure certain bills payables (note 29). At 31
March 2017, HK$36,091,775 (2016: HK$38,303,600)
represented securities for the Group's credit and
banking facilities. The pledged bank deposits carried
interests from 0.01% to 3.12% (2016: 0.01% to
3.12%) per annum.

At 31 March 2017, cash and bank balances of
the Group denominated in RMB amounted to
HK$42,051,763 (2016: HK$51,115,325). RMB is not
freely convertible into other currencies. However,
under the PRC's Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale
and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations,
the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other
currencies through banks authorised to conduct
foreign exchange business.

Miat

RZE—XNFZA=+—08 B
$R1T77 517,680,768 L i5 A ES A
F e Z AR (KT 7 29) i K38 T R 47
Z2HEFR - R_E—+EFE=A=+—
H 36,091,776 t(Z T — X F -
38,303,600 ) e AN E B EE KR
TREZEE - BEMBRITTERIRT
ME001%E312% (=T — N F:
0.01% E3.12%):t 8 »

RZZE—+F=ZA=+—0 K&
BUARBHEZR S RIBITER
42,051,763 (= T — N F
51,115,325%7C) - ARBTAIEER
MBEAME « At - REFEHE 2O
EBERIROID)R(EIE - EERMNEE
BRE) AEEEERBEREET
INEXEE 2 RITEARBRIRASEM

08 o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—ET—+tH¥=A=1+—H
31 March 2017

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED X1{t#hiZ&RERBR L

28. ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

ASSOCIATED WITH ASSETS
CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

On 30 September 2016, the Group announced
that Shenzhen Wendi, the Company's indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary, entered into an equity
transfer agreement with an independent third
party (the "Purchaser”) to dispose (the “Suzhou
Disposal”) 51% equity interests in Great Research
at a consideration of RMB13,800,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$16,000,000). On 23 January
2017, the parties entered into a supplemental
agreement (the “Supplemental Agreement”) to
the equity transfer agreement pursuant to which
the parties agreed to (i) amend the completion date
of the registration of the equity transfer to within 9
months after the full payment of the consideration
by the Purchaser, instead of the original time
frame of within 3 months; and (i) negotiate into
entering further supplemental agreement if the
registration of the equity transfer cannot be
completed within the newly agreed time frame as
stipulated in (i) above. The Board announced that
all the conditions precedent of the Suzhou Disposal
were fulfilled and the terms of the Supplemental
Agreement were arrived at between the parties
after arm’s length negotiation to govern other
obligations under the equity transfer agreement.
The consideration was paid by the Purchaser on
27 October 2016. Up to the date of this report,
the Suzhou Disposal has not been completed. The
Directors anticipate that the Suzhou Disposal will
be completed within twelve months from the end
of reporting period. Details of the Suzhou Disposal
is set out in the announcements of the Company
dated 30 September 2016 and 23 January 2017.
The following major classes of assets and liabilities
relating to the Great Group have been classified
as held for sale in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

eall]

28.

DERFFEHECEERER
&E

R-ZTE—XNELAZ+H A&EEE
o AARIEBEZERBZHBRRR
mxE—2BLE=FBH]
IR EEERE NABRBAUAR
13,800,000 7t (48 % 7 #£716,000,000
BLT)ZRELDEARIKHFRERRZ
B1% B#E((HMNEEEE]) - RZF
—+E—-A-+=0 ;JTHFCTLK
EEZEHpE oA R((BRBR]) -
B STOFRE (VBB EEE
ZERBHEE F BRI AREENE
AR mM3ERITKEEA=M@AA : &
i B IR EE R R BE RN LB B () FTdE
2B EREANTTRK - AIBERR] L —
THAG R EEEEMH HMNEES
BB RRGHBEER M5
TERATEEERDERRIERZREZIGERA
EEREEEREE I CHEMAET- B
FERZE—R"F+AZTEAEZAR
B -BEARESEH  HFMNHEBE N
KT o EETEFT#MN L EBEBENIR
SR+ ZM@MARTK - BN EEEE
HBEHIRARARBHAE-T - FA
AZ+AR-_Z—+&H—A=-+=AZ
ZEQMG e THEABRREERZEE
BERBBENENGZEETBHMRRER
DERFFIEHE -



28. ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

ASSOCIATED WITH ASSETS
CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE
(Continued)

e %R KM
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—T—+F=A=+—H

31 March 2017

28. DPERFFEHEZEEREER

=R 1C ),

2017
—E—tF
HK$
BT
Interest in an associate R—EBE AR 2 s 32,113,485
Other receivables Hth B Y SR IE 845,621
Amount due from an associate FEY — & R FIFRIE 4,993,458
Amounts due from related parties FEYL BB A T FIE 225,279
Cash and cash equivalents RENBLEFMBEAE 2,677,580
Assets classified as held for sale DERBFERECEE 40,855,423
Trade and other payables N ER R EMTIE 832,237
Amount due to non-controlling shareholder JE AT FEVEAR AR 3R 5K IR 3,491,100
Amounts due to related parties FETRE:E A LFIE 4,204,485
Deferred tax liabilities ELEHIBA R 7,485,625
Liabilities associated with assets classified as HAOBARBIELE 2 EEMRB A&
held for sale 16,013,447
Foreign exchange reserve SN 1 (386,926)
Cumulative income or expense recognised in REMEEWNEFERE B EAFE
other comprehensive income relating to HEZHEMRR Z 25t WA KFEX
disposal group classified as held for sale (386,926)
ANNUAL REPORT 2017 — & —+ & & 1§
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—ET—+tH¥=A=1+—H
31 March 2017

29. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER PAYABLES

29. BERNER - RERHEMKRIE

2017 2016

—E—tF —T—RF

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Trade payables FERTE R 18,236,191 24,664,778

Bills payables EREE — 7,680,768
Deposit received from disposal of HERBAREWILZS

subsidiaries 16,000,000 —

Other payables and accruals HEMEMSRIERERTEA 73,702,969 82,454,386

Other deposits received Emplizse 14,583,786 13,806,128

122,522,946 128,606,060

Included in trade, bills and other payables are trade

and bills payables with the following ageing analysis

as of the end of reporting period:

FENER ZRMEMFEREENE
RREMNEE  ERRERRZEREDY
Waw

=T

Al

2017 2016

—E—tF ZZT—RF

HK$ HK$

BT o

Current or within 30 days BIEF sk 30 HIN 1,025,849 1,752,040
31 to 60 days 31E60H 15,688 618,069
61 to 90 days 61%E90H 92,827 585,981
Over 90 days 90 B k 17,101,827 29,389,456
18,236,191 32,345,546

Trade and bills payables are expected to be settled

within one year.

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED

X

it i

BRABRAA

ENERERBEERN—FRBE -



30. BANK BORROWINGS

e %R KM
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—T—+F=A=+—H

30. RITEE

31 March 2017

2017 2016
—E—tF ZZT—RF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Secured: BEMR
Bank borrowings (note) RITEE (M) 51,401,458 68,703,870
Note: Biat -
At the end of reporting period, the bank borrowings were RMEER  AEEZRITEELOT :
repayable as follows:
2017 2016
—E—tF —E—RF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Borrowings repayable: JERLAT BEREE -
Within one year —FR 51,401,458 50,702,070
More than one year, BR—F  BTHBBEMRE
but not exceeding two years - 18,001,800
51,401,458 68,703,870
Less: Amount due within one year A R —ERER
included in current liabilities ZHIE EARBAEE (51,401,458)  (50,702,070)
Amount due after one year R—F & ENZKE - 18,001,800

Personal and corporate guarantees were given to banks
for certain bank loans by Mr. Yang Lei, a director of
certain subsidiaries of the Company, his spouse, and
a related company, which is beneficially owned by Mr.
Yang Lei and his spouse. Further, certain assets of Mr.
Yang Lei, his spouse and a related party (2016: certain
assets of Mr. Yang Lei, his spouse, a related party and a
related company) have been pledged to secure the bank
loans. The interest rates are ranged from 2.76%-6.50%
(2016: 2.81% to 7.00%) per annum. As at 31 March
2017, total amount of unutilised bank borrowing facility is
HK$30,000,000 (2016: nil).

GEEEERRAETHERAZES)
HEBE—RABErERERBERER
ZEBEABERE TRITERABITRME
ARABIER - /o 1HERE - HEEBR
MEF(ZE—RF:HELE HEB -
MEFRBEEARZETEE)BEETE
EEH  RBRTERREER - FHMXRAN
F276% E6.50% (ZZF—NF:281% %
7.00%) - RZE—tF=A=+—H ¥
REYAIRITEERE 4% 530,000,000 7 7T
ZE-RF T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—ZT—+H=A=+—H
31 March 2017

31. PROVISION FOR LONG SERVICE 3. REIRBEEE
PAYMENTS
The Group has recorded provision for long service AEFEAREEREBERBARBE 2 2E S
payment obligations for employees. Under the REBE REFBUREELKD ) WR
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance, the Group is AEBEETFBRATNEIHERELAEEH
obliged to make lump sum payments on cessation REELRAF2ETREE - BIBNUESE
of employment in certain circumstances to certain RBEZEARESINREE - BRN©5E
employees who have completed at least five years HREB Z2&&H & MIRGFHFE - I
of service with the Group. The amount payable HhREEEAEERNGTEMEEES
is dependent on the employees’ final salary and FHRASEMHREGEZED  c KEEL
year of service, and is reduced by entitlements EEBENEENINERESE RS
accrued under the Group's retirement plans that EE o
are attributable to contributions made by the Group.
The Group does not set aside any assets to fund
any remaining obligations.
Movement in provision for long service payments is RERBSBE2SEBHOT -
as follows:
2017 2016
—E—+tF —ZT—RF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
At 1 April and 31 March REA—BR=ZA=+—H 42,373 42,373
CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED X /it iR EHRA A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

32. DEFERRED TAXATION 32.

The movements on the net deferred tax (liabilities)/
assets during the year are as follows:

—F-—tF=A=t+-8
31 March 2017

IR H

BERB(AE) BEFERNFRAZE
g;unr -

2017 2016

—E—+tF ZT—XF

HKS$ HK$

BT BT

At 1 April RA—A (6,645,278) 1,640,340

Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 37) W BRI B AR (£ 37) —  (7,485,625)

Charged to profit or loss mneEx

(note 14) (Btet 14) (705,112) (705,112)
Charged to other comprehensive income 318 & & K

(note 18) (Ktet18) (491,690) (94,881)

Reclassified as held for sale (note 28) ENMDBERABENE (Mi28) 7,485,625 —

At 31 March MR=ZA=+—H

(356,455) (6,645,278)

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for
tax losses carried forward to the extent that
realisation of the related tax benefit through future
taxable profits is probable. As at 31 March 2017,
no deferred tax asset has been recognised in
respect of the unused tax losses (2016: nil) due to
unpredictability of future profit streams. Tax losses
of HK$121,676,320 (2016: HK$101,281,858) can
be carried forward indefinitely and the tax losses
of HK$53,271,316 (2016: HK$72,453,144) will be
expired in five years.

BB HEE M EE 2 HIAEIBRE
R MELAB R REE R B 18 2 R E T
SHEMBEMNZAR - RZT—tF
ZA=+—8  HREUTER ARG F
ZmE - MR AR AR IBEEER
BERBEEE(ZT—RTF  8) H1E
[€518121,676,3208 TL(Z & — X F ¢
101,281,858 /& 7T ) Al #E R AR 45 88 - i &
JH 518 53,271,316 B L (ZF — /R F ¢
72,453,144 B 0) SR EF A fE R ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—ET—+tH¥=A=1+—H
31 March 2017

32. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)

In addition to the amount charged to the profit
or loss, deferred tax relating to the revaluation of

the Group’s certain leasehold land and buildings

during the year has been recognised in other

comprehensive income.

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities

(prior to offsetting of balances within the same

taxable entity) during the year are as follows:

32. EEMIE ()

BRRBREMRZ SR/

HEERNEMHA

SEETHELHMEBTFERIELER
BEREMPEREAER -

BEEMAEERBE(ER-ERRE
B2 ERIIHA ) NFEARZZBIIMT ¢

Fair value adjustment
arising from (acquisition

Decelerated of subsidiaries|/reclassified
Deferred tax (liabilities)/assets FERE(ER) /LR Property revaluation accounting depreciation as held for sale Total
(KBKEAR)/EF
ARRRELERE
NEEH HREHTTE ZAVEERE L]
2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
Bt ZE0E ZR-tE 3 B-tE EF 0 IE-tf R
HK$ HKS HKS HK$ HK$ HKS HKS HK$
A AT A AT A AT V-7 AT
At 1 April HEA-H (1,862,584) (1,767,703 2,702,931 3408043 (7,485,625) —  (6,645,278) 1,640,340
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 37) WERBAANES) - - - - - [7.48562) — (7,485,625
Charged to profit or loss negs - — (1051120 (705,112) - — (1051120 (705,112)
Charged to other comprehensive income B EM2 Al (491,690) (94,881) - - - —  (491,690) (94,881)
Reclessified as held for sale EFARARELE - - - - 148565 - 7485625 -
(2,354,274) (1862584 1,997,819 2,702,931 - (7,485,625) (356,455) (6,645,278
CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED X LiZEREAER AT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—F-—tF=A=t+-8
31 March 2017

32. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued) 32. EERBIE(®)
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when EEHMBEEERBERRTHIBEAESR
there is a legally enforceable right to set off ROBMEBEAGEREAEZNRGHNITENE
current tax assets against current tax liabilities RS BIEIE AT S 7 [R) — R A #E B 1)
and when the deferred income taxes relate to FAl—EREEEHN ZTER AR
income tax levied by same taxation authority on FA BRI - U TNARER 2G50
the same taxable entity. The following amounts, BARREAREEE EREEEETEC
determined after appropriate offsetting, are shown SE
in the Group's consolidated statement of financial
position:
2017 2016
—E—tF —ZT—RF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIARE (356,455)  (6,645,278)

At the end of the reporting period, the aggregate
amount of temporary differences associated with
undistributed earnings of subsidiaries for which
deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised is
HK$1,454,379 (2016: HK$1,361,876). No liability
has been recognised in respect of these differences
because the Group is in a position to control the
timing of reversal of the temporary differences
and it is probable that such differences will not be
reversed in the foreseeable future.

REREER BRBRAGARASEAF
FRABERBREEHEEBE AL R
EE 1,454,379 (=T — XN F
1,361,876 87T ) o B A SR B BE 15 il 8
EIEREE RHEBEBBERET AN
WA R s m - S Rt A B = s R

RATE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—ET—+tH¥=A=1+—H
31 March 2017

33. SHARE CAPITAL

33. k&K

(a) Authorised and issued share capital

(a) EEREBITRA

2017 2016
Z-t% E-RF
Number of Number of
shares HK$ shares HK$
Vit ] BT RiEE AT
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each ~ #%0.057 72
Lk
At 1 April and 31 March ROA—-BR
=R=t+-H 20,000,000,000  1,000,000,000 20,000,000,000  1,000,000,000
Issued and fully paid: ERITREE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each &% 0.05872
Lk
At 1 April REUA—H 718,519,047 35,925,952 718,519,047 35,925,952
Issue of shares upon open offer  RABREBETRG
(note) (#1:) 359,259,523 17,962,976 - -
At 31 March R=A=1—H 1,077,778,570 53,888,928 718,519,047 35,925,952
Note: Wit -

On 2 September 2016, the Company completed
an open offer of issuing 359,259,523 ordinary
shares at a subscription price of HK$0.30 per
share. As a result, there was an increase in share
capital and share premium of HK$17,962,976 and
HK$89,814,881 respectively. Details of the open
offer have been disclosed in the announcements of
the Company dated 16 May 2016, 6 June 2016, 20
June 2016, 6 July 2016 and 1 September 2016, the
circular of the Company dated 8 July 2016 and the
prospectus of the Company dated 10 August 2016.

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED X {ti#iiEH & B R A 7

RZZE-—XRFAAZH  ARAER
B LA R EBE & A 70.3078 T #
17359,259,623 % & & I 2 ~ Fi 2
& o Etk - BRAS R 5 (B 2 BIE
17,962,976 /% JT 12 89,814,881 % 7T °
FHEAHBEEZHBERARRBMA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

33. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

(b)

Capital management policy

The capital structure of the Group consists of
debts, which includes the bank borrowings
disclosed in note 30, net of cash and bank
balances and equity attributable to owners of
the Company, comprising issued share capital
and reserves. The Group’s risk management
reviews the capital structure on annual basis.
As part of this review, the management
considers the cost of capital and the risks
associated with each class of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital
structure, the Group may adjust the amount of
dividends paid to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders, issue new shares or sell
assets to reduce debts.

The gearing ratio at the end of reporting period
was as follows:

—T—+t&=A=+—H
31 March 2017

33. & &)

(b)

EXEEEER

AEBZEARBREGH (2
RHIFE 30 EE 2 RITEE) - Mk
Re RIRITHEBRREARRHEE AR
D (BREETRALERE) -
AEBE 2z AREESFRNEARAR
B FRItAEH &0 B
EeEBEARANEEERRH
e

REFARHBERRE  AREH
RBABRKN ZBEEE [
BRREER - BITHRAEEE
EDARRIETS ©

2017 2016

—E—+tF —ZT—RF

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Bank borrowings (note 30) WITIEE (M2 30) 51,401,458 68,703,870

Less: Cash and bank balances

B IR MIRTTHE R

(64,645,440) (103,035,471)

Net debt E15%5 (13,243,982) (34,331,601)
Equity attributable to owners of the RATEE AEEEZR

Company 140,862,251 118,431,131

Net debt to equity ratio B FRRR AL & N/A N/A

TEA TE A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—ZT—+H=A=+—H
31 March 2017

34. RESERVES 34. f#fE
Company FIN/NG|
Employee
share-based
Share  Contributed compensation  Accumulated
premium surplus reserve losses Total
PV USTPA
R EE BAES  EEHMER ZRER b
HK$ HK$ HKS HKS HK$
Er AT AT A1 AT
At 1 April 2015 RZE-RENA-A 2,076,251,327 28,784,000 9,376,692  (1,958,658,608) 155,753,411
Loss for the year KEEBR - - —  (75640670)  (75,640,670)
Share option lapsed (note 35 BRMZARE M 35) - - (347,285) 347,285 -
At 31 March 2016 and 1 April 2016 REE-AEZAZT-BR
“E-EmA-H 2,076,251,327 28,784,000 9,029,407 (2,033,951,993) 80,112,741
Loss for the year TEEEE - - — (100,019,026) (100,019,026
Issue of share upon open offer ROBRERBARGH#33)

(note 33) 89,814,881 — - - 89,814,881
Share issuance expenses EGIT (3,692,920) - - - (3,692,920)
Share option cancelled (note 35) Bt R 35) - - (1,736,424) 1,736,424 -
At 31 March 2017 R=B-tFZA=1-H 2162373288 28,784,000 7292983 (2132,23459) 66,215,676

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED X/t Z&HEARA A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34. RESERVES (continued)

The following describes the nature and purpose of

—T—+F=A=+—H
31 March 2017

34. #E®)
AT AR R BT R

each reserve within owners’ equity: BH :

Reserve Description and purpose

A WK B

Company

bINNET|

Share premium Amount subscribed for share capital in excess of nominal value.
&1 s B REBRAERAEMECSHE -

Contributed surplus

The difference between the consolidated shareholders’ funds of the
subsidiaries at the date when they were acquired by the Company
and the nominal amount of the Company’s shares issued for the
acquisition at the time of the group reorganisation prior to the listing
of the Company's shares in 1991. Under the Companies Act 1981
of Bermuda (as amended), the contributed surplus is available for
distribution to the shareholders provided that the Company is able to
meet its obligations after distribution and the net realisable value of
the Company’s assets would not be less than the aggregate of its
liabilities, issued share capital and share premium accounts.
MEBAREARAINRENEARI z ABZEERRESEARTRO N
— AN FLEHAETEEEESRKEMNET2ARKRMEES =
B RBBE-NN-FARERRDA(KER)  BEHAKAHIIRTRE
FHERARBRDIRKEERNBITEEL  MARREEZ IR FEDT
EERNREBE BBITRARRGGER&5HERE -

Employee share-based Cumulative expenses recognised on the granting of share options to

compensation reserve

AR X 2 18 & Frf i il

the employees over the vesting period.
REESRERESER TRRERER 2B E -
Accumulated losses Cumulative net losses recognised in the statement of comprehensive
income.

RiEEE REERERERZ REERFE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—ET—+tH¥=A=1+—H
31 March 2017

34. RESERVES (continued)

Reserve

R
Group

A EH

Other reserve

H b

Other properties revaluation
reserve

Hitp X EA R

Foreign exchange reserve

HMNE R

Investment revaluation
reserve

WE S

Accumulated losses

REEE

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED X1{t#hiZ&RERBR L

34. f#E®)

Description and purpose
W B/

The difference between the consideration and the carrying amount of
the net assets attributable to the additional and reduction of interests
in subsidiaries being acquired from and disposed to non-controlling
equity holders respectively.

REEMFEEREEFBEAPBRHE TIEERERFEAZMB LR R
wIEMERA D RN 2 FEAEREBE 5 -

Gains/losses arising on the revaluation of the Group's leasehold land
and buildings (other than investment property) (see note 16). The
balance on this reserve is wholly undistributable.

EHRAEERE LM REFEREMERIMN) (RMF16)EELEZWE B
1B tREB 2 BERE /TR DK

Gains/losses arising on retranslating the net assets of foreign
operations into Hong Kong dollars.

ENMEBINEBEEFEEBIMEE 2 Bs BE -

Gains/losses arising on recognising financial assets classified as
available for sale at fair value.

BADBRBEATEEIHEENBEEMEEL 2 e, B8 -

Cumulative net losses recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

RiFE2ERERERZREBRFE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

35. SHARE OPTIONS

On 30 August 2002, the Company adopted a share
option scheme for the purpose of attracting and
retaining quality personnel and other persons who
may contribute to the business and operation of the
Group. Options may be granted without any initial
payment to persons including Directors, employees
or consultants of the Group.

On 30 August 2012, the Company adopted a new
share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”)
which was approved in the Company’'s annual
general meeting on 29 August 2012. The Share
Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of
10 years from 30 August 2012. A summary of the
rules of the Share Option Scheme is set out in the
appendix to the Company's circular dated 20 July
2012.

On 23 December 2013, options were granted to
Directors and employees of the Company and its
subsidiaries under the Share Option Scheme to
subscribe for up to 32,333,421 ordinary shares
of the Company (“2013 Share Options”). The
estimated fair value of the options granted on that
date was approximately HK$9,376,692 and the
amount was recognised as staff cost expense for
the year ended 31 March 2014.

35.

—T—+F=A=+—H
31 March 2017

EvE

RRSIWEBFTEBFEAS REMAIGEEEH
REBZEBREEBERZALT K
RN ZEZEZFN\NA=THHEMN—IF
RRAEETE - RARE R BAZHEMA)
THEMRTREAEBZ2ES  EE
SERERNZ AT o

R-ZZE——FNA=Z+H8 KNRAHEH
—IEHT AR E([RRESE]) - H
BERZE——FNAZTNLBELRAF
REBFRKeIHE - RREEIFRE
—E-—F\A=THRBF10FEHE %
PR - RREFTERA 2B EH N A
ANRBSA-_ZE——-—FtA-tHZA
R 2 i8R A o

R-ZZE—=F+-_A=-+=8" ' &AQ7A
RIERE R AR R REWE QA
CEEREERLHRRE UREHZ
32,333 421 RARREBER(=ZB—=
FRABRE]  -RZAREZRBREZHE
S AF(EELE9,376,692E T %
HOREE-_ZT-—NFE=ZA=+—HI
FEMRBEIXAME -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—ET—+tH¥=A=1+—H
31 March 2017

35. SHARE OPTIONS (Continued)

The fair value of the 2013 Share Options was

calculated using Binominal Option Pricing Model.

The inputs into the model are as follows:

Grant date

Grant date share price

Exercise price

Expected life

Expected volatility
Expected dividend yield

Risk-free interest rate

35.
B HH
B A RE
1B
TEHA 4 5
TEEPR 1R

TRHARR B =

B ) =

Expected volatility is determined by using the

historical volatility of the Company’s share price

over the previous one year. The expected life

used in the model has been adjusted, based on

management’'s best estimate, for the effects

of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and

behavioral considerations.

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED

eall]

AREE)

TR EETE A
AT EEREAGFE  AZEAEA
228

2013
—E-=F
Share Options
RIRE

23 December 2013

—E-=
+=—A=+=H
HK$0.55 per share
SRR 0558 T

HK$0.513 per share
(adjusted)
(Note)
805138 T
()

(HiaE)

10 years

10 F

80%

Nil
2.26%

BHREDERARARBE—FRE
ZESLREMERE - RAPER A
FHOREEE 2 &ERBU TS
& RETERTRREZZEFLA
o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

35. SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

—F-—tF=A=t+-8
31 March 2017

35. BRE®)

2017 2016

—E—tF ZE—RF
Weighted Weighted
Number average Number average
of share exercise of share exercise
options price options price
AR nE¥H R AT
4] TEE 2B 1T fE
HK$ HK$
BT BT

Outstanding as at 1 April REA—H

RARTTEE 31,135,887 0.570 32,333,421 0.570

Adjusted 2 3,459,542 0.513 — —

Cancelled (note (a)) BEsE (Mt (a))  (6,652,967) 0.513 — —

Lapsed (note (b)) ERM(H7E (b)) - - (1,197,534) 0.570

Outstanding as at 31 March R=A=+—H

WARTTEE 27,942,462 0.513 31,135,887 0.570

Exercisable as at 31 March RZA=+—8H

AIFT1E 27,942,462 0.513 31,135,887 0.570

(a)  During the year ended 31 March 2017, 6,652,967 (a) BEZZT—tF=ZA=+—HILHF
share options, which were held by one Director, B B HBEEHH26,652,967HR
were cancelled. The value of these cancelled share RIECD KT D tHRREZEBE
options of HK$1,736,424, was released directly to 1,736,424 BB EEBARTEEE °
accumulated losses.

(b)  During the year ended 31 March 2016, 1,197,534 (b)) BER-_ZTE-—R"REF=ZA=1+—HLF
share options, which were held by one employee, B AR EEHFEZ1,197,6341HR
were lapsed. The value of these lapsed share REDERKR - BRBRRIEZEE
options of HK$347,285 was released directly to 347,285 BT E EERARTEEE °
accumulated losses.

(c) The options outstanding at 31 March 2017 had () RZE—+tF=ZA=T—BHERTE

exercise prices of HK$0.513 (2016: HK$0.57) per
share and weighted average remaining contractual
life of 6.73 years (2016: 7.73 years).

2R BRITHEERSIZET
ZE—RF 05678 ) RINETFY
FAAHWERBE.T3FE(ZT—RE
7.73%F) -
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35.

options during the year:

mEMBRRHTE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—ET—+tH¥=A=1+—H

SHARE OPTIONS (Continued)

The following table discloses the movements of

S

AREE)

TEREBERBRERFRNZEE :

Year 2017 —E—+tEF
Number of
exercisable
Number of shares in respect of options granted options
‘ Tk
EREARREYR2REE higd
Qutstanding
Outstanding ~ Adjusted ~ Granted ~ Cancelled Lapsed ~ Reclassfied it As at
Exereise at during during during during during 31 March 31 March
Date of grant Exercisable period Vesting period pice  1Apil206  theyear  theyer  theyer  theyer  theyen m m
Hog-7E Ho3-f
N N AE-A - HE-tE
fuipg ke ] FEE  HAAE  EACEE  ERCRE  BRCHE  EREAN GRCERRE  HRGE ZRIt-R
(Note 2
Excoutve Dirctors
Efji
Cheng Yang
i
23 December 2013 23 December 2013 - Fully vested on 0513 5,981,670 465,297 - [66%2.%67) - - - -
B 22 December 2003  Uateof g
EcE i e HREREZERE
TZRZT2R FRTTEIAILC
Lei L¢i
HE
23 December 2013 23 December 2013 - Fully vested on 0513 5,388,903 598,767 - - - [5%16m) - -
B 22 December 2003  Gateof g
EcE i e AREREZERE
TZRZ12R FRTTEIAILC
LiWeipeng
23 December 2013 23 December 2013 - Fully vested on 0513 2,993,835 - - - - [28938%) - -
B 22 December 2003  Uateof g
R i e HREREZERE
ToRZT2R FRTTEIAILC
1370408 1264064 - [66R%1) - [B%81509) - -

180
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—T—+t&=A=+—H
31 March 2017

EAMBHRERME }fs

. SHARE OPTIONS (cContinued) 35. RRE®)
Year 2017 (Continued) —E—t+E(E)
Number of
exercisahle
Number of shares in respect of options granted options
e i)
EREARRASR 2 BORE hieg
Qutstanding
Oustanding ~ Adjusted ~ Granted  Cancelled Lapsed ~ Reclassified it Asat
Exercise it during during during during during  31March 31 March
Date of grant Exercisable period Vesting period price  1Apil2016  theyer  theyer  theyear  theyear  theyear il m
H22-3E o3tk
. ; BR-B . EHEJr;E HoE-tE
fting ke H ﬂEEs BA0E EMERE  EAERY  FASEE  EAERD EMERARE BAGR  ZASt-8
o 1) el
\/ u/
Inde%enggnt Non-Executive Directors
BUHIEs
Tong Jngguo
23 December 2013 B Decembe{ 013- Fully vested on 0513 299,384 33265 - - - (332.649) - -
B Qecemhe m O o gt
s TECERIE it 1
o S 2 iy
Yang Rusheng
it
23 December 2013 23 December 2013 - tuvesedon 0513 299,384 33,265 - - - (332,649) - -
B 21 December 2023 date of Q{an
FE % ﬁ’H B IREAFREE
TZRZT=R FRTZEITACICR
S0 Tat Keung
Bl
23 December 013 28 Decembe 0m3- Ftuvesedon 0513 299,384 - - - - (93 - -
22 December 2023 date of gam
ﬂt Eﬁﬁktﬁ AfnRELazE
s a2 iy
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, Gl R ... IO
Employees
#
28 December 2013 BMWNS Fully vested on 0513 1813 136380 - - - (35603 13638581 1363858
B 22 Decemte 2023 e gt
2F i o
TR E ,,ﬁfﬁ: ,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,
Other participants
susk
23 December 2013 23 December 2013 - tuvesedon 0513 - 765,091 - - - 1350 14303881 14303881
B 22 December 2003 date of g{an
e o A S e N <
TZAZ1ZE a2
316887 345950 - (66 - - e DM
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—ET—+tH¥=A=1+—H
31 March 2017

35. SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

35. BRE®)

Year 2016 —EB-RE
Number of
exercisable
Number of shares in respect of options granted options
BREZRERS R RAHE EiietiviE
Exercise  Outstandingat  Granted during  Lapsed during  Outstanding at As at
Date of grant Exercisable period Vesting period price 1 April 2015 the year theyear 31 March 2016 31 March 2016
H-g-1F HZB-7E
mp- ZRET-B HCE-RE
ik fikH 5EY fikE WATR ERERY ERE&H WATE  ZAZT-R
HKS
AT
Executive Directors
4z
Cheng Yang
B
23 December 2013 23 December 2013 - Fully vested on 057 5,987,670 - - 5,987,670 5,987,670
22 December 2023 date of grant
e E-CEPIACTER ARUASREEE
+-A-1zR BIEICETIACTIR
Lei Lei
B
23 December 2013 23 December 2013 - Fully vested on 0.57 5,388,903 - - 5,388,903 5,388,903
22 December 2023 date of grant
o3z TESEIRITER RRLAEREEE
+2A-t2R oSk g o =
Li Weipeng
X
23 December 2013 23 December 2013 - Fully vested on 057 2993835 - - 2993835 2993835
22 December 2023 date of grant
23k TEIETCACTER RAAERHEE
tZAZtzAR BIEITEfIACTIR
14,370,408 - - 14,370,408 14,370,408

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED XAt i1
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—T—+t&=A=+—H
31 March 2017

35. SHARE OPTIONS (Continued) 35. REREE)
Year 2016 (Continued) —NE(E)
Number of
exercisable
Number of shares in respect of options granted options
ERERREAIR 2 RARA plit:edd
Evercise  Outstandingat  Granted during  Lapsed during  Outstanding at As at
Date of grant Exercisable period Vesting period price 1 April 2015 the year theyear 31 March 2016 31 March 2016
H-%g-1f RZg-rE
BA-H Zh=t-H HZ%-AE
ReBH k8 588 kg HAE ERERY FREAH WATE  ZA=t-R
HKS
&
Independent Non-Executive Directors
BusunEs
Tong Jingguo
h5E
23 December 2013 23 December 2013 - Fully vested on 057 299,384 - - 299,384 299,384
22 December 2023 date of grant
TECE TRCEPCACECR AREPHRNGE
t2BZ12R FIRCZETCACTIA
Yang Rusheng
B
23 December 2013 23 December 2013 - Fully vested on 0.57 299,384 - - 299,384 299,384
~ 22 December 2023 date of grant
e S I e
+2BZ12E EIEITEAC +
ngat Keung
id
23 December 2013 23 December 2013 - Fully vested on 057 299,384 - - 299,384 299,384
~ 22 December 2023 date of grant
SE-SE CEIE{CACPTR HRYRERNEE
g BIEICETIACTIE
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, L . L O .1
Employees
L]
23 December 2013 23 December 2013 - Fully vested on 057 17,064,861 - 97,534 1,867,327 1,867,327
- 22 December 2023 date of grant
ST e e
toBoTIR e +
32,333,421 - (1,197,534) 31,135,887 31,135,887
Notes Hiat
1. The exercise price for the options granted and the 1. BB ETEELEBEERE
number of shares in respect of options granted %J]angzgx@%(aai&ﬂﬁk =B
were adjusted to reflect the impact of the open ag_g t¢ A=+—HItEE
offer during the year ended 31 March 2017. Details N RS SLE J:L$IEZE$ ==
of the above are set out in the announcement dated yaﬁﬁg_;—,\inﬂ HZ Ao
1 September 2016.
2. The Executive Directors, Independent Non-Executive 2. HITEE - BYERTESERESER

Directors and employees resigned during the year
ended 31 March 2017. The options granted to them
under the Share Option Scheme were reclassified
following the date of their resignations accordingly.

BE-_Z—+tHF=-A=+—HILFE
%ﬂf RERREAECMRERY

RIREEE RN ESBERRRES
%ﬁﬁ‘;*éﬁw
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—ET—+tH¥=A=1+—H
31 March 2017

i{ GAMBEE N

36. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 36. HEMERT

(a) During the year ended 31 March 2017, (a) HEZZT—tF=-A=+—HItF
B AEERBUE=-FLEN
Me2EMBAR BHEEREA

ndepe 1,001 57T » LEHEA RN E
total cash considerations of HK$1,001. The HERY SESENT :

the Group disposed of two wholly owned
subsidiaries to independent third parties for

net assets of these subsidiaries at the date of
disposal were as follows:

New Asia
(Shenzhen)
Wave High Leasing
International Company
Limited Limited
FEEM CRIN)
&% BR B B mMEHEE
BRAF BRAF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Net assets disposed of: FritE&ESE
Other receivables and H At JE A< 5RIE R IE T RUIB
prepayment 5,073 —
Cash and cash equivalents RehRE&FEIEAER 560 1,400
5,633 1,400
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries  HEWEBAF 2 EIE (4,633) (1,399)
Total consideration satisfied by: WA TRFI B EHERE :
Cash Re 1,000 1
Net cash inflow/(outflow) arising HEFBEMRELZRERAS
on disposal: OfH ) F%8 -
Cash received BUE S 1,000 1
Cash and cash equivalents FrtERe KRS EEEE
disposed of (560) (1,400)
440 (1,399)

184 CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED X {ti#iiEH & B R A 7
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 0
—E—+F=A=+—H

36. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 36. HEMBE AR &)

(b)

31 March 2017

On 12 January 2016, the Group entered by RZZE—NRE—A+=-H K&EE
into a sale and purchase agreement with an M—EZ2BYE=FFIL—HEE
independent third party to dispose the entire iE o MHEKRESMEEERES
issued share capital of BK/EMXMEEEEAR RBAB([REE])E2PEHITR
NEN("EMEF") for a cash consideration of K-BFEeEREAE VBT - HEER
HK$1. The disposal was completed in January ZE-RE-ATEK o BHEFNE
2016. The net assets of &A% at the date of ERHZEEFENT

disposal were as follows:

HK$
BT
Net assets disposed of: FritE&EFE
Inventories FE 135,048
Other receivables and prepayments E A R R I R FE S IR 157,111
Cash and cash equivalents HeMReEEAR 2,638,739
2,930,898
Reclassification of cumulative exchange differences ZI&ME X = HIMNEREBES
from foreign exchange reserve to profit or loss DEEER (231,378)
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RHKBARZER (2,699,519)
Total consideration satisfied by: TEFREEBRE -
Cash e 1
Net cash outflow arising HEEEMEEZRERNH
on disposal: FEE
Cash received BURE 1
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of FrHEReMREEFEER (2,638,739)
(2,638,738)

ANNUAL REPORT 2017
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—ET—+tH¥=A=1+—H
31 March 2017

36. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

36. HEKWB AR (&)

(c) During the year ended 31 March 2016, the (c) Eﬁf::;ﬁ—/_\iiﬂé‘\f’—ati
Group disposed of several subsidiaries to K ﬁ%ﬁﬂ%&;ﬁ\:ﬁﬁgaqi
independent third parties for total cash B LR - 8 5% f 7382,355

_ , . o B - RENBARIRNEERHZ
considerations of HK$82,355. The net liabilities BEEEOT
of these subsidiaries at the date of disposal
were as follows:
HK$
BT
Net liabilities disposed of: FrifEaE 58
Cash and cash equivalents ReERFEFEEER 414,373
Other payables E b RS 3RIR (457,340)
(42,967)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HERB AR Z W 125,322
Total consideration satisfied by: LATF A B EBARE -
Cash B 82,355
Net cash outflow arising HEFEMEA 2RSSR
on disposal: FEE
Cash received BWEE 82,355
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of FrtERekBEeSEIEE (414,373)
(332,018)

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED

X
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E—+HF=A=+—H

31 March 2017

37. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES IN 37. RBEFEWBHE LA
PRIOR YEAR
On 5 August 2015, the Group completed the RZZE—RAFENARAB  XEETAK
acquisition of 51% equity interests of the BERIEEEBZ51%ME - BREAA
Great Group at an aggregate consideration of R 31,435,514 70 (8 % 72 39,303,823
RMB31,435,514 (equivalent to HK$39,303,823). BIT) °
The Great Group is principally engaged in the BIHEEEEZENERTRHEETER
operation of sludge and sewage treatment plants in SSIKERIE o
the PRC.
The fair values of net assets acquired at the date of EWBEEFERNBERASR 2 ATEEB
acquisition are as follows: mr
HK$
BT
Fair values of assets and liabilities acquired: BEWEEERBECATEE
Intangible assets mEE 627,109
Property, plant and equipment L/ E YR 3,252,790
Interests in associates el o 39,293,270
Inventories FE 197,217
Other receivables and prepayments E tib pE Uk Gk IE K TR AN /08 283,522
Amounts due from related parties FEUR BRI A T FUA 250,060
Amounts due from associates JRE LS R R RIE 5,542,757
Cash and cash equivalents REMREEFBEIAE 5,078,123
Trade payables FEER (841,158)
Other payables and accruals HERRIE R ERTE A (8,393,442)
Deferred tax liabilities ELERIBAE (7,485,625)
37,804,623
Non-controlling interests eI i (18,524,266)
Net assets acquired EWEEETE 19,280,357
Goodwill S 20,023,466
Total consideration satisfied by: LAT5 7 5B EERE
Cash B 39,303,823
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition: WIS SRIRFTE A v RS H 558 -
Cash consideration paid BENBEeRE (39,303,823)
Cash and cash equivalents acquired FrigIR € MRS SEER 5,078,123
(34,225,700)

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 =% —+ F F 187



188

e MW RN

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—ET—+tH¥=A=1+—H
31 March 2017

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED X1{t#hiZ&RERBR L

37. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES IN

PRIOR YEAR (Continued)

The goodwill arising on the acquisition is
attributable to broaden the revenue base of the
Group so as to enhance the overall competitive
ability of the Group.

The goodwill of approximately HK$20,023,466 was
impaired during the year ended 31 March 2016.
(note 19)

Since its acquisition, the Great Group had no
revenue contributed to the Group’s revenue and
incurred a loss of HK$5,923,889 for the year ended
31 March 2016. Had the above acquisition been
the combination taken place on 1 April 2015, the
revenue and loss before income tax expenses of
the Group for the year ended 31 March 2016 would
have been HK$114,755,340 and HK$138,719,298
respectively. The pro forma information is for
illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an
indication of revenue and results of operations of
the Group that actually would have been achieved
had the acquisition been completed on 1 April
2015, nor is it intended to be a projection of future
results.

The Group has engaged Vigers, an independent
valuer, to assess the fair value of the assets
and liabilities of the Great Group at the date of
acquisition.

The acquisition-related costs of HK$292,557 have
been expensed and are included in other operating
expenses.

The Group has elected to measure the non-
controlling interests in the Great Group the
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets.

The fair value of trade and other receivables,
equivalent to its gross contractual amount as shown
above, is considered as fully recoverable.

eall]
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38. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Elite-China Culture Development Limited
(“Elite-China”) a 60% owned subsidiary of the
Company, has material non-controlling interests
("NCI1"). Summarised financial information in
relation to the NCI of Elite-China before intra-group

—T—+t&=A=+—H
31 March 2017

38. FFIERER

RRBFEA60% R MERRRES
RXbERARAR([REEE]DHEA
BRI ([ ERER]) - 5 H
REFRNEE R HA 2 FFEBE R
ZHBENRERRIAT

eliminations, is presented below:

2017 2016
—E—+F —E-RF
HK$ HK$
B BT
For the year ended 31 March BE=A=1+t—HLEE
Revenue e zs 32,369,742 44,243,143
(Loss)/profit for the year REE(EE), &5 (2,875,742) 1,650,005
Other comprehensive income Hab 2w (397,115) (370,271)
Total comprehensive income AFEE2EWZLEE
for the year (3,272,857) 1,179,734
Total comprehensive income for DEEIEERERZFA
the year allocated to NCI EHEM BT (1,309,143) 471,894
For the year ended 31 March BE=A=1+—HLEE
Cash flows from operating activities REEFZHERE 2,002,419 40,442,438
Cash flows from investing activities REEZBZRERE (3,501,391) (2,171,562)
Cash flows from financing activities MEFHCRERE (1,547,550)  (43,028,949)
Net cash outflows REe R FE (3,046,522) (4,758,073)
2017 2016
—B—tF A
HK$ HK$
B BT
As at 31 March R=A=+—8
Current assets MENE E 26,830,634 34,577,005
Non-current assets EmENE E 61,341,661 81,371,995
Current liabilities DEE=RET (114,536,860) (124,713,092)
Non-current liabilities EmMBAE —  (14,327,616)
Net liabilities BfEFRE (26,364,565) (23,091,708)
Accumulated non-controlling interests ~ ZRi&IEIRpEZ (11,715,628)  (10,406,485)
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—ET—+tH¥=A=1+—H
31 March 2017

38. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

(Continued)

Great Research, a 51% owned subsidiary of the
Company, has material NCI. Summarised financial
information in relation to the NCI of Great Research
before intra-group eliminations, is presented below:

38. FIERERE)

ANRTFHA b1 % e 2 B A RIS IR E

RARMBBAEERFZRES - AHAS
I P IR R BHR A 5= B ¥ 85 A 2 FRIE AR
a2 MBENBESRNT

2017 2016
—E—+F AN S
HK$ HK$
BT BT
For the year ended/period from BE=HA=+—-HL&EE
5 August 2015 (date of acquisition) BE-ZE—HEFN\AEA
to 31 March (LERE)E
=A=+—RZHE
Loss for the period AHBfEE1E (4,940,151) (5,923,889)
Other comprehensive income H2ERas (317,794) (440,884)
Total comprehensive income for the AHEEmE KL
period (5,257,945) (6,364,773)
Total comprehensive income for the DA E IR 2 B
period allocated to NCI ZEW BT (2,576,393) (3,118,739)
For the year ended/period from BZE=A=+—-HLEE
5 August 2015 (date of acquisition) BE=-ZE—HENAHA
to 31 March (LR E
ZA=+—BRZHAE
Cash flows from operating activities KEXBrRERnE (66,710) (4,632,415)
Cash flows from investing activities wEEESzHEeRE 1,937,284 10,036
Net cash inflows/(outflows) BeRA/ (RE)F8E 1,870,574 (4,522,379)
2017 2016
—E—tF —E—REF
HK$ HK$
B BT
As at 31 March R=A=+—8H
Current assets MENVEE 8,741,938 6,986,337
Non-current assets EMBEE 32,113,486 38,754,055
Current liabilities mEBBE (8,5627,822) (8,154,845)
Non-current liabilities FEmEBIE (7,485,625) (7,485,625)
Net assets BEFE 24,841,977 30,099,922
Accumulated non-controlling interests ~ ZiEIFIEARER 12,172,569 14,748,962

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED X 1k i 15
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39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Save as those disclosed elsewhere in the financial
statements, significant related party transactions
during the year are as follows:

(a) Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of Directors and other

e BHRRME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—ET—+#=A=+-8

39. BEALXRS

31 March 2017

BUBHRREMEOZBEREEN  F
WETZERBBEALZSHIT ¢

(a) EEEIEABFHM

TR BEREMTBEEEABZ

members of key management personnel BT -
during the year were as follows:
2017 2016
=E2—tF —=TRF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Salaries and other short-term FehEmEieENas
monetary benefits 11,663,690 16,434,500
Post-employment benefits BB 12 1R A 106,548 108,000
11,770,238 16,542,500

(b) On 8 June 2015, the Group entered into a
sale and purchase agreement with Guangwei
to acquire 9.5% of the subscribed capital
contribution of Lianshun at a consideration
equivalent to HK$32,000,000 in RMB (note
22(b)).

Guangwei is an associate of Ms. Wang
Ming, a then substantial shareholder of the
Company, holding approximately 12.25% of
the issued shares of the Company and the
spouse of Mr. Tsoi Tung who has resigned
as Executive Director and the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company on 15 August 2016.

b) RZZTE—HFANB  X&EH
BEMET B B W A U B
IERHEERFE295%  RER
32,000,000 7T 2 A B 2 58 (P

5E22(b)) °

EBRAEARRERETERRLTE
ZEBEBBEERARARBBITRG L
12.25%  BREMLEZRE - &
ErREEBRZZE—A"FENA+AH
BEARAMITERRITHRAR)

ZHEEA o
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31 March 2017

40. NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED 40. HEBEESREXRNE
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Reconciliation of loss before income tax expense to BrRETISTAS AT IB R E EKFTA 2
net cash used in operations is as follows: B HBEHEENT -
2017 2016
—E—t& “E-RE
HK$ HK$
B BT
Loss before income tax expense BRETSHALAIEE
— From continuing operations — REBERLEK (88,345,983) (105,763,599
— From discontinued operation — REEKILER (4,927,585)  (27,283,120)
(93,273,568)  (133,046,719)
Interest income MEKA (4,215,179) (1,363,929)
Interest expenses FlERY 3,196,095 3,371,646
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME - BERFEINE 13,803,538 15,969,512
Amortisation of intangible assets B EE B 116,883 443,892
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HENE  BERREZ
equipment, net BE 8 1,668,750 696,645
Impairment loss on goodwill EEZREBE - 20,023,466
Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment ¥ - BB K& & 2 AEESE - 993,162
Written down of inventories to net realisable WRFEENEREE
value - 193,260
Impairment loss on trade and other receivables — JEWE T R E b FIB 2 W EEE 4,570,788 41,274,307
Impairment loss on intangible assets B EEZRERE - 285,882
Realised gain on disposal of available-for-sale HETHEEREZEER
investments W - (14,266,465)
Fair value (gain)/loss on investment properties & E&W¥ 7 A EE(U) /EiE (292,324) 79,897
Losses on disposal of subsidiaries, net HENBARZER  $58 6,032 2,574,197
Share of losses of associates AEBE R RIBE 4,613,445 167,356
Gain on deregistration of an associate — R R R e (243,456) —
Deferred income GFEON (3,430,866) (492,205)
CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED X /L8R & AR 2 7



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 March 2017

EAMBHRERME i‘

40. NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED 40. mEBERERME &)
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(Continued)
2017 2016
—E—tF —ZT—RF
HK$ HK$
BT =
Operating loss before working LEESEEN 2 KEEE
capital changes (73,479,862) (63,096,096)
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FERL, () 2,821,921  (1,233,583)
Increase in trade and other receivables JE IS SR N E A SR IR 8 h0 (72,432,261) (15,422,550)
(Decrease)/Increase in trade, bills and ERER - ZRRHEMBUE
other payables CR),/ 1 hn (3,776,961) 30,489,262
Net cash used in operations REXEBFAZE 35 (146,867,163) (49,262,967)
41. LEASES 41. BH
Operating leases — lessee REREHN — EBA
The Group leases certain properties under operating REBRIBEEHOEES TWE - %
leases. The leases for properties usually run for EMEROZVIREABBE A —Z <
an initial period of one to sixteen years (2016: F(ZE—RF: —ZFEt+F) - Hez
one to sixteen years). Lease payments are usually ZTETETRMTERES - HEALYBIE
negotiated to reflect market rentals. None of the s ARFE o

leases includes contingent rentals.

The lease payments recognised as an expense are EEZAEYHZEBEWMT -
as follows:
2017 2016
—E—tF T REF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Minimum lease payments =EHE 34,343,198 41,615,998
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—ET—+tH¥=A=1+—H
31 March 2017

41. LEASES (continued)

41.

The total future minimum lease payments are due

as follows:

REIE-D)
KRR S R T EARIEIE -

2017 2016

—E—t& ZE—RF

HK$ HK$

B BT

Not later than one year TER—F 23,802,419 28,716,649
Later than one year and not later than five BB —FETERRF

years 56,106,376 76,591,138

More than five years BBAF 26,006,936 58,991,848

105,915,731 164,299,635

Operating leases — Lessor

The Group sub-leases its properties in the PRC
under operating leases. Sub-leases of properties in

the PRC usually run for one to three years (2016:

one to five years). Lease payments are usually

negotiated to reflect market rentals. None of the

lease includes contingent rentals.

The minimum lease

receivables under

non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

EEEY — HAA

AEBERBEERNAHERTEZY
X -RPEI>ANEXHOBER =
=F(ZF-RF: —E2RF) - HEZ
ATATRRTELS - SIEEHNERE

BETARSEEEY S RERKES
mT

2017 2016
—E—tF —Z—KF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Not later than one year TER—F 16,685,926 21,180,766
Later than one year and not later than BR—FENERRF
five years 14,581,348 15,994,416
More than five years BilhF - 560,544
31,267,274 37,735,726
CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED Xt iZ8& &5 R A 7
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31 March 2017

42. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 42. EREIE
2017 2016
—E—+tF T RF
HK$ HK$
B BT
Contracted for but not provided BRI ABREE
— Commitments for the — W BB M iR 2 I
acquisition of plant and
equipment 8,763,088 15,578,110
— Capital commitment for — REDPEIE EHRAE
investment in unlisted H 2 BIAFSE
equity
securities in the PRC 696,115 741,674
9,459,203 16,319,784

43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and
currency risks arises in the normal course of the
Group’s business. The Group is also exposed to
equity price risk arising from its equity investment
in other entities.

43. B E kB

RAKE 2 AREHBRETELEZRR
BREERR  RBESER - FXE
R E¥ER  AEETEHEERE
ME R < RARERELE ZRAERR

LA
a0
ZON

o
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

Policy for managing these risks is set by the Board

following recommendations from the chief financial

officer. Certain risks are managed centrally, while

others are managed locally following guidelines

communicated from the management. The policy

for each of the above risks is described in more

detail below.

(a)

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that counterparties
will default on their contractual obligations
resulting in financial loss to the Group. The
Group exposes to credit risk from loans and
receivables. The Group has adopted a credit
policy to monitor and mitigate credit risk
arising from trade debtors. Credit limit is
regularly reviewed and approved by head of
credit control. The Group assesses credit risk
based on customers’ past due records, trading
history, financial conditions or credit ratings.
The Group is not exposed to concentration of
credit risk. Please refer to note 25 for further
analysis of credit risk associated with trade
and other receivables.

The credit risk on bank deposits is limited
because the counterparties are banks with
high credit-ratings assigned by international
credit-rating agencies.

(b) Liquidity risk
The Group’'s objective is to ensure there
are adequate funds to meet commitments
associated with its financial liabilities. Cash
flows of the Group are closely monitored by
senior management on an ongoing basis.
CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED X1t 12 & AR A 7
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MW R

—T—+t&=A=+—H
31 March 2017

43. BB EKREE &)

(Continued)
(b) Liquidity risk (Continued) (b) ARBELERRE)
The contractual maturities of financial liabilities PR BEZANEIHBEERDT
are shown as below:
Total More than More than
contractual Within Tyearbut 2 years but
Carrying  undiscounted 1 year or less than less than More than
amount  cash flows  on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years
& it ik
AHRES -ERg -8 MER
HEE HELB EEX DRAE DREE BBLE
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT BT BT
2017 “E-tF
Non-derivatives: Hfix
Trade and other payables ERSHRAMNE  109,105524 109,105,524 109,105,524 - - -
Amounts due to non- ERHBA AR
controlling shareholders of KB FE
subsidiaries 47,667,960 47,667,960 47,667,960 - - -
Amounts due to related BB LI
parties 31,898,038 31,898,038 31,898,038 - - -
Amount due to ultimate EREERAA
holding company B 3,267,530 3,267,530 3,267,530 - - -
Bank borrowings HilE 51,401,458 51665036 51,665,036 - - -
243,340510 243,604,088 243,604,088 - - -
2017 “E-tE
Financial guarantee: HBER:
Issued maximum amount BRI EAERE
guaranteed - 39,424,000 39,424,000 - - -
2016 “T5E
Non-derivatives: SEATE -
Trade, bills and EHER RER
other payables EfpsE 116,765,977 116,765,977 116,765,977 — — —
Amounts due to non- EMERRRREE
controlling shareholders 53,594,160 53,594,160 53,594,160 - - -
Amounts due to related ERBEALIE
parties 27,051,879 27,051,879 27,051,879 — — —
Bank borrowings HiTlE 68703870 72,012,668 52595494 19,417,174 - -
266,115,886 269,424,684 250,007,510 19,417,174 - —
2016 “Z5E
Financial guarantee: BRER:
Issued maximum amount BRI EAERE
guaranteed — 42,004,200 42,004,200 - - -
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(b)

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED X1{t#hiZ&RERBR L

Liquidity risk (Continued)

On 25 November 2015, FFIRHIEEETXEGR
7~ 7] (Nanjing Yinkun Investment Corporation*)
(the “Guarantor”), an indirect non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company as the
guarantor, entered into a guarantee agreement
(the “Guarantee Agreement”), pursuant to
which the Guarantor agreed to guarantee the
repayment obligations of @ Fimum /BB EE
ARRAF] (Nanjing Ruiyi Heng Tong Technology
Development Co., Ltd.*), a company established
in the PRC and a potential business partner of
the Guarantor, as the borrower under the loan
agreement in respect of the loan facility for the
principal amount of up to RMB35,000,000 at a
floating rate in accordance with the benchmark
lending rate of one-to-five year term loan as
accounted by the People’'s Bank of China, subject
to adjustments, which was secured by certain
properties in the PRC and was provided by a
financial institution in the PRC in October 2015.
Such facility shall be matured in 36 months and
repaid by six (6) semi-annual installments and its
outstanding balance as at 31 March 2017 was
RMB20,000,000 (2016: RMB35,000,000). The
estimated fair value of the financial guarantee
is HK$nil (2016: HK$nil) which was arrived on
the basis of valuation carried out by APAC for
the years ended 31 March 2017 and 2016. The
management of the Group determined that the
fair value of the financial guarantee is minimal.

Details of the Guarantee Agreement were
disclosed in the Company’s announcement
dated 14 June 2016.

eall]
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(c)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest
rate risk due to the fluctuation of the prevailing
market interest rate on bank balances and
variable-rate bank loans.

The Group is also exposed to fair value
interest rate risk which relates primarily to
its cash and cash equivalents, pledged bank
deposits and bank borrowings which are at
floating rates. The Group currently does not
use any derivative contracts to hedge the
interest rate risk. However, management
will consider hedging significant interest rate
exposure should the need arise.

Interest rate profile

The following table details interest rates
analysis that management of the Group
evaluates the interest rate risk.

—T—+F=A=+—H
31 March 2017

BEREREREZ)

(c)

FMRER

HRIRITESBR I BIRITERZER
TSN EKE  AEERHRS
mMENXER o

AR E N S B AR F R
AREzEekBReFEER R
WIRTHERRBITEEERZAT
BEMREE - NEE B 5 &)
EROTET RGO IHHXRER
AW BEEKESRREEH T
EXRMEER

FIFEEE

TRV AEEE IR G R
@2 MR o

2017 2016
“E—tF SN
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%) HK$ rate (%) HK$
EBFAE(%) BT EEFE%) BT
Financial assets HBEE
Fixed-rate financial assets: ERUKEE
— Loan receivables - [ElRER 3.86% 91,782,094 3.00% 28,369,700
— Pledged bank deposits - BEBEAER 1.97% 33,791,775 2.62% 43,684,368
Floating-rate financial assets: FEYKEE
— Cash and cash equivalents - BeRAeEE
JHE 0.16% 28,553,665 0.16% 57,051,103
— Pledged bank deposits - BEREIRER 0.01% 2,300,000 0.01% 2,300,000
Financial liabilities 5 3=X
Fixed-rate financial liabilities: EEHBAR
— Bank borrowings - FIEE 4.80% 21,401,458 4.29% 50,702,070
Floating-rate financial liabilities: ~ FEHKEE :
— Bank borrowings - BIEE 3.10% 30,000,000 6.23% 18,001,800
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(c)

Interest rate risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The following table indicates the approximate
change in the results after tax in response to
reasonably possible changes in interest rate
to which the Group has significant exposure
at the end of reporting period. In determining
the effect on results after tax on the next
accounting period until next end of reporting

R EEE)

(c)

FZmb(E)
MBET T

TRETNBEARRTRREGEY
AEBEASZEARBRZNERZAE

AR MEL ZMOES - RE
EHBRBREEN T —EEHRE
BEET—EHRERRIFER - K
SEEEERRMNENFEHARS
REBRAEEMESERFTE -

period, management of the Group assumes RIE—+FRZZF-RFMER
that the change in interest rate had occurred ZIE R RER N A -
at the end of reporting period and all other
variables remain constant. There is no change
in the methods and assumptions used in 2017
and 2016.
2017 2016
—E—+tF —T—KF
HK$ HK$
BT )
Increase by 100 basis points H#H0 100 {EE 24 8,537 413,493
Decrease by 100 basis points S 100 EE 2L 254,084 88,735
(d) Currency risk (d) EBE¥RRE
The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and REEFZRBEERPHEE - K
the PRC with most of the transactions settled BHnRZXSENEE BB LT
in their respective functional currencies in ZHBMREEELE - At - A&
which the group entities operate. Therefore &I R SMNE[E R B AL E KR
the Group does not have significant exposure [2\Bg o
to risk resulting from changes in foreign
currency exchange rates.
CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED Xt iZ8& &5 R A 7
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(e)

Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price changes
arising from equity instruments classified as
available-for-sale equity securities. They are
listed on the Stock Exchange and have been
chosen based on their longer term growth
potential and are monitored regularly for
performance against expectations.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis on equity price risk
includes the Group's financial instruments,
which fair value or future cash flows will
fluctuate because of changes in their
corresponding or underlying asset’s equity
price. If the prices of the respective equity
instruments had been 50% (2016: 50%)
higher/lower, the other component of equity
would increase/decrease by HK$10,966,156
(2016: HK$6,395,668).

—T—+F=A=+—H
31 March 2017

43. BB EKREE &)

(e)

R A (B 1% L B

AEERH D RAAHEERAE
HZBRATEAMEL Z RANERE
B RERATARBRM LT
HERBREZERENER - M
FRREFRRTEEMZINEE -

BEEDHT

BRAERRRZSRESTEIER
SEEMITA FHEeMIAY
AFEBEIAKREREFSERN
HE YRR H AR AL E
ZRRAEREBFTE o (HIARAAA
TAZE®EFR/THB0%(=ZF
— 7N 1 50%) ¢ BIE AR AR E o
#3200 354> 10,966,156 78 7T (=
T — /X% : 6,395,668/87T) °

44. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS 44, IRERE D 2K EER MK
AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY EEME
CATEGORY
The following table shows the carrying amount TRETRMTANVTRTZHBEER
and fair value of financial assets and liabilities as BEZEEHEMRATEE:
defined in note 4(i):
2017 2016
—E—tF “T-RF
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
amount value amount value
HREE AYEE RHE(E NEEE
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
B B BT BT
Financial assets MBEE
Loans and receivables R R EWER 187,408,875 187,408,875 169,559,117 169,559,117
Available-for-sale financial assets ~ A[ftHEFEEE 50,367,334 50,367,334 43,087,358 43,087,358
Financial liabilities B®EE
Financial liabilities measured REEN A E L
at amortised cost UBBaE 243,340,510 243,340,510 266,115,886 266,115,886
ANNUAL REPORT 2017 T L EER
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31 March 2017

44. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY
CATEGORY (cContinued)

(a) The fair values of financial assets and financial

liabilities are determined as follows:

The fair value of financial assets and
financial liabilities with standard terms
and conditions and traded on active liquid
markets are determined with reference
to quoted market prices.

The fair value of other financial assets
and financial liabilities are determined
in accordance with generally accepted
pricing models based on discounted
cash flow analysis using prices from
observable current market transactions
and dealer quotes for similar instruments.

(b) The following table provides an analysis of

financial instruments carried at fair value by

level of fair value hierarchy:

Level 1:

Level 2:

Level 3:

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED X1{t#hiZ&RERBR L

Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or
liabilities;

Inputs other than quoted prices
included within Level 1 that are
observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (i.e. as prices) or
indirectly (i.e. derived from prices);
and

Inputs for the asset or liability that
are not based on observable market
data (unobservable inputs).

eall]

44. BER B D 2 KEER MK
BEHME®)

(a) MBEERMBRAEBEZAFEED
BTIIREEE -

o BBBREMLERMEHFLRE
BEARBUTNSEE MK
BEMVMBREZAFER
T2ETEREET -

s HMHMBEERMBAEGZ
NFEEDNREARZTEE
B AHRAEUTAEZA
BERATMEXZERLE
XMEFERRRSRESNT

(b) TREIIRAFEEINRZESHT
BN TFEEBRRBZOM :

BH&R1: MHREEXEENE
BTG 2 mETTH
)

EBH2: ERIBESEENXE
B2 B (BB )k
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N 5 &

B&3: WIFNATEBETSHE
REEZEELRRR
ABR(THAEREA
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44, SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

REMB®RMTE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E—+HF=A=+—H

31 March 2017

44. BRI B 2B EER MK

AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY BEME®)
CATEGORY (Continued)
(b) (Continued) (b) (#&)
2017
—E—+tF
Available-for-sale financial A {tHERKEE
assets Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
B&1 E#2 E#3 R
Listed securities in Hong ~ && LH&EH -
Kong, at fair value mRTEE 21,932,312 - — 21,932,312
2016
—E-RF
Available-for-sale financial A ftHENKEE
assets Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
B4 1 B2 B3 4
Listed securities in Hong ~ &/& &S
Kong, at fair value BAFER 12,791,336 — — 12,791,336
ANNUAL REPORT 2017 =~ —+ & £ %
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 March 2017

45. HOLDING COMPANY STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 March 2017

45. ER DTz MR R

R-E—+F=A=+—H

2017 2016
ZE—tF —ZTRF
Notes HK$ HK$
BiaE BT BT
Assets EE
Non-current assets ERBEE
_Interests in subsidiaries | Mi@narlciEm 46 115,757,520 115,756,748
Current assets RBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries  FEUFIE A T IE 46 550,271,917 560,207,081
Other receivables H th fE Y FR I8 11,651 16,621
Cash and cash equivalents HeMReEMEIAR 2,554,388 23,542,073
Total current assets  aBAEEE 552,837,956 583,765,775
Totalassets ~~  ®E#&#E 668,595,476 699,522,523
Liabilities =L
Current liabilities RBERE
Other payables H b e kI8 4,268,689 2,135,826
Amounts due to subsidiaries AN EENGIE ¢ 46 514,222,183 551,348,004
Bank borrowings RITEE 30,000,000 30,000,000
Total current liabilities mEBEER 548,490,872 583,483,830
Net current assets ~ #a®B#EFE 000000 4,347,084 281,945
Total assets less current EEAERABAER
liabilities 120,104,604 116,038,693
NET ASSETS BERE 120,104,604 116,038,693
Capital and reserves BAR #EE
Share capital [N 33 53,888,928 35,925,952
Reserves EE 34 66,215,676 80,112,741
TOTAL EQUITY R 120,104,604 116,038,693

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED
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46. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

46.

The amounts due from/(to) subsidiaries are

unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand,

except for the following:

Amount due from a subsidiary of HK$7,200,000
(2016: HK$7,200,000) which borne interest at 5%

(2016: 5%) per annum.

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries

as at 31 March 2017.

e BHRRME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—ET—+#=A=+-8

o) INCR

31 March 2017

FEY, (RS ) Bt B8 2 B R T 4R

RENRARERER  HT AR

HN

REFIERE% (CTE—NE 5% B2
JiE L — FS1 M B & B 3K 1 7,200,000 78 7T
(ZZE—7}E : 7,200,000#7T) °

W=E—tF=A=+—8 IEWE

NEZFIRMT -

Form of Place of Principal activities Issued share capital/ Percentage of
Name husiness structure incorporation and place of operation paid-up registered capital  ownership interests held
B EBERKE  HRAILE TEEBRLENE BRIRA/ BREMER FeRRERERAM
directly indirectly
BB B
Golden Island (Management] Limited Limited liability ~ Hong Kong Provision of management 10,000 ordinary shares of 100.0 -
company services to group HK$10,000
companies in Hong Kong
£5(ER)RRAT RREfLR  FE RERRUEEERET 10,000 10,000/ 7.2 &k
SELT
Welly Champ International Limited Limited liability ~ BVI Investment holding 236.13 ordinary shares of %38 -
company in Hong Kong USS1 each
EEERERAA EREFRT  EBRAEE RERRERR 236.13REREE 1 T
LEER
Win Success Enterprises Limited Limited liability ~ BVI Investment holding 100 ordinary shares of 100.0 -
company in Hong Kong US$1 each
FECFRRAT EREFAE  EBRLEE REERARR 100REREE 1 £T EBR
Wide Stand Holdings Limited Limited liability ~ BVI Investment holding 100 ordinary shares of 100.0 -
company in Hong Kong US$1 each
EUZRERAR EREFAE  EBRLEE NEBRARR 100REREE 1% S8R
Baron Productions and Artiste Limited liability ~ Hong Kong Music production and 100 ordinary shares of HK§100 - 510
Management Company Limited company artist management
in Hong Kong
(ERERENERERAT BREfMAR  B# RERUSZLREREAEE  100R100ETLERR
Golden Capital Entertainment Company ~ Limited liabiity ~ BVI Investment holding 10 ordinary shares of - 1000
Limited company in Hong Kong US$1 each
SHREBRERLA EREMAT  EBRRES WEERERR 0RERARE 1%L EER
Golden Capital Entertainment Limited Limited liability ~ Hong Kong Investment holding 1 ordinary share of HKS1 - 1000
company in Hong Kong
SHRERRAT EREfMAR  B# REBRARR 1R1EL, ERR
Golden Island Bird's Nest Chiu Chau Limited liability ~ Hong Kong Property holding 12,000 ordinary shares of - 1000
Restaurant (Causeway Bay) Limited company in Hong Kong HK$1,200,000
SEREAMEE(HEL)ARAA RREELR A% RERRENZ 12,0008 1,200,000/ 7.2
B

ANNUAL REPORT 2017
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—ET—+tH¥=A=1+—H
31 March 2017

i{ NI T el

46. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 46. M AR 2 HE=E (#)

Form of Place of Principal activities Issued share capital/ Percentage of
Name husiness structure incorporation and place of operation paid-up registered capital  ownership interests held
2] EBERKE  ERAILE TEEBRLENE BRRA/ BRERER FERERRERAM
directly indirectly
B& B
Solid Sound Productions Limited Limited liability  Hong Kong Music production and artist 100 ordinary shares of HK$100 - 510
company management in Hong Kong
UhAEERERRAT EREfFAR AR RERUSSLRERBAEE  100R100ETLERR
Media Sound Technology Limited Limited liability ~ Hong Kong Investment holding 2 ordinary shares of HKS2 100.0 -
company in Hong Kong
HERRHERAR BREALY B NEERARR 2R2kET ERR
Song Labs Company Limited Sino-foreign equity The PRC Intellectual property Renminbi ("RMB") - 100.0
("Song Labs") joint venture with enforcement activities 56,250,000
limited liability in the PRC
company
YRRERBEERNARDARR])  MISEAREE 4E WNRENSREERERSE  ARE(ARE))
A 56,250,000
Well Allied Investments Limited Limited liability ~ BVI Investment holding 159.57 ordinary shares of - 688
company in Hong Kong USS1 each
FRREERAT EREFRE  EBRKEE REERESR 15957 RERARE 1 T2
EER
China Music Video Broadcast (Shenzhen) ~ Wholly foreign-  The PRC Karaoke license fee collection ~ RMB15,489,940 - 688
Company Limited (“China Music”) owned enterprise busingss in the PRC
with limited
ligbility
nEER(RI)ERAA(HE]) NAEAEERR HE RRERERE 0K ARE 15,489 94070
BfFAT RirEBRIERE
Witty Idea Finance Company Limited Limited liability ~ Hong Kong Money lending business 1 ordinary share of HKS1 - 1000
company in Hong Kong
BUEEMHERAA EREfFRE B4 HEBETHERE 1R B2 ERR
Elite-China Limited liability ~ Hong Kong Investment holding 10,000 ordinary shares of - 60.0
company in the PRC HK$10,000
TEER EREfFRE B4 WRERERR 10,0008 10,000 7.2 £
Nanjing Creative Eastern 8 Zone Taiwan, Hong ~ The PRC Property sub-easing RMB14,000,000 - 60.0
Technology Co. Ltd* Kong and Macau business in the PRC
Corporation-
owned enterprise
with limited
liability company
BREER\BHRERELLT AEREABERR 1E RRERENRAREH AR 14,000,000

EART

eall]
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46. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

e BHRRME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—ET—+#=A=+-8

31 March 2017

46. B AT 2 REHE (&)

Form of Place of Principal activities Issued share capital/ Percentage of
Name business structure incorporation and place of operation paid-up registered capital  ownership interests held
B $BRRKS  BRAILE TEERREEHE BEARE/BRiERER FaRaRERA
directly indirectly
BE Bt
Nanjing Yinkun Investment Corporation®  Limited liability ~ The PRC Property sub-leasing RMB10,000,000 - 60.0
company business in the PRC
HRRAREERERAT BRERAE  9E BV EEES AR10,000,0007
BoRen Culture Development Limited Limited liability ~ BVI Investment holding 1 ordinary share of US$1 100.0 -
company in the PRC
BEXERERAR EREFRT  EBRKEE WRERERR \REEI X ERR
China Resources Advertising & Exhibition ~ Limited liabity ~ Hong Kong Exhibition-related services 100,000 ordinary shares of 100.0 -
Company Limited company in Hong Kong HK$100,000
PRAREREARAT 1 GINTI REARAREABRY 100,000 100,007
New Asia Media Development Limited ~ Limited liability ~ BVI Investment holding 1 ordinary share of USS1 100.0 -
company in Hong Kong
FolRRERERAT EREFAT  EBRNES HEBRARR \REE ET B8R
Kai Han Asia-Pacific (Holdings) Limited ~ Limited liability BV Property holding 100 ordinary shares of 100.0 -
company in Korea US$1 each
BREA(BR)BRAA EREFAT  EBRLES EERENE 100REREE X7 5BR
Kai Han Travel Co., Limited Limited liability ~ Korea Travel and travel related 50,000 ordinary shares of - 100.0
company business in Korea KRW10,000 each
BREfLRE  EH REANSRERREEE 50000 REREE10,000EE
25 JEBR
Great Research Limited liability ~ The PRC Operation of sludge and RMB70,000,000 - 510
company sewage treatment plants
in the PRC
BRERRER RREfLR 98 RRESEIERKERE  AR%700000007

The above list includes the subsidiaries of the
Company which, in the opinion of the Directors,
principally affected the results for the year or
formed a substantial portion of the net assets of

the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries

would, in the opinion of the Directors, result in

particulars of excessive length.

FRBREEARVAFEEERAERXN
FTEIBRAKREEAFLOEEFEZ
RABINEATR - EFER/IHEAMH
BRAZHBRTRIEARITE -
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31 March 2017

47. LITIGATION

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED X1{t#hiZ&RERBR L

Reference is made to the announcements of the
Company dated 17 May 2006 and 19 December
2006 in relation to, amongst others, (i) a copyright
co-operation agreement dated 8 May 2006 entered
into between China Music, an indirect non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company, and the MVCM
Association; (ii) a copyright business operation
cooperation agreement dated 8 May 2006 entered
into between China Music, Song Labs, an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and the
MVCM Association; and (iii) any supplemental
agreements entered into thereafter (collectively
referred to as the “Copyright Co-operation
Agreements”).

Pursuant to the Copyright Co-operation Agreements,
the MVCM Association, China Music and Song Labs
have set up a market operation team in the PRC to
manage and operate the business of the licenses of
copyright to karaoke music products in the PRC, and
China Music and Song Labs are entitled to certain
portion of the license fees in the PRC. Under the
Copyright Co-operation Agreements, the MVCM
Association takes the role as the sole market manager
and China Music and Song Labs together take the role
as the sole market operator. Pursuant to the Copyright
Co-operation Agreements, the MVCM Association is
required to collect the license fees from the karaoke
operators and distribute and pay certain portion of
such license fees to China Music and Song Labs on
a weekly basis as operating fees (the “Operating
Fees").

eall]
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

47. LITIGATION (Continued)

As at 12 November 2015, the MVCM Association
has not paid certain Operating Fees to China Music
and Song Labs, despite repeated demands were
made by China Music and Song Labs to the MVCM
Association. Based on the information currently
available to the Company, the outstanding Operating
Fees payable by the MVCM Association amounted
to approximately RMB34,000,000 as at 12 November
2015.

On 1 June 2016, China Music and Song Labs have
initiated legal proceedings (the “Litigation”) against
the MVCM Association claiming for: (a) the payment
of (i) outstanding Operating Fees of approximately
RMB34,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$40,800,000) by MVCM Association to China Music
and Song Labs pursuant to the Copyright Co-operation
Agreements which represents the outstanding
Operating Fees up to the second quarter of 2015 (the
"Qutstanding Operating Fees”); and (ii) the default
interest of approximately RMB2,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$2,400,000), if calculated up to
31 May 2016; (b) a declaration that the unilateral
termination of one of the Copyright Co-operation
Agreements by MVCM Association was invalid and
that MVCM Association should continue to perform
its obligations under the Copyright Co-operation
Agreements; and (c) the costs of the Litigation to
be borne by MVCM Association, and 1t RHEIGE
ANEREBT (The People’s Court of Chaoyang, Beijing*,
the People’'s of Republic of China) (the “Chaoyang
People’s Court”) notified China Music and Song
Labs that the application for the Litigation has been
accepted. Accordingly, the Chaoyang People's
Court will commence necessary procedures for the
Litigation upon receipt of the litigation fee from China
Music and Song Labs.

—T—+F=A=+—H
31 March 2017

47. Feh(#)

EA —hf+—HA+=H &%

E:.El‘tﬂ BEERESEBEE®
E?E%Euﬂ%ik' EREFREERE
HEaRHARPFRREBEXNETES
- -REARARZBEEER  FHEF
BEREEBeR T —AF+—A
ToARNZAXMELBNORARE
34,000,0007T °

RZZ—RFERNA—H pERKED
MEREFREREEHERMEARE
f((‘?%ﬁﬂﬂ) PASE T 51 S 38 4F h &R

A BERERREREERSRER
%éﬁﬁmﬁ¢5&%ﬁﬁﬁumAE
& 34,000,000 7t (48 % 7 47 40,800,000
BLTIZANELEBBBEZE_T—1
E%_%izxﬁkﬁﬁq*ﬁé“
Bl)): Mt EEZ2 T —AFh1
ﬂz+faﬁi*ﬁ%§HﬂM@ﬁA
R # 2,000,000 7T (48 % 7 49 2,400,000
BT b EREEREEEREREE
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31 March 2017

47. LITIGATION (Continued)

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED X1{t#hiZ&RERBR L

On 19 July 2016, the Board announced that the Group
received a counter claim (the “Counter Claim") filed
by MVCM Association (the original defendant to the
Litigation) with the Chaoyang People’'s Court against
China Music and Song Labs (subsidiaries of the
Company and the original claimants to the Litigation).
Pursuant to the Counter Claim, MVCM Association
requested the Chaoyang People’s Court to declare
that the fifth supplemental agreement dated 16 June
2014 (the "Fifth Supplemental Agreement”) in
relation to the payment of Outstanding Operating
Fees under the Copyright Cooperation Agreements
be invalidated on the basis that, among other
things: (i) MVCM Association has been shifting
the operation of the karaoke music products to
other parties since 2013 and the core value of the
joint cooperation among MVCM Association, China
Music and Song Labs has since then lapsed; (i) the
payment of the Operating Fees is in breach of the
constitutional documents and distribution plan of
MVCM Association; and (iii) the entering into of the
Fifth Supplemental Agreement did not comply with
the relevant internal approval procedures of MVCM
Association. The Counter Claim was accepted by
the Chaoyang People’s Court on 13 July 2016. Upon
receipt of the Counter Claim, the Company has sought
preliminary legal advice from its legal adviser as to
PRC laws regarding the merits of the Counter Claim,
and its PRC legal counsel advised that the Counter
Claim was made without basis and groundless. Based
on the legal advice given by the Company’s PRC legal
counsel, China Music and Song Labs have a good
arguable case against MVCM Association in respect
of the Counter Claim. Accordingly, China Music and
Song Labs will continue to pursue its claims in the
Litigation and will strenuously defend the Counter
Claim. The Board considers that the Counter Claim
does not have any material adverse effect on the
operation or financial position of the Group.

The Litigation is still on preliminary stage and the
Company’'s PRC legal counsel is currently taking all
necessary steps to protect the Company's interests.

Details of the Litigations were disclosed in the
Company's announcements dated 12 November 2015,
23 May 2016, 2 July 2016 and 19 July 2016.
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48.

49.

50.

*
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

The Group disposed on-market a total of 13,500,000
ordinary shares of Leyou through a series of transactions
on market conducted during the period from 18 April
2017 to 17 May 2017, at an average price of HK$1.594
per ordinary share of Leyou for an aggregate gross sale
proceeds of approximately HK$21,523,838 (excluding
transaction costs). Upon completion of the disposal of
ordinary shares of Leyou, the Company does not hold
any ordinary shares on Leyou.

Details of the disposal of ordinary shares of Leyou
were disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated
18 May 2017.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified
to conform with the current year presentation.

APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board on 27 June 2017.

For identification only
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31 March 2017
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REWE-—EBER
SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENT PROPERTY

Description Type
it kRt
980, Gamsan-ri, Andeok-myeun, Seogwipo-si, Jeju-do, Korea Residential
FEENEF R BAE A L= E M 1L E2 980 5%k =
CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED X {t#Z&REEGRE A 7

Lease Term

I

Freehold
X
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